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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-36017

Control4 Corporation

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Delaware 42-158320¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organizatiot Identification No.)

11734 S. Election Roa
Salt Lake City, Utah 84020
(Address of principal executive office (Zip Code)

(801) 523-3100
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area yode

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(hefAct:

Title of each clas:t Name of each exchange on which registert

Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per sl The NASDAQ Stock Market LL(

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(¢hefAct:

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%dBé#turities Act. Yesd No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ornt®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yedd No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b tiled all reports required to be filed by SectiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for suatsh period that the registrant was requiredltosuch reports), and (2) has been subject to fiiran
requirements for the past 90 days. Y& No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant liisnitted electronically and posted on its corpox@ib site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant te Rfb of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapderjng the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter
period that the registrant was required to submit gost such files). Ye&l No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitlers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K (925 of this chapter) is not contained herein,
and will not be contained, to the best of regidtsaknowledge, in definitive proxy or informatiotasements incorporated by reference in Part Ithaf
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10{Kl.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlaage accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company.
See definition of “accelerated filer”, “large acerdted filer” and “smaller reporting company” inlRd2b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated fileEl Accelerated filerx] Non-accelerated filed Smaller reporting compania
(do not check if a
smaller reporting compan

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantdbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgfe Act). Yesdd No

The aggregate market value of voting and non-vatmmgmon equity held by non-affiliates of the regist as of June 30, 2014 was approximately
$307.1 million (based on a closing sale price &&.%@ per share as reported for the NASDAQ Glob&&@éMarket on June 30, 2014). For purposes of



calculation, shares of common stock held by officdirectors and their affiliated holders and shafecommorstock held by persons who hold mu
than 10% of the outstanding common stock of théstemt have been excluded from this calculatiorabise such persons may be deemed to be affilites.
determination of executive officer or affiliate sta is not necessarily a conclusive determinatiwrother purposes.

As of February 10, 2015, 24,308,287 shares ofd@f&trant's Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, wetstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Statmt relating to its 2015 Annual Meeting of Stodkiess are incorporated by reference into Part llI
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K where indicat8dch Proxy Statement will be filed with the U.8c@rities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) within
120 days after the end of the fiscal year to whiiiti report relates.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statemens

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) coimsa “forward-looking statementghat involve risks and uncertainties, as we
assumptions that, if they never materialize or pri:¢orrect, could cause our results to differ mallg from those expressed or implied by
such forward-looking statements. All statement&othan statements of historical fact containetthis Form 10-K are forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of3keurities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Seesir{ct, and Section 21E of the Securi
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchagdsome cases, you can identify forward-lookstatements by terminology such as
“may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expects,” “plans” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “pred&t “potential” or “intends” or the negative
of these terms or other comparable terminology.Caldion investors that any forwalabking statements are made as of the date they fivel
issued and are based on management’s beliefs,takipas, and on assumptions made by, and informatiorently available to, management.
Forward-looking statements are subject to risksymmptions and uncertainties, many of which invdéaaors or circumstances that are beyond
Control4’s control. Control4’s actual results codiffer materially from those stated or impliedfarward-looking statements due to a number
of factors, including but not limited to, thosedalissed in the section titled “Risk Factors” incldde this Form 10-K, as well as other
documents that may be filed by the Company frone timtime with the SEC. Control4 urges investorsdosider these factors carefully in
evaluating the forward-looking statements containettiis Form 10-K and not to give any such forwlrdking statement any undue reliance.
Moreover, we operate in a very competitive anddigpthanging environment. New risk factors emergenftime to time and it is not possible
for management to predict all such risk factors,cam we assess the impact of all such risk factorsur business or the extent to which any
factor, or combination of factors, may cause aatesiits to differ materially from those containeany forward-looking statements. The
forward-looking statements included in this FormKL8epresent Control4’s views as of the date of #orm 10-K, and the Company
anticipates that subsequent events and developméhtsuse its views to change. Control4 undersahe intention or obligation to update or
revise any forward-looking statements, whether eesalt of new information, future events, or othise.

References in this Form 10-K to the “Company,” “@oi,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Control4 Cqoration and, where
appropriate, its subsidiaries, unless otherwistedta

PART I.
ITEM 1. Business
Overview

We are a leading provider of automation and corsodtions for the connected home. We unlock therg@l of connected devices,
making entertainment systems easier to use, horoes ecomfortable and energy efficient, and famifiesre secure. We provide our consumer
with the ability to integrate music, video, lighgintemperature, security, communications and dthestionalities into a unified home
automation solution that enhances our consumeily’ lidlzes. More than 78% of our consumers havegraged two or more of these
functionalities with our solution. At the centeranir solution is our advanced software platformiclvtwe provide through our products that
interface with a wide variety of connected devittest are developed both by us and by third parties.

Our solution functions as the operating systenhefrtome, making connected devices work togetheoiitrol, automate and
personalize the homes of our consumers.

Consumer need for simplicity and a personalizecagpce, combined with advances in technologydeikéng rapid growth in the
connected home market. As a result of the sigmifigaowth in smart devices, mobile data networksné broadband access and in-home
wireless networking, consumers are more comfortafitte ubiquitous connectivity and device interogmlisy. Accustomed to network
connectivity and control of their digital lives,m&umers are now looking for affordable ways to edttis functionality into their homes,
driving growth in the mainstream home automatiomkeg

We were founded in 2003 to deliver a mainstreaméantomation solution by enabling consumers toyuhiéir connected devices
into a personalized system at an accessible anddaffle entry point. Sold through our worldwidewetk of over 3,250 active direct dealers,
our solution sits at the center of the mainstreamdrautomation market by providing integrated axtdresible control of over 8,700 thihrty
devices and services. These devices and servieaesasiproad variety of product categories inclugmgsic, video, lighting, temperature,
security, communications and other devices. Oufgrta capabilities provide consumers with solutitimat are easy to use, comprehensive,
personalized, flexible and affordable.
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Based on our analysis, we estimate that we haverated more than 180,000 homes representing cuxauttles of more than
410,000 of our controller appliances, the braithef connected home. We sell and deliver our salattbrough an extensive worldwide dealer
and distributor network and have solutions insthife91 countries. In 2014, our top 100 dealersasgnted 22% of our total revenue and our
top 10 dealers represented 6% of our total revenue.

We generated revenue of $109.5 million, $128.5iomland $148.8 million in 2012, 2013 and 2014, eetipely. We had a net loss of
$3.7 million in 2012, and net income of $3.5 mitliand $8.2 million in 2013 and 2014, respectively.

Our Industry

Within the last decade, the pace of innovatiorhelectronics industry has accelerated rapidlywhik-aware devices—such as
televisions, smartphones, tablets, thermostatspaydtems, lighting, security systems and oth@tiapces—that separately connect to a hom
network create the “connected homddme automation technology integrates devicesdrctinnected home, unlocking the collective poté
of these devices working together to improve coregirlives. The home automation market has reaeh@djor inflection point and is
becoming a mainstream offering accessible by adobaae of consumers.

Home automation solutions unify the control of neusideo, lighting, temperature, security, commatians and other devices in the
connected home to provide consumers with improweenience, comfort, energy efficiency and secufitye key functional elements of
home automation include:

e Control. Controlling devices is the most basic capabilithome automation solutions. From a single interfaoasumers can
operate a wide array of devices using wired or led® connections. With the growth in smartphonektablets, control
functionality is increasingly being extended toshenobile devices;

»  Automation. After initial programming, automation enables degito function without additional human interventio
Automation also enables various devices to wortoincert to perform more complex tasks and to takierss based on external
conditions; and

»  Personalization.Personalization enables home automation solutmbe tailored to the unique lifestyle requiremeofts
individual consumers and their families. Persomaitm unlocks the full potential of home automatiorenhance, enrich and
simplify the lives of consumers.

We expect the home automation market to experidmee intertwined phases:
* the Connected Home (the number of network-awar&dsin the home increases);

» the Automated Home (network-aware devices are aadend collectively orchestrated across deviessd on personal
preferences and actions, with and without humagyériing); and

« the Intelligent Home (homes and the network-awangats in them become dynamically anticipative mattive without human
prompting or intervention).

Our Solution

The Control4 solution, built around our advancefiveare platform, sits at the center of the fastwgjng mainstream segment of the
home automation market. We unlock the potentiaasinected devices, making entertainment systeniereéasise, homes more comfortable
and energy efficient, and families more secure. €luition functions as the operating system otihime, integrating music, video, lighting,
temperature, security, communications and otheicdeunto a unified automation solution that entesngur consumers’ lives.

The Control4 solution integrates more than 8,70@party devices and systems into a unified, gasyse solution for mainstream
consumers. As a result, our solution provides tirssamer with the following benefits:

»  Easy to Use.Our solution is designed to be simple and intuitierough our unified software platform, consuneas easily
interact with their entire automated home with@arhing multiple interfaces or numerous remoterotsitWe have designed our
solution so that anyone, from a young child toangparent, can pick up a Control4 device, pusht@mand watch a movie
without any prior instruction;
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Broad Device Interoperability.Our open and flexible platform provides consumeith access to a broad universe of third-party
devices that become connected and interoperalbaghrour solution. The Control4 software platforanrently operates with
over 8,700 discrete third-party devices;

Advanced PersonalizationOur adaptable solution enables our consumers tmpalize the features and functionality of their
Control4 system. Our modular design also enabkestiooth integration of new thigghrty products to meet the evolving neec
our consumers as their lifestyles change;

Attractive Entry Point. Consumers can start with a single room multi-medi@mation experience for under $1,200 and scale |
an integrated solution with an average cost of @gprately $25,000. Based on our research, moretib#rof our consumers ha
Control4 system configurations with one controlieith an average cost of $4,500 and a median d¢2,800 (including
estimated installation costs);

Professional Installation and Support through Ourl@bal Dealer Network.As the number and types of connected devices
continues to grow, the need for local professi@oalsultation, installation and support is essefftiah successful home
automation experience. We have built a global ndtwb over 3,250 active direct dealers. Our cextifdealers receive in-depth
training, on-going education and support, enabtivegn to help consumers develop and install thes@elized home automation
experiences with the Control4 solution. To furtierease consumer satisfaction, we also maint@instomer Advocacy & Care
Group that responds directly to consumer questmasconcerns; and

Remote AccessWe have developed service offerings that complermmenproduct solutions in order to provide consisreren
more access, control and enhanced functionality theer automated homes. We offer a subscriptiovise called 4Sight that
provides consumers with the ability to remotely mmmand adjust settings in their homes (suchgigdi, temperature settings,
door locks, gates and cameras) as well as recear@-based email alerts when predefined eventsreittcur or do not occur by a
specific time.

Our Growth Strategy

Our goal is to be the leading provider of mainstrdeome automation solutions and the operating sysfechoice for the home. The
following are key elements of our growth strategy:

Enhance Our Software Platform and Product&Ve believe that our success to-date has beenYadgekn by the capabilities of
our software platform delivering personalized siolug for the end consumer. In 2014, with the redezControl4 OS 2.6, we
introduced Composer Express, a productivity toat #ilows Control4 dealers and installers to comepl®me installation projects
more efficiently. In addition, our key softwareeates added new features that substantially enthéimeeonsumer experience,
particularly related to our comfort, entertainmantl security solutions. We will continue to inviesbur software platform to
develop and support new products, features ancdaigs that deliver exceptional performance amatle to our consumers;

Strengthen and Expand Our Global Dealer and Distutor Network. We have developed a global network of over 3,2%@&c
direct dealers and 28 distributors to sell, instalil support our solutions. We will continue to @&xg and optimize our dealer and
distributor network to ensure that we have suffitigeographic coverage across both existing andmankets. We will also
continue to devote significant resources to inadhe productivity and competency of our dealedsdistributors by providing
them with ongoing training, tools and support. lecBmber 2014, we began the transition from a digion model to a dealer-
direct model in Germany;

Increase Penetration of Our North America Core Magk We intend to continue to focus on the residentiaflmat in North
America, which represented approximately 75% ofremenue for the year ended December 31, 2014.aNevbk the residential
market offers us an opportunity for significantdeterm growth, and we will continue to devote saed marketing resources to
increase penetration of that core market;

Expand Our Focus on Adjacent MarketsWe are also making investments to capitalize orodppities outside the residential
market and internationally. Internationally, oueumterfaces are now available in 27 languagesoangroducts are distributed
91 countries. In addition, we have had initial ®gcin the
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multi-dwelling unit and hospitality markets, and plan to continue our focus on these and othercadfeopportunities to expand
our addressable market;

Enhance Our Solution with Services and Appk addition to automating devices within the homay, solution also enables a
wide variety of service and application opportwstiWe plan to continue to enhance our 4Sight sigitien services to provide
consumers with enhanced home monitoring and cooagébilities from any Internet-connected mobileicke or computer;

Pursue Technology Licensing OpportunitiedVe plan to make our technology increasingly avédéab third parties through
licensing agreements. We make our device auto-dsgdechnology, Simple Device Discovery Proto¢8IEDP”), available on
a royalty-free basis to third parties to streambne automate the setup, identification and condition of their devices into our
system. As of December 31, 2014, 112 third pahabagreed to license SDDP from us, representif6gidices, and 35 of them
had begun shipping SDDP-enabled devices. We aisotplexpand our licensing activities to leverdgedtparty distribution
channels, grow our partner relationships, simptiy home automation experience for dealers andioosis, and increase
interoperability; and

Pursue Strategic AcquisitionsWe believe that our software platform has a stiatpgsition as the operating system of the
connected home. As a result, we believe we ardlydeasitioned to identify, acquire and integrateagegic acquisitions that are
complementary to our current offerings, strengthed expand our technology foundation, enhance @ukeh positioning,
distribution channels and sales, and are consigtéimiour overall growth strategy. For exampleJanuary 2015, we acquired
Nexus Technologies Pty, Ltd. a leading distribiaadio/video provider, including its full line of Bébranded products (“Leaf”).

Our Products and Services

The primary benefits we provide consumers and dedikein the value and competitive differentiatioinour software platform. We
deliver value and differentiation to consumers gaderate revenues by embedding our software irdoge of physical products.

Software Platform

At the center of the Control4 product line is then€@ol4 Home Operating System, which we refer tthasC4 OS, and the associated
application software and software development kitsSDKs. The high-level software components inelud

Director. Director is a real-time, extensible home operasipgtem that is responsible for monitoring and ngngievents from
numerous devices and services, processing thoséseaecording to consumer personalized settingbtlan dispatching
commands to the appropriate devices to performegfireed actions. Director runs on our controller lapres;

Navigator. Navigator displays intuitive and rich graphical usgerfaces on televisions, in-wall and table-topch panels,
smartphones and tablets, as well as list-baseae®gsuch as remote controls with LCD text-displays;

Composer ExpressComposer Express is a mobile configuration tod sivaplifies the set-up process for Control4 home
automation installation projects. The tool allovaherized Control4 dealers and installers to maieldy and easily configure
one-room home theaters, and enables the instalkgttup hundreds of devices in complex whole-horsgallations by simply
walking around the home using a WiFi-enabled tatsiesmartphone to auto-integrate the devices withenControl4 Home
Operating System. Composer Express uses Conti®idiple Device Discovery Protocol (SDDP) to autowslty discover all
SDDP-enabled devices allowing the installer tograge these devices with a single touch. AuthoriZedtrol4 dealers and
installers may also use Composer Express to quaddinew customer accounts, register controllgrdate the Control4 OS and
assign 4Sight licenses using an iOS or Androidetadyl smartphone;

Composer Professional EditionComposer Professional Edition is a software apftinahat enables trained and certified
Control4 dealers and installers to design, conégand personalize a Control4 home automation sy&iegonsumers;

6
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Composer Home Edition and Composer Media EditioBomposer Home Edition and Media Edition enable goress to view
and configure their Control4 managed devices. Thesg-and-drop programs provide the ability to ngendigital media and
create and modify simple programs and policiesH®gcchanging lighting scenes, modifying custontdmstand controlling
behaviors among devices based on schedules or ¢iftiles day);

DriverWorks SDK. DriverWorks SDK is a software development kit teatibles dealers, programmers and device manufegtur
to independently develop and test custom two-wégriace drivers to support the integration of a mewice or device model into
our system, or to customize and enhance an exidtingr. DriverWorks SDK has enabled 8,700 difféneroducts and services
be incorporated into the Control4 ecosystem; and

Navigator SDK and Application SDKNavigator SDK and Application SDK are software depenent kits that enable third-
party dealers and programmers to customize andelalew application functionality within Navigatoser interfaces on Contrc
interface devices through the development of apps.

Products with Embedded Software and Servi

Our products leverage our software platform to mlexconsumers with a comprehensive and easy-tecarsgected home experience.
We designed our software platform to be extensilféch has allowed us to improve and augment thetfanality of hardware products (both
those designed by us and by others) over time. lg¢edesign and manufacture our products via contnanufacturers as well as certify par
products for sale through our dealers. Our prodaistsservices include:

Controller Appliances.Our controller appliances run our Director softwlrenonitor, process and automate events, statusks
actions for numerous devices and services, creatogmprehensive connected home experience. Clyrreatoffer the HC800, ¢
whole home controller appliance, and the HC-25ngle-room controller appliance.

Interface Devices.We offer touch panels, handheld remote controlskaypads as interface devices. We also develop and
deliver software applications for Apple iOS and Asid smartphones and tablets that enable thesermérdevices to become
control interfaces to Control4 connected homed) botpremise and remotely.

Audio Solutions. We offer audio distribution and amplification dracts that scale from single room systems to wholae
distributed audio systems. We offer 4-zone andr@&zmower amplifiers, 4x4 and 8x8 matrix amplifieas,6x16 audio matrix
switch, and a single-zone wireless amplifier fdarofit installations. These products make up thekbane of a distributed audio
solution. Consumers are able to listen to theis@eal music library as well as streaming musicisesswia our music streamer,
which is built into the HC-800 and HC-250 contradleWe also offer the Wireless Music Bridge, whigtables consumers to
enjoy music available on their smartphone, tabl@omnputer—their personal music collection andtesasning services like
Pandora, Rhapsody, Spotify or Tuneln—by wirelessigaming their selection to their home audio syatsing AirPlay, DLNA
or Bluetooth technologies.

Video Solutions. We offer a broad line of video matrix switchasging from 4x4 to 20x20, which includes HDMI adves
HDBaseT switches that are capable of distributifiyuitleo images up to 100 meters over cat5/6e calihés product line also
includes a variety of additional extender kits, miing kits, and various packages for maximum fléiibin offering systems that
allow customers to watch what they want, when ahdre they want to watch it.

Lighting Products. We offer a suite of lighting products that proviglersonalized control and energy management. Ote sfii
wireless light switches and dimmers can easilyagpldevices in an existing home or be installetein homes. We offer
innovative inwall wireless switches and dimmers for 120V, 240M 277V electrical loads, which meet the requiretme Nortt
America and many international markets. We alserafentralized lighting systems, where all of figating control will be done
on a remote panel. In addition to providing lightitontrol, our keypads can be programmed to opethts systems in the home,
such as allowing consumers to access their favmitsic playlist with the touch of a button.

7
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*  Thermostats.Our wireless multi-stage thermostat is completebgpammable, allowing the homeowner to create sdesdhat
fit their lifestyle, comfort and economical needsing our 4Sight subscription service, the ther@ioistremotely accessible and
controllable. Through the Control4 operating system also integrate with third-party comfort prottu¢such as automated
shades and pool controls) that provide additionalgy savings, convenience and efficiency.

e Security Products.We offer Control4-branded security products anttithiste certified third-party products, includingatibolts,
motion sensors, garage access systems and wadteldesction systems, from our security partners siscBaldwin, Nyce,
Kwikset and Yale. Through our SDDP technology, \s® éntegrate with over 2,200 network video recosdend surveillance
cameras sold by five of the top security monitonimgnufacturers.

*  Communication Products We offer full motion video and high quality audiércom capability through our in-wall and
tabletop touchscreens, as well as our exteriorvegatsistant door stations.

e Subscription Services4Sight is a subscription service that enables 2¥btiie monitoring and control from virtually anywhere
remote home programming and support, and instaatl eherts based on home events so that homeowane@ways in-the-
know. For example, 4Sight allows consumers to retyainlock the front door to let in a repairmanfum on the air conditionin
on the way home, and to monitor their home secgdtyeras from a smartphone.

Sales of our controller appliances, represented 868tir total revenue in 2014. Our installed salo$ include functionalities such as
music, video, lighting, temperature, security, camimations as well as other functionalities used imified home automation solution that
enhances consumers’ daily lives. More than 78%uoftonsumers have integrated two or more of thesetibnalities with our solution.

Our Distribution Network

In 2005, we started selling our solutions througteavork of over 450 independent dealers. Sincetime, our distribution network
has grown to over 3,250 active direct dealers @di&ributors in 91 countries. Dealers range e $iom small family businesses to large
enterprises.

Our dealers are home automation specialists thet significant experience in designing, installargd servicing both low- and high-
voltage systems including music, video, securignmunications and temperature control. Every aigbdrControl4 dealer has gone through
extensive training and has passed the necessdification tests—either in one of our training fiitéés located in the United States, the United
Kingdom, China, or India or in a training faciliof one of our 28 distributors. In order to becoreditied to sell and install our solutions, ew
installer for each dealer must complete course waork pass pre-training examinations, as well as pgsrous testing at the conclusion of the
multi-day formal training.

We sell directly through dealers in the United &atCanada, the United Kingdom and 47 other castWe partner with 28
distributors to serve 41 additional countries whangently we do not have dealer training and supiailities. Our distributors recruit, train
and manage dealers within their region and alsp thehlers find country specific solutions for urequeeds based on the special home
automation market characteristics within each agumih recent years, we have moved more towardatedairect model in specific
international regions as we have added and continadd sales and support staff, namely in theddritingdom, China and India. In
December 2014, we began the transition from aildigion model to a dealer-direct model in Germany.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@id, respectively, none of our dealers or distdiziaccounted for more than
5% of our revenue. None of our dealers or distalsihave minimum or long-term purchase obligati@esaler orders are typically placed on a
project-by-project basis. As such, our dealersataypically carry significant levels of inventoryhe resulting just-in-time model helps reduce
dealer inventory investment. Our dealers aroundiitidd are each responsible for local marketindirgg installing and servicing our solution
for the consumer.

Our Partners

The home automation market is made up of a cotleaif thousands of electronically controllable proid made by hundreds of key
manufacturers. We believe that our success has,dorpart, due to our ability to establish relasbips with many of these manufacturers. As
of December 31, 2014, 68 separate manufacturerfonaally submitted 826 devices
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to us for Control4 certification so that our worlide dealer and distributor network can be assuratithese third-party devices work optimally
with our platform.

In addition to standard interoperability with therrol4 system, more and more manufacturers atireathe value our technology
can bring when it is embedded inside their produets example, in 2013, we launched our device-digoovery technology, Simple Device
Discovery Protocol, or SDDP, which enables seanitesallation of devices by embedding code at tleufiacturer, making it easier for
dealers and consumers to add new products torgxisyistems. As of December 31, 2014, 112 thirdgsahtad agreed to license SDDP fron
representing 546 devices, and 35 of them had belgipping SDDP-enabled devices.

Third-party manufacturers are currently sellingro¥d 00 different products representing 31 bramduding brands such as Sony,
Baldwin, Kwikset, Yale and TruAudio) through ourlie store. Our online store provides manufactuvatsable reach into our trained dealer
network, and it helps our dealers gain easy adogs®ducts that they know are certified by CotraVe also partner with other companies
purposes of strategic initiatives.

Our Technology
Core Automation Enabling Technology

At the core of the Control4 platform is the C4 Q8&e C4 OS consists of two main components, ourdreand Navigator software
that work in concert with different modules withihre system to provide consumers with a unified @mprehensive connected home
experience. These modules help our software ptatfoanage media, update connected devices andpetate using a variety of
communication protocols including Ethernet, WiBluetooth, ZigBee, Infrared, or IR, serial interdacand more.

»  Director Software. Director is the brain of the C4 OS and interfacéh & Linux kernel. Director architecture includes
proprietary “driver pairing” technology that creat@ hardware abstraction layer and exposes a siongienon software
Applications Programming Interface (“APIfyr all devices of the same type. For example, éhiables an application develope
write an application to manage a lighting systeat thill work with any brand of lighting control egument. Director also
includes an advanced scheduling engine and astioabatock that allows for time-based control of/thing in a Control4
system. Director has a component called “Connedflanager” that is responsible for discovering newides and maintaining
connections with all of the diverse devices in atomation system.

»  Navigator Software.Navigator is the C4 OS user interface applicatidavigator connects to Director through the Direcé
and based on what is in the system, automaticadlyigles a customized user interface for contrahefsystem. All Control4
controller appliances and touch panels run Navig&then running on a controller appliance, Naviggiwduces an “On-Screen”
interface for use on TVs and projection systemé witemote control. Navigator can also producenterfiace that is touch-based.
Navigator is also available for Macs, PCs, Appl&i@hd Android devices.

 Media Manager. Media Manager discovers, scrubs and indexes medi@ and video content across various sources—from
local content spread across Macs, PCs, NAS drigbkets, smartphones, cable boxes and satelliggvess to streaming content
scattered across online services such as RhapBadygpra, Tuneln, Netflix, Vudu, Hulu and Amazomi&i Using the C4 OS, a
consumer can search for music by a particulartaid get a unified result of all content from thetist across all devices and
services.

* Update Manager.Update Manager manages complex device and systdaiagpin a synchronized way. The Update Manager
will automatically check for updates on devicesreexted to the Control4 system, and when promptedtepall of the disparate
devices in the correct order, whether or not threydirectly connected to the Internet.

e Audio Server.Audio Server is the C4 OS component that managescrplayback in a Control4 system. Audio Server
implements Control4’s patented audio synchronizesigstem that enables synchronized music playberdss traditional analog,
wired digital and wireless digital audio devices.

»  ZigBee Server.ZigBee Server creates an Internet Protocol-to-ZggBidge and maintains a robust wireless commuinitat
system through ZigBee’s open wireless mesh netwgrktandard. Our controller appliances
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use this bridge to communicate with low-bandwidibiy-cost and low-power applications such as thetatsslight switches and
remote controls.

» 10 Server. 10 Server functions as an Internet Protocol britigearious incompatible communication protocolstsas IR, RS-
232, RS-485 and contact closures. Our controllpliapces implement these physical layers in ordérandle the devices that do
not implement Internet Protocol, allowing the coctied home to communicate with more devices.

Simple Device Discovery Protocol (SDD

We have patented an automatic device discovernidaby called Simple Device Discovery Protocol SiDP, that enables seamless
installation of devices in our system. When a n&@D8-enabled device is installed in a home, theatesends out a signal that is immediately
discovered by the system, thereby allowing the dewvice to easily be added.

4Sight Subscription Service

We offer a subscription service called 4Sight #rables secure remote access to the connectedwitmet exposing the installer or
consumer to the complexities of communicating adofirewalls and private Internet Protocol addres$éss service facilitates connections
between remote client devices and our systemsdhraicloud-based service. Using 4Sight, consunmaarsamotely monitor and control their
Control4 systems as if they were in their homes.

Our Research and Development

Our flexible research and development model relfgmn a combination of in-house staff and offshasigh and manufacturing
partners to improve and enhance our existing prisdared services, as well as develop new produeds fes and functionality in a cost-
effective manner. We believe that our softwarefptat is critical to expanding our leadership pasgitivithin the mainstream home automation
market. As a result, we devote the majority of mgearch and development resources to softwardogenent. We work closely with our
consumers to understand their current and futuedsrand have designed a product development prif@ssaptures and integrates feedback
from our consumers.

As of December 31, 2014, we had 169 employeesrimesearch and development organization, most oeinvvere located at our
headquarters in Salt Lake City, Utah. Our researchdevelopment expenses were $20.3 million in 22820 million in 2013, and $27.4
million in 2014. We intend to continue to investrésearch and development to expand our solutiotEapabilities in the future.

Our Manufacturing

We outsource the manufacturing of our hardware yrtsdto contract manufacturers. The majority of lardware products are
manufactured by Sanmina and LiteOn at their regpetacilities located in southern China, with aédmhial manufacturing performed by six
contract manufacturers located throughout Asia. &@ueement with Sanmina expires in June 2017, ahéh it automatically renews for
successive one-year terms unless either partyvgiien notice of its intent to terminate the agnest at least 90 days’ notice prior to the end
of the then current term, or in the case of Sanratreny other time with at least 120 days writtetiae. Our agreement with LiteOn
automatically renewed for a one-year term in Decam2i®014 and will continue to renew for successive-gear periods unless either party
gives written notice of its intent to terminate tgreement at least 180 days’ prior to the enti@then current term. Our manufacturing
partners assemble our products using our desigrifigadions, quality assurance programs and stafsjand procure components and asse
our products based on our demand forecasts. Theseakts represent our estimates of future denwralif products based upon historical
trends and analysis from our sales and product geamant functions. We maintain fulfillment centersSalt Lake City, Utah and York,
England. Our manufacturing partners currently shiipardware products to our fulfillment centersldahen we ship them directly to our dea
and distributors around the world.

We have multiple sources for most of our componétisvever, we do depend on single source manuistdior certain critical
components, including processors, memory moduldg@rch panels. We can choose to change processanemory modules for any of our
products but because of high implementation cegtggenerally choose to make these changes only dgaglopment of new products. We
also rely on certain custom connectors, cablesx@xhanical enclosures for our hardware productsatteesingle sourced because of the high
tooling costs of sourcing the components from midtsuppliers. In each of these cases, we ownrtngidgs and design of these custom
components.
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Our Marketing

Our marketing team supports our sales channeldettier-directed advertising and promotions, leatkgation, social media
engagements and training events, as well as thgndasd production of consumer-facing collaterabwroom signage and market-specific
advertising. Our website is the anchor to our enind social media strategy, from which we direatls to our dealers. Control4’s bi-annual
magazine, Home Smart Home, features lifestyleedasf Control4 installations from around the watfd is available for download on our
website. The publication is also reproduced anttidiged to customers and prospects on our belyadiub dealers and partners.

We are active participants at global industry cosmfees and maintain a significant presence at CERlde shows. Beyond CEDIA in
the United States, we exhibit at ISE, the annudlistry trade show held in Amsterdam. Additionaligginning in the second quarter of 2014,
we will be participating in CEDIA-specific eventadatradeshows throughout China to assist in thesiteeent and training of new dealers in
that region. We are frequently featured in thedrpress and maintain strong relationships withirttlastry’s key analysts and associations.

In 2013 and early 2014, we invested in an automaiadeting platform to deliver leads and creatisseds to our dealers that can be
customized at a local level. Dealers can leveragatitomated marketing platform to run online atilsieg campaigns, download and
customize video and ad creative, showroom collgtdireect mail templates and newsletters. More ingatly, we have generated a significant
number of inquiries from the local microsites, aasl a result, in the first quarter of 2015, we witate a new telemarketing and sales group,
whose focus is to qualify inbound leads and ditiketn to independent dealers in their market.

We believe that partnering with device manufactiriveraging co- marketing partnerships, expandingsales channels and
increasing our brand recognition among consumerg&ey components of our growth strategy.

Our Competition

The market for home automation systems is fragnaemighly competitive and continually evolving. Gaurrent competitors fall into
several categories:

«  providers that focus primarily on the luxury seginefithe home automation market, including Sav@néstron and Elan;

«  providers of point products that address a narto&control and automation capabilities, inclgirutron, Sonos, Nest Labs
(acquired by Google), Universal Remote Control, itexth, and Roku;

»  providers of managed home automation and secwaiiyices, including ADT, Comcast and Vivint (whiahturn may utilize
third-party software from companies including Alacom and iControl); and

»  providers of device control platforms such as AgiteneKit, Wink and SmartThings (acquired by Sam3ung

In the past, companies that provide popular pahttens have eliminated or restricted, and mayraghminate or restrict, our ability
to control and be compatible with their products.

In addition, large technology companies such asépgpoogle, Microsoft and Samsung offer controlazlities among their own
products, applications and services, and have aggtgvelopment efforts to address the broader rart@mation market. Given the growth
dynamics of this market, there are many new anstiegi companies targeting portions of the mainstreame automation market. To the
extent that consumers adopt products, applicafodsservices from a single large technology companif any of these companies broaden
their home automation capabilities, we will facergased competition.

The principal competitive factors in our marketlie the:

e breadth of home automation capabilities provided;

» simplicity of use and installation;

* interoperability with third-party devices;
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»  price and total cost of ownership;
» sales reach and local installation and supporthibfes; and
e brand awareness and reputation.

We believe that our home automation solution coepévorably with respect to these factors. Newedetis, many of our competitors
have substantially greater financial, technical atieér resources, greater name recognition, laales and marketing budgets, broader
distribution channels, and larger and more matutedlectual property portfolios than we do.

Our Intellectual Property

Our success and ability to compete effectively defa part on our ability to protect our proprigtéechnology and to establish and
adequately protect our intellectual property rigits accomplish these objectives, we rely on a doatlon of patent, trademark, copyright and
trade secret laws in the United States and othidjations, as well as license agreements, confidity agreements and other contractual
protections.

As of December 31, 2014, we owned 43 issued UiStates patents (16 of which are design patentspteascheduled to expire
between 2025 and 2031, with respect to utility peteand between 2020 and 2022, with respect igriestents. We continue to file patent
applications in multiple jurisdictions and as ofd@eber 31, 2014, we had 14 patent applicationsghdd and 9 patent applications pending ir
the United States. We also had 3 issued patentd@péending patent applications under foreign glicisons and treaties such as WIPO,
Canada, Australia, New Zealand, the United Kingdom the European Patent Convention. The claimwlitch we have sought patent
protection apply to both our hardware and softwacelucts. Our patent and patent applications gépenaply to the features and functions of
our C4 OS and the applications associated wittptaiform.

We also rely on several registered and unregisteaeldémarks to protect our brand. As of DecemfiePB14, we registered the
trademarks (a) Control4, Control4 My Home, the CaldtDesign, the 4 Design, 4Store, 4Sight and EdayyEasy in the United States,
(b) Control4 in the European Union and Mexico, &jdhe 4 Design in China, the European Union amrxibb. As of December 31, 2014, we
also have a trademark application pending in thitgedrStates, and 9 trademark applications, forousrimarks, pending in Brazil, Canada,
China, and India.

We have filed for United States copyright protegtior our source code for all major releases ofsmitware. We also license softw
from third parties for integration into or use wihr products, including open-source software ahdrocommercially available software.

In addition, we seek to protect our intellectualpmrty rights by requiring our employees and ingeleat contractors involved in
development to enter into agreements acknowledtiaigall inventions, trade secrets, works of awghipr, developments, concepts, processes
improvements and other works generated by thenuobehalf are our intellectual property, and assigto us any rights, including
intellectual property rights, that they may claimtthose works.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 417 employeesjdimal) 379 employees in the United States and 38ames internationally.
None of our employees are represented by a labon wvith respect to his or her employment with\W& have not experienced any wi
stoppages and we consider our relations with oyrl@yees to be good.

Available Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in 2003. Our ppalcexecutive offices are located at 11734 Sougctibn Road, Salt Lake City,
Utah 84020, and our telephone number is (801) 3Z®30ur principal website addressvgw.control4.com Information contained on our
website does not constitute a part of, and ismmrporated by reference into, this Form 10-K oariry other report or document we file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”").

Control4, Control4 MyHome, the Control4 logo, therirol4 design, 4Store, 4Sight and Everyday Easyeygistered trademarks or
trademarks of Control4 Corporation in the Unitedt&$ and, in certain cases, in other countries Foim 10-K contains additional trade
names, trademarks and service marks of other caegpaite do not intend our use

12




Table of Contents

or display of these companies’ trade names, tradestm service marks to imply a relationship withendorsement or sponsorship of us by,
these other companies.

We are an emerging growth company as defined idahgpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (#@BS Act”). We will remain
an emerging growth company until the earliest tuoof: the last day of the fiscal year in which agve more than $1.0 billion in annual
revenue; the date we qualify as a “large accelérfir,” with at least $700 million of equity setties held by non-affiliates determined as of
the last business day of the previous second fipeaiter; the issuance, in any three-year peripdisof more than $1.0 billion in non-
convertible debt securities; or December 31, 2@i8Jast day of the fiscal year ending after tffia finniversary of our initial public offering.

We file reports with the SEC, including Annual Repamn Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Qrrént Reports on Form 8-
K, and any other filings required by the SEC. Thylowur website, we make available free of chargefmmual Reports on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reportamm 8-K, and all amendments to those reportspas as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnigtto, the SEC.

The public may read and copy any materials wewitl, or furnish to, the SEC at the SEC’s PubliddRence Room at 100 F Street,
NE, Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtaimiinfation on the operation of the Public ReferencerR by calling the SEC a-800-
SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet sit@/v.sec.goy that contains reports, proxy and informationestagnts, and other information
regarding issuers that file electronically with BEC.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

A description of the risks and uncertainties asatal with our business is set forth below. You Ehoarefully consider such risks a
uncertainties, together with the other informatwontained in this report, and in our other publinfys. If any of such risks and uncertainties
actually occurs, our business, financial conditmmoperating results could differ materially frotmet plans, projections and other forward-
looking statements included in the section titldhagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financahdition and Results of Operations”
and elsewhere in this report and in our other palffilings. In addition, if any of the following Ks and uncertainties, or if any other risks and
uncertainties, actually occurs, our business, fitiahcondition or operating results could be harnmtbstantially, which could cause the
market price of our stock to decline, perhaps digantly.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have incurred operating losses in the past, rrayur operating losses in the future, and may nattdeve or maintain profitability.

We began our operations in 2003. For most of ostiohy, we have experienced net losses and negasreflows from operations. As
of December 31, 2014, we had an accumulated defi§i®3.9 million. We expect our operating expertsgacrease in the future as we expanc
our operations. Furthermore, as a public compamyineur additional legal, accounting and other esps that we did not incur as a private
company. If our revenue does not grow to offses¢hiacreased expenses, we will not remain proétaiMe may incur significant losses in the
future for a number of reasons, including withaotifation the other risks and uncertainties desttiberein. Additionally, we may encounter
unforeseen operating or legal expenses, difficlt®mplications, delays and other unknown fadtwais may result in losses in future periods.
If these losses exceed our expectations or ountev/growth expectations are not met in future pisriour financial performance will be
harmed.

The markets in which we participate are highly costiive and many companies, including large techagl companies, broadband and
security service providers and other managed sexr\pcoviders, are actively targeting the home autdioa market. Our failure to
differentiate ourselves and compete successfullthvtihiese companies would make it difficult for us &dd and retain consumers, and would
reduce or impede the growth of our business.

The market for automation and control solutionstf@r connected home is increasingly competitiveglatal. Many large technology
companies have expanded into the connected honietigr developing their own solutions, or by aciopgrother companies with home
automation solution offerings. For example, in 20&40gle acquired Nest Labs, a manufacturer ohtbstats and smoke detectors; Nest Lab
acquired Dropcam, a home-monitoring camera comp&pple introduced HomeKit, a new framework for commitating with and controlling
connected devices in a user's home; and Samsungreddiome automation startup, SmartThings. Thaggeltechnology companies already
have broad consumer awareness and sell a varielgvafes for the home, and consumers may chooseofferings instead of ours, even if we
offer superior products and services. Similarlyngnenanaged service providers, such as cable Tépheine and security

13




Table of Contents

companies, are offering services that provide degantrol and automation capability within the hdimean additional monthly service fee.
For example, Comcast’s Xfinity service now offegsidential security, energy and automation servitkese managed service providers have
the advantage of leveraging their existing consupase, network of installation and support teclamsiand name recognition to gain traction
in the home automation market. In addition, conssmeay prefer the monthly service fee with litbenio upfront cost offered by some of these
managed service providers over a larger upfrorttwih little to no monthly service fees.

We expect competition from these large technolagypganies and managed service providers to inciadbke future. This increased
competition could result in pricing pressure, restiisales, lower margins or the failure of our sohg to achieve or maintain broad market
acceptance. To remain competitive and to maintairposition as a leading provider of automation emitrol solutions for the connected
home, we will need to invest continuously in praddevelopment, marketing, dealer and distributovise and support, and product delivery
infrastructure. We may not have sufficient resosroecontinue to make the investments in all ofateas needed to maintain our competitive
position. In addition, most of our competitors hémeger operating histories, greater name recagmifarger consumer bases and significantly
greater financial, technical, sales, marketing @ther resources than us, which may provide ther antadvantage in developing, marketin
servicing new solutions. Increased competition doatluce our market share, revenue and operatingimsaincrease our operating costs,
harm our competitive position or otherwise harm lousiness and results of operations.

Consumers may choose to adopt point products thavjale control of discrete home functionality rath¢han adopting our unified home
automation solution. If we are unable to increaseanket awareness of the benefits of our unified stitun, our revenue may not continue to
grow, or it may decline

Many vendors have emerged, and may continue togamgy provide point products with advanced funwigy for use in the home,
such as a thermostat that can be controlled byplication on a smartphone. We expect more and iwmmeumer electronic and consumer
appliance products to be network-aware and condeetach very likely to have its own smart deviceofpd or tablet) application. Consumers
may be attracted to the relatively low costs okehpoint products and the ability to expand theink control solution over time with minimal
upfront costs, despite some of the disadvantagt#soapproach. While we have built our solutioréoflexible and support third-party point
products, these products may reduce the revenuecgéve for each installation. It is therefore intpat that we have technical expertise and
provide attractive top quality products in manyaaresuch as lighting, audio, video, thermostatssaedrity, and establish broad market
awareness of these solutions as well as the adyentd integrating them in a unified solution. Hignificant number of consumers in our
target market choose to adopt point products ratizer our unified automation solution, then ouribesss, financial condition and results of
operations will be harmed, and we may not be abBechieve sustained growth or our business mayndecl

Many of the competitors in our market, including priders of luxury integrated installations with lanoperating histories, establishe
markets, broad user bases and proven consumer aecee, may be successful in expanding into the nsiieam home automation market,
which may harm our growth and future prospects.

Many companies with which we directly compete hbagen operating in this industry for many years aisda result, have established
significant name recognition in the home automaiiatustry. For example, Crestron, a provider ollyxintegrated installations, has been in
business for over 40 years and has become anisi@bpresence in the home automation industryttfengrovider of luxury integrated
installations is Savant Systems, which providesdantomation based on the Apple iOS operatingglatf To the extent these providers are
able to develop more affordable products that caenp®re directly with our solution, our growth mag constrained and our business could
suffer. In addition, given the strong growth poighof the market, we expect there to be many netraats in the future.

Since we rely on thir-party dealers and distributors to sell and installir solutions, we do not have a direct sales pipe] which makes it
difficult for us to accurately forecast future sadeand correctly predict manufacturing requirements.

We depend on our independent dealer and distrilmgtivvork to sell and install our solution. As auleswe do not directly develop or
control our sales pipeline, making it difficult fas to accurately predict future sales. In addjtmetause the production of certain of our
products requires long lead times, we enter inteements for the manufacture and purchase of nesfaiur products well in advance of the
time in which those products will be sold. Thesatracts are based on our best estimates of ousteeamproduct needs. If we underestimate
consumer demand, we may forego revenue opportgnitise market share and damage our relationsbgscersely, if we overestimate
consumer demand, we may purchase more inventomwibaare able to sell at any given time, or atliike fail to accurately estimate demand
for our products, we could have excess or obsatetntory, resulting in a decline in the value af mventory, which would increase our costs
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of revenues and reduce our liquidity. Our faillwetcurately manage inventory relative to demandldvadversely affect our results of
operations.

We have relatively limited visibility regarding theonsumers that ultimately purchase our productsidawe often rely on information from
third-party dealers and distributors to help us mage our business. If these dealers and distributta# to provide timely or accurate
information, our ability to quickly react to markethanges and effectively manage our business mapérened.

We sell our solutions through independent dealedsdistributors. These dealers and distributorskwaith consumers to design,
install, update and maintain their home automaitistallations. While we are able to track ordeosrfrdealers and distributors and have acces
to certain information about the configurationghedir Control4 systems that we receive throughammtroller appliances, we also rely on
dealers and distributors to provide us with infotisaabout consumer behavior, product and systewidgck, consumer demographics, buying
patterns and information on our competitors. Wethisechannel sell-through data, along with othetrios, to assess consumer demand for ol
solutions, develop new products, adjust pricing axadte other strategic business decisions. Chaetighsough data is subject to limitations
due to collection methods and the third-party refrthe data and thus may not be complete or atzun addition, to the extent we collect
information directly from consumers, for exampleotigh surveys that we conduct, the consumers wpplgthis sell-through data self select
and vary by geographic region and from period tooge which may impact the usefulness of the rasufitwe do not receive consumer
information on a timely or accurate basis, or ifdeenot properly interpret this information, ouildy to quickly react to market changes and
effectively manage our business may be harmed.

Our quarterly results of operations have fluctuateshd may continue to fluctuate. As a result, we nfayl to meet or exceed the expectations
of investors or securities analysts, which couldusa our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly revenue and results of operations fiu@yuate as a result of a variety of factors, ynahwhich are outside of our
control. If our quarterly revenue or results of igi®ns fall below the expectations of investorsecurities analysts, the price of our common
stock could decline substantially. Fluctuationsim results of operations may be due to a numb&abérs, including but not limited to:

« Demand for and market acceptance of our solutions;

«  Our ability to increase, retain and incentivize ith@ependent dealers and distributors that masedlt,install and support our
solutions;

*  The ability of our contract manufacturers to conéino manufacture high-quality products, and tgupufficient products to
meet our demands;

*  The timing and success of introductions of new pobtg] solutions or upgrades by us or by our corgsti

*  The strength of regional, national and global ecoies;

e The impact of harsh seasonal weather, naturaltdisasr manmade problems such as terrorism;

* Changes in our business and pricing policies, asdtof our competitors;

e Competition, including entry into the industry bgvmn competitors and new offerings by existing contpe;
*  The impact of seasonality on our business;

* A systemic impairment or failure of one or moreoaf products that erodes dealer and/or end uséideoie;
»  Political or regulatory changes in the markets Iricl we operate;

*  The cost of component parts used in our products;

«  The amount and timing of expenditures, includingsthrelated to expanding our operations, increasisgarch and developme
introducing new solutions or costs related to dispand litigation; and
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» Changes in the payment terms for our solutions.

Due to the foregoing factors and the other risksused herein, you should not rely on quartemi@rter comparisons of our result:
operations as an indication of our future perforagamor should you consider our recent revenue tijraw indicative of our future
performance.

If we are unable to develop new solutions, sell amutions into new markets or further penetrate oexisting markets, our revenue may r
grow as expecte(

Our ability to increase sales will depend in lapget on our ability to enhance and improve our tohs, to introduce new solutions in
a timely manner, to sell into new markets and tthier penetrate our existing markets. The succeasyoenhancement or new product or
solution depends on several factors, includingithely completion, introduction and market acceptaaf enhanced or new solutions, the
ability to attract, retain and effectively trainesand marketing personnel, the ability to devetdationships with dealers and distributors and
the effectiveness of our marketing programs. Any peoduct or solution we develop or acquire mayb®introduced in a timely or cost-
effective manner, and may not achieve the broadehacceptance necessary to generate significaetue. Any new markets into which we
attempt to sell our solutions, including new veatimarkets and new countries or regions, may noebeptive. Our ability to further penetrate
our existing markets depends on the quality ofsmlmtions and our ability to design our solutionsriteet consumer demand. Moreover, we ar
frequently required to enhance and update ourisakias a result of changing standards and tecitalodevelopments, which makes it
difficult to recover the cost of development anctés us to continually qualify new solutions witlr @onsumers. If we are unable to
successfully develop or acquire new solutions, robaur existing solutions to meet consumer requerds, sell solutions into new markets or
sell our solutions to additional consumers in ousting markets, our revenue may not grow as exgaeot it may decline.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to dleyp and expand our global network of independeettkers and distributors.

As of December 31, 2014, we have developed a gludtatork of over 3,250 active direct dealers andlid&ibutors to sell, install ar
support our solutions. We rely on our independeaters and distributors to provide consumers wihaessful Control4 home automation
experience. In some cases, dealers may choose affet our solution and instead offer a produohfrone of our competitors or, in other
cases, the dealer may simply discontinue its ojp&®tin order to continue our growth and expandbusiness, it is important that we contil
to add new dealers and distributors and maintaist mioour existing relationships. We must also wrkexpand our network of dealers and
distributors to ensure that we have sufficient gaphic coverage and technical expertise to addressmarkets and technologies. While it is
difficult to estimate the total number of availallealers in our markets, there are a finite nunobbeealers that are able to perform the types o
technical installations required for home autonragstems. In the event that we saturate the &laitiealer pool, or if market or other forces
cause the available pool of dealers to declimaay be increasingly difficult to grow our busine8s.consumers’ home automation options
grow, it is important that we enhance our dealetgant by broadening the expertise of our dealwking with larger and more sophisticated
dealers and expanding the mainstream consumer g@gdur dealers offer. If we are unable to expamdhetwork of dealers and distributors,
our business could be harmed.

We rely on our dealers and distributors to sell aswlution, and if our independent dealers and dibtutors fail to perform, our ability to sell
and distribute our products and services will benlted, and our results of operations may be harmed.

Substantially all of our revenue is generated thhoilne sales of our solution by our dealers antlibligors. Our dealers and
distributors are independent businesses that \aufilynsell our products as well as the productstber companies to consumers. We provide
our dealers and distributors with specific trainargd programs to assist them in selling, instaléind servicing our products, but we cannot
assure that these steps will be effective. We loégerved, and expect to continue to observe, totgtility in the monthly, quarterly and
annual sales performance of individual dealersdistiibutors. Although we can make estimated fosexaf cumulative sales of large numbers
of dealers and distributors, we cannot assure #ueiuracy collectively or individually. Accordinglwe may not be able to reduce or slow our
spending quickly enough if our actual sales fairslof our expectations. As a result, we expect tha revenues, results of operations and cas
flows may fluctuate significantly on a quarterlysisa We believe that period-to-period comparisdnsuo revenues, results of operations and
cash flows may not be meaningful and should natbed upon as an indication of future performance.
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Our independent dealers and distributors may beasessful in marketing, selling, installing and goiting our products and servic
If we are unable to develop and maintain effectiakes incentive programs for our dealers and Higtsis, we may not be able to incentivize
them to sell our products to consumers and, inquéar, to larger businesses and organizations.deaters and distributors may also market,
sell and support products and services that argpettive with ours, and may devote more resourod¢bd marketing, sales, and support of :
competitive products. Our dealers and distributnay have incentives to promote our competitorstipots to the detriment of our own, or
may cease selling our products altogether. Ouremgeats with our dealers and distributors may gélgdya terminated for any reason by eit
party with advance notice. We cannot assure thavilVeetain these dealers and distributors, ot the will be able to secure additional or
replacement dealers and distributors. For exanmpBecember 2014, we began the process of transitidrom a distributor to a direct sales
model in Germany, and our sales may be impactednnection with this or any similar change in cales process in the future.

In addition, while we take certain steps to proteatselves from liability for the actions of ouratiers and distributors, consumers may
seek to recover amounts from us for any damagesedawy dealers in connection with system instaltesj or the failure of a system to perfc
properly due to an incorrect installation by a deaFurthermore, dealers and distributors mayaitétclaims against us related to any failure or
perceived failure to operate our business in a@rare with our contracts and the law. In additmur, dealers and distributors may use our
name and our brand in ways we do not authorize aagdsuch improper use may harm our reputatiorxpoge us to liability for their actions.

If we fail to effectively manage our existing satdgnnels, if our dealers or distributors are uosssful in fulfilling the orders for our
products, or if we are unable to enter into arramggts with, and retain a sufficient number of, higfality dealers and distributors in each of
the regions in which we sell products, and keemtheotivated to sell our products, then our resofitsperations may be harmed. The
termination of our relationship with any signifi¢atealer or distributor may also adversely impastsales and results of operations.

We have entered into several strategic arrangemeartd intend to pursue additional strategic opporitias in the future. If the intended
benefits from our strategic relationships are natalized, our results of operations may be harmed

We are in the process of growing our relationskijtk strategic partners in order to increase awesgsmf our solution and to attempt
to reach markets that we cannot currently addressaffectively. If these relationships do not depdan the manner we intend, our future
growth could be impacted. For example, in Febr2#&d4 we allowed our agreement with Cisco Systenexpire without renewal.
Furthermore, the termination of our relationshiphvwa partner may cause us to incur expenses wittwutsponding revenue, incur a
termination penalty and harm our sales and restiltperations. For example, in 2012, we discontiheleergy products for utility customers
and, in connection with that decision, we incuraedexpense related to an inventory purchase comanitand paid a fee to our counterparty tc
terminate the arrangement. Any loss of a majomgardr distribution channel or other channel dinmpcould harm our results of operations
and make us more dependent on alternate chanaetgge our reputation, increase pricing and promatipressures from other partners and
distribution channels, increase our marketing ¢astharm buying and inventory patterns, paymemns$eor other contractual terms.

If we do not maintain the compatibility of our sofions with third-party products and applications that our consumerse, demand for our
solutions could decline

Our solutions are designed to interoperate withdeewange of other third-party products, includproducts in the areas of music,
video, lighting, temperature and security. If werghd support the continued integration of our dohg with third-party products and
applications, including through the provision opagation programming interfaces, proxies and dswhat enable data to be transferred rei
between our solutions and thipdwty products and applications, demand for owrtgmis could decline and we could lose sales. Wieadgio be
required to make our solutions compatible with radditional third-party products and applicatitimat are introduced into the markets that
we serve. In addition, in the past, companiesghatide popular point solutions have eliminatedestricted, and may, in the future, eliminate
or restrict, our ability to integrate with, contrard otherwise be compatible with these productsa fesult, we may not be successful in me
our solutions compatible with these third-partyguots and applications, which could reduce demanddr solutions. In addition, if
prospective consumers require customized featurisotions that we do not offer, then the marketdur solutions may be harmed.

Our inability to adapt to technological change calilmpair our ability to remain competitive.

The market for home automation and control solisncharacterized by rapid technological changguent introductions of new
products and evolving industry standards. Ourigtidi attract new consumers and increase revenue
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from existing consumers will depend in significaatt on our ability to anticipate changes in industandards and to continue to enhance or
introduce existing solutions on a timely basis ¢efx pace with technological developments. We ameiatly changing several aspects of our
operating system, and may utilize Android open esetiechnology in the future, which may cause diffies including compatibility, stability
and time to market. The success of this possikdagh, or any enhanced or new product or solutiirdepend on several factors, including
timely completion and market acceptance of the eodd or new product or solution. Similarly, if amfyour competitors implement new
technologies before we are able to implement thiease competitors may be able to provide more #ffeproducts than ours, possibly at
lower prices. Any delay or failure in the introdiect of new or enhanced solutions could harm oummss, results of operations and financial
condition.

We currently rely on contract manufacturers to mafacture our products and on component vendors t@ply parts used in our products.
The majority of our components are supplied by agle source. Any disruption in our supply chain, owr failure to successfully manage
our relationships with our contract manufacturersr@omponent vendors could harm our business.

Our reliance on contract manufacturers reducesantrol over the assembly process, exposing ushs,rincluding reduced control
over quality assurance, production costs and pragligply. We rely on a limited number of contragmafacturers to manufacture substant
all of our products. We also do business with alnemof component vendors, and the parts they supplynot perform as expected. For
certain of our products and components, we relg snle-source manufacturer or supplier. For the geded December 31, 2014, two contrac
manufacturers, Sanmina and LiteOn, manufacturedoajpately 70% of our inventory purchases. Mosbof contract manufacturers and
component vendors are located outside of the Uitates, and all of them may be subject to politeeonomic, social and legal uncertainties
that may harm our relationships with them. If wig tta manage our relationships with our contrachofacturers or component vendors
effectively, or if our contract manufacturers ongmnent vendors experience delays, disruptiongaipconstraints or quality control
problems in their operations, our ability to shipgucts may be impaired and our competitive pasigind reputation could be harmed. In
addition, any adverse change in our contract matwfars’ or component vendors’ financial or busgesndition could disrupt our ability to
supply quality products to our dealers and distdbsi If we are required to change contract martufacs or component vendors, we may lose
revenue, incur increased costs or damage ouraeddtips, or we might be unable to find a new camtrganufacturer or component vendor on
acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, qualifyannew contract manufacturer or component vendolddoe an expensive and lengthy process
If we experience increased demand that our contnaciufacturers or component vendors are unabldfith, for if they are unable to provide
with adequate supplies of high-quality productsdoy reason, we could experience a delay in owerdrdfillment, and our business, results of
operations and financial condition would be harmed.

Growth of our business will depend on market awaess and a strong brand, and any failure to develomintain, protect and enhance our
brand would hurt our ability to retain or attract@nsumers.

Because of the early stage of development of thastraam home automation market, we believe thiédibg and maintaining mark
awareness, brand recognition and goodwill is @itio our success. This will depend largely onathility to continue to provide high-quality
solutions, and we may not be able to do so effeltiwVhile we may choose to engage in a broadeketiag campaign to further promote our
brand, this effort may not be successful. Our ¢ffor developing our brand may be affected by tlaeketing efforts of our competitors, social
media commentary and our reliance on our indepdrabsiers, distributors and strategic partnergeonpte our brand effectively. If we are
unable to coseffectively maintain and increase positive awarsredour brand, our business, results of operatiosfinancial condition cou
be harmed.

We operate in the emerging and evolving home auttioramarket, which may develop more slowly or difatly than we expect. If the
mainstream home automation market does not grownasexpect, or if we cannot expand our solutionaitieet the demands of this market,
our revenue may decline, fail to grow or fail to gw at an accelerated rate, and we may incur addiiboperating losses.

The market for home automation and control solisndeveloping, and it is uncertain whether, hapidly or how consistently this
market will develop, and even if it does developetier our solutions will achieve and sustain hégtels of demand and market acceptance.
Some consumers may be reluctant or unwilling toausesolutions for a number of reasons, includiatisgaction with traditional solutions,
concerns for additional costs and lack of awarenéssir solutions. Unified home automation solusi@uch as ours have traditionally been
luxury purchases for the high end of the residéntarket. Our ability to expand the sales of odutons to a broader consumer base depend:
on several factors, including market awarenessipgolutions, the timely completion, introductiomdamarket acceptance of our solutions, the
ability to attract, retain and effectively trainesand marketing personnel, the ability to devetationships with dealers and
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distributors, the effectiveness of our marketinggpams, the costs of our solutions and the suarfemsr competitors. If we are unsuccessful in
developing and marketing our home automation smbstio mainstream consumers, or if these consutieenst perceive or value the benefits
of our solutions, the market for our solutions nigbt continue to develop or might develop morevsjahan we expect, either of which wot
harm our revenue and growth prospects.

Our consumers may experience service failures demuptions due to defects in the software, infrastture, third-party components or
processes that comprise our existing or new solngipor due to errors in product installation or sécing by our independent dealers, any
which could harm our business.

Our solutions may contain undetected defects irstiisvare, infrastructure, third-party componentpimcesses. If these defects lead
to service failures after introduction of or an tgue to a product or solution by an independentedeae could experience harm to our brar
reputation, claims by our consumers, dealers,ibigbrs, strategic partners or developers or legenue during the period required to address
the cause of the defects. We may find defectswereupgraded solutions, resulting in loss of, elagt in, market acceptance of our solutions,
which could harm our business, results of operatanmd financial condition.

Since our solutions are installed by independealeds, if they do not install or maintain our salas correctly, our solutions may not
function properly. If the improper installation mraintenance of our solutions leads to servicefedl@fter introduction of, or an upgrade to, a
product or solution, we could experience harm tolyanded reputation, claims by our consumers gdeadlistributors, strategic partners or
developers or lost revenue during the period reguio address the cause of the problem. This dwarah our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Any defect in, or disruption to, our solutions abghuse consumers to remove their products, muirchase additional products from
us, prevent potential consumers from purchasingsolutions, or harm our reputation. Although ountcacts limit our liability to our
consumers for these defects, disruptions or ervggionetheless could be subject to litigationafciual or alleged losses to our consumers’
businesses, which may require us to spend signifttme and money in litigation or arbitration,torpay significant settlements or damages.
Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, cduddcostly, divert management’s attention and affec ability to obtain or maintain liability
insurance on acceptable terms and could harm aindss. Although we currently maintain some wagraeserves, we cannot assure you that
these warranty reserves will be sufficient to cdwture liabilities. Furthermore, we may be reqdite indemnify our dealers, distributors and
partners against certain liabilities they may inasifa result of defects of our products. For exanipl2012 we incurred significant costs
associated with the recall and replacement of adtige chip from a third-party component used witbhe of our products.

We encounter seasonality in sales, which could haitm amount, timing and predictability of our revele and cause our stock price to
fluctuate.

We have little recurring revenue or backlog, andremenue is generated from orders of our solutfom® new and existing
consumers, which may cause our quarterly resufisittuate. We may experience seasonality in tihessaf our solutions. Historically, our
revenue is generally highest in the fourth quaatet lowest in the first quarter. Seasonal variationour sales may lead to significant
fluctuations in our cash flows and results of ofieres on a quarterly basis. Given our seasonatsile/e experience a delay in signing or a
failure to sign a significant partner agreemerdny particular quarter, then our results of operetifor such quarter and for subsequent qu:
may be below the expectations of securities armalysinvestors, which may result in a decline in stock price.

We may not generate significant revenue as a resdilour current research and development efforts.

We have made and expect to continue to make signifinvestments in research and development daigdeproduct opportunities.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, we sperd $2illion on research and development expenses ldigels of expenditures for research
and development could harm our results of operafiespecially if not offset by corresponding futteeenue increases. We believe that we
must continue to dedicate a significant amounesburces to our research and development effontgiiotain our competitive position.
However, it is difficult to estimate when, if evere will generate significant revenue as a resithese investments.

Our strategy includes pursuing acquisitions and opotential inability to successfully integrate negwhcquired technologies, assets or
businesses may harm our financial results.

We believe part of our growth will be driven by aitions of other companies or their technologéssets and businesses. Any
acquisitions we complete will give rise to riskscluding:
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* Incurring higher than anticipated capital expendiuand operating expenses;
e  Failing to assimilate the operations and persorordhiling to retain the key personnel of the doegicompany or business;

e Faliling to integrate the acquired technologiesnourring significant expense to integrate acqubsahnologies into our
solutions;

»  Disrupting our ongoing business;

» Dissipating or diverting our management resources;

*  Failing to maintain uniform standards, controls aoticies;

* Incurring significant accounting charges;

« Impairing relationships with employees, dealerstriiutors, partners or consumers;

«  Finding that the acquired technology, asset ommssi does not further our business strategy, thatvwerpaid for the technology,
asset or business, or that we may be requiredite wff acquired assets or investments partiallgmirely;

»  Failing to realize the expected synergies of thagaction;

»  Being exposed to unforeseen liabilities and comtimges that were not identified during diligencedacted prior to acquiring tl
company; and

* Being unable to generate sufficient revenue froguésitions to offset the associated acquisitiortsos

Fully integrating an acquired technology, assdiuminess into our operations may take a signifieambunt of time. We may not be
successful in overcoming these risks or any othanlpms encountered with acquisitions. To the extendo not successfully avoid or
overcome the risks or problems related to any seguisitions, our results of operations and finalhoondition could be harmed. Acquisitions
also could impact our financial position and cdpiteds, or could cause fluctuations in our qurtemd annual results of operations.

Acquisitions could include significant goodwill amtangible assets, which may result in future impant charges that would reduce
our stated earnings. We may incur significant costaur efforts to engage in strategic transactams these expenditures may not result in
successful acquisitions.

Future acquisitions of technologies, assets or messes, which are paid for partially or entirelyrtiugh the issuance of stock or stock
rights, could dilute the ownership of our existirggockholders.

We expect that the consideration we might pay figr fature acquisitions of technologies, assetsusirtesses could include stock,
rights to purchase stock, cash or some combinafitime foregoing. If we issue stock or rights taghase stock in connection with future
acquisitions, net income (loss) per share and éxsting holders of our common stock may experiatittgion.

Our gross margins can vary significantly dependinog multiple factors, which can result in fluctuatios in our results of operations.

Our gross margins are likely to vary due to congudeenand, product mix, new product introductiomst uolumes, commodity and
supply chain costs, product delivery costs, gedgragales mix, excess and obsolete inventory amddimplexity and functionality of new
product innovations. In particular, if we are nbteato introduce new solutions in a timely manrteha cost we expect, or if consumer demant
for our solutions is less than we anticipate, ahére are product pricing, marketing and othdfatives by our competitors to which we neet
react that lower our margins, then our overall gnosirgin will be less than we project. The impddhese factors on gross margins can create
unanticipated fluctuations in our results of opera, which may cause volatility in our stock price
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If we are unable to substantially utilize our neperating loss carryforwards, our financial resuligill be harmed.

As of December 31, 2014, our net operating losOEN carryforward amounts for U.S. federal inconmal astate tax purposes were
$85.6 million and $86.1 million, respectively. Wéilve are currently profitable in the U.S. for bgukposes, we have had periods of
substantial losses in the past and have genernabsthsitial deductions associated with excess tazflis; there is no assurance that we will
continue to remain profitable in the U.S. or thatwill be able to generate sufficient taxable inedim utilize our NOLs before they expire.

Governmental regulations affecting the import or part of products could harm our revenue.

The U.S. and various foreign governments have ieg@sntrols, export license requirements and odigtnis on the import or export
of some technologies, especially encryption teatgpgl and may impose additional or broader contetpprt license requirements and
restrictions on the import or export of some tedbgies in the future. In addition, from time to #rgovernmental agencies have proposed
additional regulation of encryption technology, Is@s requiring the escrow and governmental recovepyivate encryption keys. Although
do not believe that any of our products currergiyuire an export license, if our products or congms of our products become subject to
governmental regulation of encryption technologytirer governmental regulation of imports or exponte may be required to obtain import
or export approval for such products, which coulct@éase our costs and harm our international antedtic sales and our revenue. In addition
failure to comply with such regulations could reésnlpenalties, costs and restrictions on expavilpges, which would harm our results of
operations.

If we are unable to manage our growth and diversedacomplex operations, our reputation in the markad our ability to generate revent
from new or existing consumers may be harm

Because our operations are geographically diverdeeamplex, our personnel resources and infrastrectould become strained and
our reputation in the market and our ability tocasfully implement our business plan may be harmédhave experienced a period of rapid
growth in our headcount and operations. The gromthe size, complexity and diverse nature of awsibess and the expansion of our produc
lines and consumer base have placed increased dermarour management and operations, and furtbertky if any, may place additional
strains on our resources in the future. Our ahititgffectively compete and to manage our plannégé growth will depend on, among other
things:

e Maintaining continuity in our senior management &ag personnel;

* Increasing the productivity of our existing emplege

»  Attracting, training, motivating and retaining amployees, particularly our technical and managémersonnel;

*  Maintaining existing relationships and developimgvirelationships with contract manufacturers, deadad distributors;

e Improving our operational, financial and managenoemitrols; and

e Improving our information reporting systems andgedures.

If we do not manage the size, complexity and diwerature of our business effectively, we could expee delayed product releases
and longer response times by our dealers in asgistir consumers in implementing our solutions, @ndd lack adequate resources to suppo
our consumers on an ongoing basis, any of whickddoarm our reputation in the market, our abiliysticcessfully implement our business
plan and our ability to generate revenue from neexisting consumers.

If we fail to retain our key employees, our busirsesould be harmed and we might not be able to impdat our business plan successful

Given the complex nature of the technology on whighbusiness is based and the speed with whidih suc

21




Table of Contents

technology advances, our future success is dependéarge part, upon our ability to attract aetain highly qualified executive, managerial,
engineering and sales personnel. Competition fentad personnel is intense, and we cannot beic¢ht@t we can retain our executive,
managerial, engineering and sales personnel omhaan attract, assimilate or retain such perdanrbe future. Our inability to attract and
retain such personnel could harm our businessltsesuoperations and financial condition.

Downturns in general economic and market conditigriscluding but not limited to downturns in the haing market and reductions i
consumer spending, may reduce demand for our saln$, which could harm our revenue, results of opgoms, financial condition and
cash flows.

Our revenue, results of operations and cash flepend on the overall demand for our solutions, Wwis&n be significantly reduced in
economic environments characterized by market atedest rate volatility, decreased consumer confidehigh unemployment, declines in
residential remodeling and housing starts, andrdghed growth expectations in the U.S. economyadardad. During periods of weak or
unstable economic and market conditions, providémoducts and services that represent discratjomarchases are disproportionately
affected. In addition, during these periods, thmber of independent dealers and distributors majirgeas the prospects for home building
and home renovation projects diminish, which mayeta corresponding impact on our growth prosp&atghermore, during challenging
economic times consumers may face issues in gaiimredy access to sufficient credit, which couldpair their ability to make timely
payments. There is also an increased risk duriegetiperiods that an increased percentage of olardledll file for bankruptcy protection,
which may harm our reputation, revenue, profitap#ind results of operations. We cannot predictithang, strength or duration of any
economic slowdown, instability or recovery, genlgral within any particular geography or industAny downturns in the general economic
conditions of the geographies and industries irctvlive operate, or any other factors negatively otipg the housing market or consumer
spending, could materially and adversely impactreuenue, results of operations, financial conditiad cash flows.

If our estimates or judgments relating to our crithl accounting policies are based on assumptiongttbhange or prove to be incorrect, o
results of operations could fall below expectatioofsecurities analysts and investors, resultingdrdecline in our stock price.

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleSAAP”) requires management
make estimates and assumptions that affect the rnoeported in our consolidated financial stateiyand accompanying notes. We base ou
estimates on historical experience and on varitlisrassumptions that we believe to be reasonalglerithe circumstances, as provided in
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations,” the resuit&lich form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assetdlitiab and equity, and the amount of revenue atfkases that are not readily apparent f
other sources. Significant assumptions and estsneged in preparing our consolidated financiakstaints include, or may in the future
include, those related to revenue recognitionwadloce for doubtful accounts, inventories, produatranties, income taxes and stock-based
compensation expense. Our results of operationshmdarmed if our assumptions change or if actvalimstances differ from those in our
assumptions, which could cause our results of dpesato fall below the expectations of securiiealysts and investors, resulting in a decline
in our stock price.

Changes in existing financial accounting standards practices, or taxation rules or practices, magnm our results of operations.

Changes in existing accounting or taxation rulegractices, new accounting pronouncements or @xatiles, or varying
interpretations of current accounting pronouncementaxation practice could harm our results afrafions or the manner in which we
conduct our business.

Mergers or other strategic transactions involvingiocompetitors could weaken our competitive positiavhich could harm our results @
operations.

Our industry is highly fragmented, and we believie likely that some of our existing competitorsl wonsolidate or be acquired. In
addition, some of our competitors may enter intew aliances with each other or may establish @rgjthen cooperative relationships with
systems integrators, third-party consulting firmsther parties. For example, in 2014, Google érguired Nest Labs, a manufacturer of
thermostats and smoke detectors; Nest Labs acqbimatam, a home-monitoring camera company; Appde ihntroduced HomeKit, a
framework for communicating with and controllingntcted devices in a user's home; and Samsung@iéxs Co., Ltd. acquired home
automation startup, SmartThings. These transactindroduct introductions, as well as any addii@onsolidations, acquisitions, alliances
or cooperative relationships in our industry, cdelad to pricing pressure, reduce our market stiaresult in a competitor with greater
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financial, technical, marketing, service and otfesources than ours, all of which could harm owiress, results of operations and financial
condition.

We incur increased costs and demands upon managerasra result of complying with the laws and regtitms affecting public companie:
which could harm our results of operations and oability to attract and retain qualified executivesd board members.

As a public company, we have and will continuentcur significant legal, accounting and other expsrtbat we did not incur as a
private company, including costs associated withlipicompany reporting and corporate governancairements. These requirements include
compliance with Section 404 and other provisionthefSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frankl\&taeet Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), as well agas implemented by the Securities and Exchangen@ssion (“SEC”), The NASDAQ
Stock Market LLC, and other applicable securitiegxchange-related rules and regulations. In a@dibur management team has also had tc
adapt to the requirements of being a public comp#fg expect complying with these rules and regartestiwill substantially increase our legal
and financial compliance costs and make some #etvinore difficult, time consuming or costly, pautarly if we are no longer an “emerging
growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart OwiBess Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”).

As a public company, we also expect that it maynoee difficult and more expensive for us to maintdirector and officer liability
insurance, and we may be required to accept redumlary limits and coverage or incur substantidligher costs to obtain the same or similar
coverage. As a result, it may be more difficult fisrto attract and retain qualified individualséve on our board of directors or as our
executive officers.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and any deocision our part to comply with certain reduced dissure requirements applicable to
emerging growth companies could make our commorckttess attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definetthnJOBS Act, and we may take advantage of cegt@mptions from various
reporting requirements that are applicable to oftuddlic companies that are not “emerging growth panies,” including not being required to
comply with the auditor attestation requirementSeé€tion 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduceclaiare obligations regarding executive
compensation in our periodic reports and proxyest&nts, and exemptions from the requirements afitiplan annual non-binding advisory
vote on executive compensation and nonbinding &imder approval of any golden parachute paymentgmwiously approved. If we choose
not to comply with the auditor attestation requiegrs of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Actamditors will not be required to opine on
the effectiveness of our internal control over fioial reporting. As a result, investors may becéess comfortable with the effectiveness of
internal controls and the risk that material wealsas or other deficiencies in our internal contgalsindetected may increase. If we choose tc
provide reduced disclosures in our periodic repanis proxy statements while we are an emerging troampany, investors would have
access to less information and analysis aboutxesutive compensation, which may make it diffidoltinvestors to evaluate our executive
compensation practices. We cannot predict if irmsstvill find our common stock less attractive hessawe may rely on these exemptions ant
provide reduced disclosure. If some investors findcommon stock less attractive as a result, theg be a less active trading market for our
common stock and our stock price may be harmedwilVeemain an “emerging growth company” for upfiee years following our initial
public offering or such earlier time that we arelmager an emerging growth company. We will rensiremerging growth company until the
earliest to occur of: the last day of the fiscaym which we have more than $1.0 billion in arimeaenue; the date we qualify as a “large
accelerated filer,” with at least $700 million afugty securities held by non-affiliates determirgedof the last business day of the previous
second fiscal quarter; the issuance, in any thesg-geriod, by us of more than $1.0 billion in reemvertible debt securities; or the last day of
the fiscal year ending after the fifth anniversafyur initial public offering.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act providesttan emerging growth company can take advantaifje @xtended transition
period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Setteisi Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Adt) complying with new or revised
accounting standards. In other words, an emergiogty company can delay the adoption of certaianting standards until those standards
would otherwise apply to private companies. Howewer have chosen to “opt out” of such extendedsitim period, and as a result, we will
comply with new or revised accounting standardsherrelevant dates on which adoption of such staisda required for noemerging growt
companies. Section 107 of the JOBS Act providesdhadecision to opt out of the extended transifieriod for complying with new or
revised accounting standards is irrevocable.
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Failure to achieve and maintain effective internabntrol over financial reporting could result in aufailure to accurately report our
financial results. Any inability to report and fil@ur financial results accurately and timely coulstarm our business and adversely imps
investor confidence in our company and, as a restlite value of our common stock.

Effective internal controls are necessary for ugrtuce reliable financial reports and are impurta helping prevent financial fraud.
If we cannot provide reliable financial reportspoevent fraud, our business and results of opersittould be harmed, investors could lose
confidence in our reported financial informationdahe trading price of our stock could drop sigpaifitly. We are required to perform system
and process evaluation and testing of our intezoatrol over financial reporting to allow managetenreport on the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting, as reaqdi by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, atiSe 404. This assessment includes
disclosure of any material weaknesses identifiedloymanagement in our internal control over finaheporting. However, our auditors will
not be required to formally opine on the effectiess of our internal control over financial repagtipursuant to Section 404 until we are no
longer an “emerging growth company” as definechimdOBS Act, and we continue to take advantagleeoéxemptions available to us through
the JOBS Act.

Our compliance with Section 404 may require usoiatioue to incur substantial expense and expendfigignt management efforts.
We may not be able to remediate any future mateséaknesses, or to complete our evaluation, teatitigany required remediation in a tim
fashion. During the evaluation and testing prociésge identify one or more material weaknessesuninternal control over financial
reporting, we will be unable to assert that oueiinal controls are effective. If we are unabledsest that our internal control over financial
reporting is effective, or if our auditors are uleato express an opinion on the effectiveness ofrdarnal controls when they are required to
issue such opinion, investors could lose confidéndbe accuracy and completeness of our finamejbrts, which could harm our stock price.

Our failure to raise additional capital or generateash flows necessary to expand our operations anast in new technologies in the futu
could reduce our ability to compete successfullydamarm our results of operations.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitaleill be sufficient to meet our anticipated casuirements for at least the next
12 months. We may need to raise additional funad,vee may not be able to obtain additional dekgaquity financing on favorable terms, if at
all. If we raise additional equity financing, owcsirity holders may experience significant dilutafrtheir ownership interests and the value of
shares of our common stock could decline. If weagegn debt financing, we may be required to actapts that restrict our ability to incur
additional indebtedness, force us to maintain $igelcliquidity or other ratios or restrict our abjlto pay dividends or make acquisitions. If we
need additional capital and cannot raise it on gtedse terms, if at all, we may not be able to, agother things:

»  Develop and enhance our solutions;

»  Continue to expand our research and developmdat aad marketing organizations;

e Hire, train and retain employees;

* Respond to competitive pressures or unanticipatatting capital requirements; or

e Pursue acquisition opportunities.

Our inability to do any of the foregoing could redwur ability to compete successfully and harmresults of operations.
We may be subject to additional tax liabilities, igh would harm our results of operations.

We are subject to income, sales, use, value adudther taxes in the United States and other cesrin which we conduct busine
which laws and rates vary greatly by jurisdicti@ertain jurisdictions in which we do not collectesa use, value added or other taxes on our
sales may assert that such taxes are applicabileh wbuld result in tax assessments, penaltiesraacest, and we may be required to collect
such taxes in the future. Significant judgmentiguired in determining our worldwide provision focome taxes. These determinations are
highly complex and require detailed analysis ofdtailable information and applicable statutes mguilatory materials. In the ordinary course
of our business, there are many transactions dodlations where the ultimate tax determinationnsertain. Although we believe our tax
estimates are reasonable, the final determinafitexcaudits and any related litigation could biedent from our historical tax practices,
provisions and accruals. If we receive an advarbeg as a result of an audit, or we unilateralgtedmine that we have misinterpreted
provisions of the tax regulations to which we arbjsct, our tax provision, results of operationgash flows could be harmed. In addition,
liabilities associated with taxes are often subje@n extended or indefinite statute of limitasqeriod. Therefore, we may be subject to
additional tax liability (including penalties anatérest) for any particular year for extended pmsiof time.
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Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, power outages, floods and other catastropbkivents, and to interruption by man-
made problems such as terrorism.

A significant natural disaster, such as an eartkeufire or a flood, or a significant power outagmild harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition. Natural disesst®uld affect our manufacturing vendors or lagssproviders’ ability to perform services
such as manufacturing products or assisting wiihnsénts on a timely basis. Sanmina and LiteOn,dfwour contract manufacturers that
manufactured 70% of our inventory purchases foly#ae ended December 31, 2014, have manufactuagilifies located in China. In the
event our manufacturing vendors’ information tedbgg systems or manufacturing or logistics abititage hindered by any of the events
discussed above, shipments could be delayed, iresuitmissing financial targets, such as revemeshipment targets, for a particular
quarter. Further, if a natural disaster occursiiegion from which we derive a significant portiohour revenue, such as metropolitan areas in
North America, consumers in that region may delafoego purchases of our solutions from dealedsdistributors in the region, which m
harm our results of operations for a particulaiq@erin addition, acts of terrorism and cyber tesm could cause disruptions in our busines
the business of our manufacturers, logistics pergddealers, distributors, consumers or the ecgramma whole. Given our typical
concentration of sales at the end of each monttgaader, any disruption in the business of our ufiacturers, logistics providers, dealers,
distributors and consumers that impacts salesatitid of our quarter could have a greater impaciusruarterly results. All of the
aforementioned risks may be augmented if the adisastovery plans for us and our suppliers proveetmmadequate. To the extent that any of
the above results in delays or cancellations ofi@dor delays in the manufacture, deployment ipmsént of our products, our business,
financial condition and results of operations wolbddharmed.

Global or regional economic, political and sociabaditions could harm our business and results ofevptions.

External factors such as potential terrorist ataelkts of war, financial crises, trade frictiorgeopolitical and social turmoil in those
parts of the world that serve as markets for olutmms, such as Europe, Asia or elsewhere, coatthtour business and results of operations.
These uncertainties may cause our consumers toealiscretionary spending on their home and madtéfitult for us to accurately plan
future business activities. More generally, thesepplitical, social and economic conditions cowdult in increased volatility in worldwide
financial markets and economies that could harnsales. We are not insured for losses or interoaptcaused by terrorist acts or acts of war.
The occurrence of any of these events or circurastanould harm our business and results of opesatio

Failure to comply with laws and regulations couldahm our business.

Our business is subject to regulation by variodeffal, state, local and foreign governmental agena@ncluding agencies responsible
for monitoring and enforcing employment and latzard, workplace safety, product safety, environmdates, consumer protection laws, anti-
bribery laws, import/export controls, federal séies laws and tax laws and regulations. In cerfaiisdictions, these regulatory requirements
may be more stringent than in the United Statesicdmpliance with applicable regulations or requieets could subject us to investigations,
sanctions, mandatory product recalls, enforcemeturss, disgorgement of profits, fines, damages| and criminal penalties or injunctions. If
any governmental sanctions are imposed, or if wealgrevail in any possible civil or criminal {itition, our business, results of operations
and financial condition could be materially harmidaddition, responding to any action will likekysult in a significant diversion of
management’s attention and resources and an imcire@sofessional fees. Enforcement actions andtgars could further harm our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Our International Operations

In recent years, a significant amount of our reveathas come from sales outside of the United Statesl we are therefore subject tc
number of risks associated with international salesd operations.

We have a limited history of marketing, sellingstaling and supporting our products and servine=rmationally. However,
international revenue (excluding Canada) accoufuled4% of our total revenue for the year endeddddner 31, 2014, and we expect that
percentage to grow in the future. As a result, wistnhire and train experienced personnel to staffraanage our foreign operations. To the
extent that we experience difficulties in recruitinraining, managing, and retaining internatiatedlers, distributors, and international staff,
and specifically staff related to sales managerardtsales personnel, we may experience difficultiggoductivity in foreign markets.

If we are not able to increase the sales of owrtismls to consumers located outside of North Anaeraar results of operations or
revenue growth may be harmed. In addition, in cotioe with our expansion into foreign markets, we a
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receiver of currencies other than the U.S. doAacordingly, changes in exchange rates, and inquéar a strengthening of the U.S. dollar,
negatively affect our net sales as expressed indal&rs. There is also a risk that we will hawetjust local currency product pricing due to
competitive pressures when there has been significdatility in foreign currency exchange rates.

Conducting and launching operations on an intesnatiscale requires close coordination of actigiieross multiple jurisdictions and
time zones and consumes significant managemenineso Our limited experience in operating our ess outside of the United States
increases the risk that our current and any futtegnational expansion efforts will not be sucéalsonducting international operations
subjects us to risks that, generally, we do nag fadhe United States, including:

*  Fluctuations in currency exchange rates;
* Unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirdsen
e Longer accounts receivable payment cycles anccdliffes in collecting accounts receivable;

« Difficulties in managing and staffing internatioraderations, including differences in labor law$jeth may result in higher
personnel-related liabilities and expenses;

»  Potentially adverse tax consequences, includingdeplexities of foreign value added tax systentsrastrictions on the
repatriation of earnings;

e Localization of our solutions and other materiais|uding translation into foreign languages ansbagted expenses;
»  Localization of our customer agreements under agple foreign law;

e The burdens of complying with a wide variety ofdign laws and different legal standards, includawgs and regulations related
to privacy and data security and limitations oibilisy;

* Increased financial accounting and reporting busdard complexities;
» Political, social and economic instability abrosetyorist attacks and security concerns in genareluding cyber security; and
* Reduced or varied protection for intellectual pmypeights in some countries.

The impact of any one of these risks could harmimtiernational business and, consequently, oultsegtioperations generally.
Additionally, operating in international marketsalrequires significant management attention amhfiial resources. We cannot be certair
the investment and additional resources requirediablishing, acquiring or integrating operationether countries will produce desired le
of revenue or profitability.

Due to the global nature of our business, we coblel harmed by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corruptactices Act, the U.K. Bribery A«
or similar anti-corruption laws in other jurisdictbns in which we operate, or various internationabtie and export laws.

The global nature of our business creates variousegdtic and local regulatory challenges. The UdBeign Corrupt Practices Act (the
“FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 (the “U.K. Bribg Act”), and similar anti-corruption laws in othgirisdictions generally prohibit U.S.-
based companies and their intermediaries from ngakiproper payments to non-U.S. officials for thegose of obtaining or retaining
business. In addition, U.S.-based companies aréreshjto maintain records that accurately andyfagpresent their transactions and have an
adequate system of internal accounting controlsopérate in areas of the world that experienceuption by government officials to some
degree and, in certain circumstances, compliantteamiti-corruption laws may conflict with local ¢ams and practices. Although we
periodically train our employees and agents aliuege anti-corruption laws, we cannot assure thatraiming is effective in reducing the risks
attendant to such anti-corruption laws. Our gla@drations require us to import from and exporeweral countries, which geographically
stretches our compliance obligations. In addit@ranges in such laws could result in increasedaémy requirements and compliance costs,
which could harm our business, financial conditon results of
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operations. Our employees or other agents may engagwohibited conduct and render us responsiiteuthe FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act
similar anti-corruption laws. If we are found toibeviolation of the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act other antieorruption laws (either due to a
or inadvertence of our employees, or due to the @cinadvertence of others), we could suffer anahor civil penalties or other sanctions,
which could harm our business.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

From time to time, we are defendants in legal predings and are threatened with litigation as to whiwe are unable to assess our
exposure and which could become significant liakigis in the event of an adverse judgment.

We are defendants in legal proceedings from timarte. Companies in our industry have been suligeckaims and litigation related
to patent infringement and product liability, asives contract and employmerglated claims. We may not be able to accuratedgsssthe risl
related to these claims and lawsuits, and we maynbéle to accurately assess our level of expoBurghermore, we are unable to predict the
outcome of assertions of infringement made agaissind therefore cannot estimate the range oflgedsss. A court determination that our
products or manufacturing processes infringe thedlectual property rights of others could resalsignificant liability and/or require us to
make material changes to our products and/or matwrfag processes or enter into royalty or liceganmrangements, the terms of which could
be onerous. Any of the foregoing could have a natadverse effect on our business, results ofatfmars or financial condition. In the past,
we have entered into settlement agreements relatiogntractual claims and alleged patent infringets, which have included future royalty
payments on certain products, the payment of a lsump amount for alleged past damages, and/or §yragr# of a fixed amount in exchange
for a covenant not to sue.

If we fail to protect our intellectual property angdroprietary rights adequately, our business colid harmed

We believe that proprietary technology is essemtigstablishing and maintaining our leadershigtipss We seek to protect our
intellectual property through trade secrets, capys, confidentiality, non-compete and nondisclesagreements, patents, trademarks, domail
names and other measures, some of which affordlionited protection. We also rely on patent, tradekntrade secret and copyright laws to
protect our intellectual property. Despite our efdo protect our proprietary rights, unauthoripagties may attempt to copy aspects of our
technology or to obtain and use information thatregard as proprietary. Our means of protectingoooprietary rights may not be adequate o
our competitors may independently develop simifesuperior technology, or design around our intéllel property. In addition, the laws of
some foreign countries do not protect our proprjetahts to as great an extent as the laws ofJthiged States. Intellectual property protecti
may also be unavailable, limited or difficult toferce in some countries, which could make it eafsiecompetitors to capture market share.
Our failure or inability to adequately protect dantellectual property and proprietary rights cobltm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

To prevent substantial unauthorized use of outletial property rights, it may be necessary twspcute actions for infringement
and/or misappropriation of our proprietary rightmist third parties. Any such action could resulignificant costs and diversion of our
resources and management’s attention, and we cassote that we will be successful in such actonthermore, many of our current and
potential competitors have the ability to dedicaubstantially greater resources to enforce th&tlectual property rights than we do.
Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may not beeaiol prevent third parties from infringing uponnoisappropriating our intellectual property.

An assertion by a third party that we are infringinits intellectual property could subject us to ¢ligsand time-consuming litigation or
expensive licenses that could harm our business agslilts of operations.

The industries in which we compete are characteérigethe existence of a large number of patentsyrights, trademarks and trade
secrets, and by frequent litigation based on afiegs of infringement or other violations of inettual property rights. We have been subje
patent litigation in the past and we may be sulifgsimilar litigation in the future. Given thatiosolution integrates with all aspects of the
home, the risk that our solution may be subjethése allegations is exacerbated. As we seek eéméxdur solutions, we could be constrained
by the intellectual property rights of others. tiddion, our dealer and distributor contracts reguis to indemnify them against certain
liabilities they may incur as a result of our infyjement of any third-party intellectual property.

We might not prevail in any intellectual propentyringement litigation given the complex technisalues and inherent uncertainties
in such litigation. Defending such claims, regasdlef their merit, could be time-consuming andrdidtng to management, result in costly
litigation or settlement, cause development detaygquire us to enter into royalty or licensingesgnents. In addition, we currently have a
limited portfolio of issued patents compared to lauger competitors, and therefore may not be thédfectively utilize our intellectual
property portfolio to assert defenses or
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counterclaims, or negotiate cross-licenses in mspto patent infringement claims or litigation logbt against us by third parties. Further,
litigation may involve patent holding companiesotiter adverse patent owners who have no relevadupts or revenues and against which
our potential patents provide no deterrence, anayrmther potential litigants have the capabilitydadicate substantially greater resources to
enforce their intellectual property rights and &fethd claims that may be brought against themuifsolutions exceed the scope of in-bound
licenses or violate any third-party proprietaryhtigy we could be required to withdraw those sohgifsom the market, re-develop those
solutions or seek to obtain licenses from thirdipar which might not be available on reasonalii@seor at all. Any efforts to re-develop our
solutions, obtain licenses from third parties orofable terms or license a substitute technologyhtmot be successful and, in any case, migt
substantially increase our costs and harm our basjrfinancial condition and results of operatidhae were compelled to withdraw any of
our solutions from the market, our business, fir@reondition and results of operations could bered.

We are generally obligated to indemnify our indeflmt dealers, distributors and partners for certagxpenses and liabilities resulting from
intellectual property infringement claims regardingur products, which could force us to incur subst#al costs.

We have agreed, and expect to continue to agréedéonnify our independent dealers, distributord partners for certain intellectual
property infringement claims regarding our produéis a result, in the case of infringement claimaiast these dealers, distributors and
partners, we could be required to indemnify themldeses resulting from such claims or to refunedants they have paid to us. We expect
some of our dealers, distributors and partners seak indemnification from us in connection withrinfement claims brought against them.
We evaluate each such request on a case-by-cdseabdsve may not succeed in refuting all suchhtdailf a dealer, distributor or partner
elects to invest resources in enforcing a claimrfdemnification against us, we could incur sigrafit costs disputing it. If we do not succeed
in disputing it, we could face substantial lialyilit

The use of open source software in our solutionsyrexpose us to additional risks and harm our inegtual property.

Some of our solutions use or incorporate softmaag is subject to one or more open source licei®esn source software is typically
freely accessible, usable and modifiable. Certpigncsource software licenses require a user wkadstto distribute the open source software
as a component of the user’s software to disclabdigly part or all of the source code to the usedftware. In addition, certain open source
software licenses require the user of such softivareake any derivative works of the open souraeavailable to others on potentially
unfavorable terms or at no cost.

The terms of many open source licenses to whicareeubject have not been interpreted by U.S.reidn courts, and accordingly
there is a risk that those licenses could be coedtin a manner that imposes unanticipated comditio restrictions on our ability to
commercialize our solutions. In that event, we dde required to seek licenses from third partiesrder to continue offering our solutions, to
re-develop our solutions, to discontinue salesunfsmlutions or to release our proprietary softwarée under the terms of an open source
license, any of which could harm our business.Harrtgiven the nature of open source softwareai be more likely that third parties might
assert copyright and other intellectual properfyingement claims against us based on our useesktiopen source software programs.

We monitor the use of all open source softwareuinpvoducts, solutions, processes and technolodysaek to ensure that no open
source software is used in such a way as to reguite disclose the source code to the relatedugtaxt solution when we do not wish to do
Despite these precautions, if a thppdrty software provider has incorporated certaresyof open source software into software we liedram
such third party for our solutions without our kriedge or if we have otherwise incorporated unfablarapen source software into our
solutions, we could, under certain circumstancesghluired to disclose the related source codertgautions. This could harm our intellect
property position and our business, results of ajgars and financial condition.

We rely on the availability of third-party licenseH these licenses are available to us only onddavorable terms or not at all in the future,
our business and results of operations may be hadme

We have incorporated third-party licensed technplotp our products. It may be necessary in tharuto renew licenses relating to
various aspects of these products or to seek addltlicenses for existing or new products. Theeseary licenses may not be available on
acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obta@rtain licenses or other rights, or to obtawsthlicenses or rights on favorable terms, or the
need to engage in litigation regarding these mattayuld result in our inability to include certd@atures in our products or delays in product
releases until such time, if ever, as equivaletttirielogy could be identified, licensed or developad integrated into our products, which may
have a material adverse effect on our businessitses operations and financial condition. Moregube inclusion in our products of
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intellectual property licensed from third partiesanonexclusive basis could limit our ability t@f@ct our proprietary rights in our products.

Failure to maintain the security of our informatiorand technology networks, including information rating to our dealers, distributors,
consumers and employees, could adversely affecFusthermore, if security breaches in connectionthithe delivery of our products and
services allow unauthorized third parties to obtaiontrol of or otherwise access consum’ appliances, our reputation, business, results of
operations and financial condition could be harmed.

We are dependent on information technology netwarldsystems, including the Internet, to proceassmit and store electronic
information and, in the normal course of our bus&eve collect and retain certain information peintg to our dealers, distributors, consurr
and employees. The protection of dealer, distriputonsumer and employee data is critical to then@any. We devote significant resources tc
addressing security vulnerabilities in our prodwtd information technology systems, however, gwisty measures put in place by the
Company cannot provide absolute security, andmformation technology infrastructure may be vultégao criminal cyber-attacks or data
security incidents due to employee or dealer emaifeasance, or other vulnerabilities. Cyberségatiacks are increasingly sophisticated,
change frequently, and often go undetected urtél @ attack has been launched. We may fail tatifiyethese new and complex methods of
attack, or fail to invest sufficient resources @turity measures. We have and will continue to Bgpee cyber-attacks, and we cannot be
certain that advances in cyber-capabilities or rotleeelopments will not permit compromise or bretightechnology protecting the networks
that access our products and services and repesitehere we store this information.

We have acquired a number of companies over thes yeal may continue to do so in the future. Whigemake significant efforts to
address any information technology security issuis respect to our acquisitions, we may still irhsuch risks when we integrate the
acquired products and systems within the Company.

In addition, consumers can use our tools to adtesisautomations systems remotely, and certamuoemployees and dealers can
access and update certain of our home automatamupts and services through the Internet. Sechrégches by third parties or by, or
originating from, one or more of our dealers, dlsttors or employees, that allow unauthorized tpadties to obtain control of our consumers’
appliances containing our products or to obtaiflect use or disclosure any the personal datamp$gmers, could harm our reputation,
business, results of operations and financial dardiFurthermore, although we do not recommenapprove of port forwarding for remote
access to our solutions, certain of our dealerg lrathe past and may in the future enable powtdoding, which could create security
vulnerabilities in a consumer’s home network. Hezurity breach occurs, our reputation, businessilis of operations and financial condition
could be harmed. In addition, even the perceptianthere is a security risk associated with hooteraation devices generally, or that we or
our dealers, distributors or employees have imptgpesed our technology or mishandled personalrinftion could have a negative effect on
our business. This negative perception may be &see in the event of a security breach or cybackimpacting one of our competitors or
their products and services.

Though it is difficult to determine what harm mayedtly result from any specific interruption orcseity breach, any failure or
perceived failure to maintain performance, relig@pilecurity and availability of systems or theuad or potential theft, loss, fraudulent use or
misuse of our products or the personally identiéatata of a dealer, distributor, consumer, empqgyeould result in:

* harm to our reputation or brand, which could leaiths consumers to stop using certain of our produrcservices, reduce or
delay future purchases of our products or serviess,competing products or services, or materaily adversely affect the
overall market perception of the security and telity of our services and home automation prodgetserally;

» individual and/or class action lawsuits, which abrésult in financial judgments against us and Wwhwould cause us to incur
legal fees and costs;

» legal or regulatory enforcement action, which caglsult in fines and/or penalties and which wowddse us to incur legal fees
and costs; and/or

» additional costs associated with responding tartteruption or security breach, such as investigaand remediation costs, the
costs of providing individuals and/or data owneithwotice of the breach, legal fees, the cos@snyfadditional fraud detection
activities, or the costs of prolonged system disoms or shutdowns.

Any of these actions could materially adverselyattpour business and results of operations.
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Risks Related to Owning Our Common Stock
Our share price may be volatile, which may resuitsecurities class action litigation against us.

The market price of our common stock could be silifewide fluctuations in response to many risktdas listed in this section, and
other factors beyond our control, including:

» Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financt@ndition and results of operations;

*  Overall conditions in our industry and market;

*  Addition or loss of consumers;

 Changes in laws or regulations applicable to olutgEms;

e Actual or anticipated changes in our growth ratatiee to our competitors;

* Announcements by us or our competitors of significecquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint vees or capital commitments;
»  Additions or departures of key personnel,

»  Competition from existing products or new produbest may emerge;

* Issuance of new or updated research or reportediyities analysts;

e Fluctuations in the valuation of companies peragivg investors to be comparable to us;

» Disputes or other developments related to propsietghts, including patents, litigation mattersdasur ability to obtain
intellectual property protection for our technolegji

»  Sales of our common stock by us or our stockhojders
*  Share price and volume fluctuations attributablatomnsistent trading volume levels of our shasesi
*  General economic and market conditions.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experiencedragtprice and volume fluctuations that have af@end continue to affect the
market prices of equity securities of many companidese fluctuations often have been unrelatatisproportionate to the operating
performance of those companies. These broad mankkindustry fluctuations, as well as general eodoppolitical and market conditions
such as recessions, interest rate changes oratitamal currency fluctuations, may harm the magtate of our common stock. In the past,
companies that have experienced volatility in tlaekat price of their stock have been subject tasées class action litigation. We may be
target of this type of litigation in the future.&eities litigation against us could result in siaingial costs and divert our managemeiuatitentiol
from other business concerns, which could harnmbasimess.

If securities or industry analysts do not publislesearch or reports about our business, or publistgative reports about our business, ¢
share price and trading volume could declir

The trading market for our common stock dependsait on the research and reports that securitiesdastry analysts publish about
us or our business. We do not have any control thesre analysts. If one or more of the analysts @dver us downgrade our shares or chang
their opinion of our shares, our share price will likeigcline. If one or more of these analysts ceaserege of our company or fail to regula
publish research or reports on us, we could losigility in the financial markets, which could causur stock price or trading volume to
decline.
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The concentration of ownership of our capital stotiknits your ability to influence corporate matters

As of December 31, 2014, our directors, executifiears and holders of more than 5% of our comntogls together with their
affiliates, beneficially own, in the aggregate,3®.of our outstanding common stock. As a resudtséhstockholders, acting together, would
have the ability to significantly influence the oome of matters submitted to our stockholders pmraval, including the election of directors
and any merger, consolidation or sale of all ossattially all of our assets. In addition, thesekholders, acting together, would have the
ability to control the management and affairs af company. Accordingly, this concentration of owstép might harm the market price of our
common stock by:

» Delaying, deferring or preventing a change in coapeocontrol;

« Impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or othesiness combination involving us; or

« Discouraging a potential acquirer from making altaroffer or otherwise attempting to obtain contbus.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of wghich may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attetsjpy our stockholders to replace or remove ourrent management and limit th
market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certifiohiecorporation and amended and restated bylawshaae the effect of delaying
preventing a change of control or changes in ouragament. Our amended and restated certificatecofporation and amended and restated

include provisions that:

«  Authorize our board of directors to issue, withfurther action by the stockholders, up to 25,000,88ares of undesignated
preferred stock;

* Require that any action to be taken by our stoakrsl be effected at a duly called annual or spewégting and not by written
consent;

»  Specify that special meetings of our stockholdarslze called only by our board of directors, thai@han of the Board, the
Chief Executive Officer or the President;

«  Establish an advance notice procedure for stoclen@gprovals to be brought before an annual meefiogr stockholders,
including proposed nominations of persons for @@acto our board of directors;

*  Provide that directors may be removed only for eaus

*  Provide that vacancies on our board of directorg begfilled only by a majority of directors thenaffice, even though less than
a quorum;

»  Establish that our board of directors is divide ithree classes—Class I, Class Il and Class lllith-@ach class serving
staggered terms; and

* Require a super-majority of votes to amend ceéithe above-mentioned provisions.

These provisions, alone or together, could delgyrevent hostile takeovers and changes in confth@se provisions may also frust
or prevent any attempts by our stockholders toaepbr remove our current management by makingierdifficult for stockholders to repla
members of our board of directors, which is resjiador appointing the members of our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdgigions of Delaware law, including Section 203l Delaware General
Corporation law, which prevents some stockholdetdihg more than 15% of our outstanding commonlksfomm engaging in certain business
combinations without approval of the holders ofsgahtially all of our outstanding common stock.

Any provision of our certificate of incorporatiom bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect ohgliglg or deterring a change of
control could limit the opportunity for our stockders to receive a premium for their shares ofammmon stock, and could also affect the
price that some investors are willing to pay for common stock.
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ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

ITEM 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in Salt Cétiye Utah, where we lease approximately 75,00fasg feet of commercial space
under a lease that expires on June 30, 2018. Wihissgpace for sales, research and developmeaigrdsnd distributor service and support,
administrative purposes. We also lease approximd&00 square feet of warehouse space in Sa#t Citly, Utah under a lease that expires
on March 31, 2017.

In connection with our sales efforts in the Unittdtes and abroad, we lease office space typioally short-term renewable basis
domestically in San Jose, California; CharlottertN&arolina and Chicago, lllinois, and internatitiy in York, United Kingdom; Shanghai,
China; Bangalore, India; and, beginning Januarys2iMelbourne, Australia.

We believe that our facilities are suitable to mmatcurrent needs. We intend to expand our exjdtuilities or add new facilities as
we add employees and enter new geographic maggtsye believe that suitable additional or altemeagpace will be available as needed to
accommodate any such growth. However, we expdntto additional expenses in connection with suelv or expanded facilities.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in lggaiceedings arising in the ordinary course of aigifess. We are not presently a
party to any legal proceedings|, other than speadiff identified below,] that, if determined advelssto us, we believe would individually or in
the aggregate have a material adverse effect obhuminess, results of operations, financial coaditr cash flows. Currently, a range of loss
associated with any individual material legal pexiag cannot be reasonably estimated.

On August 12, 2014 and September 16, 2014, respégctive received letters from Nokia Corporatioleging that we manufacture
supply products that practice IEEE 802.11 Standaeidsed to wireless technology, and that Nokiganésowner of a portfolio of patents
essential to that standard. We are conductingastigation of the claims made by Nokia regardisgpatent portfolio. Nokia has not initiated
litigation against us, but we believe that Nokiaynda so. We intend to defend ourselves vigoroustia vespect to this and any other claims or
litigation. Since no complaint has been filed almel dutcome of any potential legal proceedingsedl&t these claims is uncertain at this time,
we cannot estimate the amount of liability, if athat could result from an adverse resolution of thatter.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
PART II.
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Rity Securities
Market Information

Our common stock has been listed on the NASDAQ &lI8elect Market under the symbol “CTRL” since AsgR, 2013. Prior to
that time, there was no public market for our comratock.

Price Range of Common Stock
The price range per share of common stock presémiesy represents the highest and lowest closifmg@ifor our common stock on

the NASDAQ Global Select Market during each quastace our initial public offering. On February BW15, the last reported sale price for
our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Marikas $12.86 per share.

2013 High Low
Third Quarter (commencing August 2, 20 $ 2380 % 17.32
Fourth Quarte $ 17.8¢ $ 14.15
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2014 High Low

First Quarte! $ 314t % 17.9¢
Second Quarte $ 2147 % 15.8:
Third Quartel $ 19.8¢ $ 12.8:2
Fourth Quarte $ 158, % 11.9¢

Holders of Record

As of February 10, 2015, there were 34 holdergobrd of our common stock. The actual number afldtolders is greater than this
number of holders of record, and includes stoclkérsldvho are beneficial owners, but whose shareleddein street name by brokers and o
nominees. This number of holders of record alse ame include stockholders whose shares may beitnéldst by other entities.

Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Return

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary ig ahour previous or future filings with the SEBe tfollowing information relating
to the price performance of our common stock siatlbe deemed to be “filed” with the SEC or to Is®liciting material” under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchaoged it shall not be deemed to be incorporatgddierence into any of our filings unc
the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, exceftdaktent we specifically incorporate it by refaeinto such filing.

The following graph shows a comparison from Aud2013 (the date our common stock commenced tyaatinthe NASDAQ
Global Select Market) through December 31, 201theftotal cumulative return of our common stockwiite total cumulative return of the
S&P 500 Index and S&P 500 Information Technologgt8elndex. The comparisons in this graph belowtased on historical data and are
not intended to forecast or be indicative of futpegformance of our common stock.

The comparison assumes that $100.00 was investag icommon stock, the S&P 500 Index and S&P 5@@rhmation Technology
Sector Index, and assumes reinvestment of divigéhasy. The graph assumes the initial value af@ammon stock on August 2, 2013 was
the closing sale price on that day of $20.05 paresand not the initial offering price to the paldf $16.00 per share. The performance showr
on the graph below is based on historical resuitsia not intended to suggest future performance.
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Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock and do not intend to pay ani dasdends in the
foreseeable future. We anticipate that we williretdl of our future earnings for use in the opimrabf our business and for general corporate
purposes. Any determination to pay dividends inftiiere will be at the discretion of our board afedtors. Accordingly, investors must rely
sales of their common stock after price appreamatichich may never occur, as the only way to readimy future gains on their investments.

Unregistered Sale of Equity Securities

In February 2014, we issued 7,763 shares of constamk pursuant to the cashless net exercise ofwarto purchase our common
stock.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stéc

On August 7, 2013, we closed our initial publicesiiig (“IPO”), in which we sold 4,600,000 sharesofmmon stock at a price to the
public of $16.00 per share. The offer and saldlaffghe shares in the IPO were registered unkierSecurities Act pursuant to a registration
statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-189736), wihwels declared effective by the SEC on August 1, 208raised $65.6 million in net
proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts@mmissions of $5.2 million and offering expensg$2.8 million. No payments were
made by us to directors, officers or persons owtgngpercent or more of our common stock or torthg$ociates, or to our affiliates, other t
payments in the ordinary course of business ta@fsi for salaries. There has been no material ehiantipe planned use of proceeds from our
IPO as described in our final prospectus filed wiith SEC on August 2, 2013 pursuant to Rule 42%{t&) invested the funds received in
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accordance with our board approved investment ypolibe managing underwriters of our IPO were Mekiginch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated and Raymond James & Associates, Inc.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Comensation Plans

See Part lll, Item 12 of this Form 10-K for disalos relating to our equity compensation plans. Sofdrmation will be included in
our proxy statement relating to our 2015 annualtingef stockholders, which is incorporated het@jrreference.

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

We have derived the selected consolidated statsnoéwiperations data for the years ended Decenthed(@ 2, 2013 and 2014 and
selected consolidated balance sheet data as ofribece31, 2013 and 2014 from our audited consoliiitencial statements and related note:
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We have datithe selected consolidated statements of opesadiata for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2011 and the selected cdasali balance sheet data as of December 31, 20h2ofar audited consolidated financial
statements not included in this Form 10-K. Theoiwihg selected consolidated financial data shoelddad in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” and our cadatéd financial statements and
related notes included elsewhere in this Form 1O historical results are not necessarily indieadf the results to be expected for any
future period and the results for any interim pgroe not necessarily indicative of the resultisd@xpected in the full year.

Years Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
(In thousands, except per share date

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Revenue $ 74,928 % 93,37¢ $ 109,51 $ 128,51. $ 148,801
Cost of revenu 43,35} 50,53¢ 57,22t 64,23¢ 72,44
Cost of revenue—inventory purchase commitment — — 1,84( (380) —
Gross margin 31,56¢ 42,84: 50,44’ 64,65 76,35
Operating expense

Research and developme 15,92: 19,21 20,31( 24,97¢ 27,36¢

Sales and marketir 22,49: 17,54¢ 20,18: 21,97¢ 25,881

General and administrati 8,87¢ 9,80¢ 10,15( 12,32¢ 14,19¢

Litigation settlement — — 2,86¢ 44C 47
Total operating expenses 47,28¢ 46,56: 53,51 59,72¢ 67,49¢
Income (loss) from operations (15,72 (3,720 (3,069 4,93¢ 8,86:
Interest and other expense, net (544) (165) (51¢) (1,187 (296
Income (loss) before income taxes (16,26%) (3,885 (3,589) 3,751 8,56
Income tax expense — 141 24¢€ 411
Net income (loss $ (16,269 $ (3,885) $ (3,729 $ 3,60 $ 8,15¢
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic $ 9.99 $ (202 $ (1.5¢) $ 03: $ 0.3¢

Diluted $ (9.99 $ (2.0 $ (1.5¢) $ 0.1€ $ 0.3Z

Nor-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our GAAP operating results, we usgain non-GAAP financial measures to understamblemaluate our operating
performance and trends, to prepare and approvarowal budget, and to develop short- and long-tgperational plans. These measures,
which we refer to as our non-GAAP financial measyege not prepared in accordance with generatlg@ted accounting principles in the
United States. Non-GAAP gross margin, non-GAAP inedrom operations, and non-GAAP net income exchamecash expenses related to
stock-based compensation as well as gains or lassgwentory purchase commitments. We furtherwelexpenses related to litigation
settlements and executive severance from non-GAdénie from operations and non-GAAP net income dsagexpenses related to stock
warrants from non-GAAP net income.

Management believes that it is useful to excludelsbased compensation expense because the amourhadqueense in any speci
period may not directly correlate to the underlypegformance of our business operations. We
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believe it is useful to exclude gains or lossesneentory purchase commitments because it is incomexpense that arose from our
commitment to purchase energy-related products frantontract manufacturing partner that we will nse due to our decision to discontinue
our energy product line for utility customers. W&yl not recognized that type of income or expemgeiiods prior to 2012, and we believe
that past and future periods are more comparafe gxclude that income or expense.

Furthermore, we believe it is useful to excludeenges related to litigation settlements, stock ardsrand executive severance
because of the variable and unpredictable natutigese expenses which are not indicative of pafittare operating performance. We believe
that past and future periods are more comparalle éxclude those expenses.

We believe these adjustments provide useful cortiparaformation to investors. Non-GAAP results gresented for supplemental
informational purposes only for understanding querating results. The non-GAAP results should motdnsidered a substitute for financial
information presented in accordance with geneadlyepted accounting principles, and may be différem non-GAAP measures used by
other companies. Our non-GAAP financial measureg mad provide information that is directly compaletn that provided by other
companies in our industry, as other companies irirmustry may calculate non-GAAP financial resuif§erently, particularly related to non-
recurring, unusual items. We urge our investongteew the reconciliation of our non-GAAP financiakasures to the comparable GAAP
financial measures included below, and not to oglyany single financial measure to evaluate ouiness.

Years Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
(in thousands, except percentages and per share dx

Reconciliation of Gross Margin to Nor-GAAP Gross

Margin:
Gross margir $ 3156¢ $ 42,84: $ 50,447 $ 64,657 $ 76,35
Stoclk-based compensation expense in cost of rev 28 49 78 63 10t
Cost of revenue—inventory purchase commitment — — 1,84( (380 —
Non-GAAP gross margin $ 31,59¢ $ 42,89. $ 52,36¢ $ 64,34C $ 76,46:
Revenue $ 74,928 % 93,37¢ % 109,51 $ 128,51 $ 148,80(
Gross margin percenta 42.1% 45.S% 46.1% 50.2% 51.2%
Non-GAAP gross margin percenta 42.2% 45.S% 47.8% 50.1% 51.4%
Reconciliation of Income (Loss) From Operations t

Non-GAAP Income (Loss) From Operations:
Income (loss) from operatiol $ (15,72) $ (3,720 $ (3,069 $ 493 % 8,86:
Stocl-based compensation expel 1,46¢ 2,01z 2,86¢ 3,76( 5,341
Cost of revenL—inventory purchase commitme — — 1,84( (380 —
Litigation settlemen — — 2,86¢ 44( 47
Executive severance — — — 34( —
Non-GAAP income (loss) from operations $ (14,25) $ 1,707 $ 451 $ 9,094 $ 14,25
Revenue $ 74,92 % 93,37¢ $ 109,51 $ 128,51: $ 148,80(
Operating margin percenta -21.(% -4.C% -2.8% 3.8% 6.C%
Non-GAAP operating margin percenta -19.(% -1.8% 4.1% 7.1% 9.€%
Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to No-GAAP

Net Income (Loss):
Net income (loss $ (16,265 $ (3,885) $ (3,729 $ 3,60 $ 8,15¢
Stocl-based compensation expel 1,46¢ 2,01z 2,86¢ 3,76( 5,341
Cost of revenL—inventory purchase commitme — — 1,84( (380 —
Litigation settlemen — — 2,86¢ 44( 47
Convertible preferred stock warre 14C (227) 254 70¢ —
Executive severance — — — 34( —
Non-GAAP net income (loss) $ (14,65¢ $ (2,099 $ 4,10¢ $ 837: $ 13,54«
Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) per Share t

Non-GAAP Net Income (Loss) per Share:
Basic net income (loss) per shi $ (9.99 $ (2.02) $ (1.5¢) $ 03 % 0.3¢
Stocl-based compensation expel 0.9C 1.0t 1.22 0.3¢€ 0.2z
Cost of revenL—inventory purchase commitme — — 0.7¢ (0.0 —
Litigation settlemen — — 1.22 0.0¢ —
Convertible preferred stock warre 0.0¢ (0.12) 0.1C 0.07 —
Executive severance — — — 0.0¢ —
Non-GAAP basic net income (loss) per share $ (8.9Y $ (1.09 $ 1.74 % 0.7¢ $ 0.517
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ (9.99 $ (2.02) $ (0.20) $ 0.1€ $ 0.3z
Stocl-based compensation expel 0.9C 1.0t 0.1t 0.17 0.21
Cost of revenL—inventory purchase commitme — — 0.1C (0.02) —
Litigation settlemen — — 0.1t 0.0z —
Convertible preferred stock warre 0.0¢ (0.12) 0.0z 0.0z —
Executive severance — — — 0.0z —
Non-GAAP diluted net income (loss) per share $ (8.95 $ (1.09) $ 02z $ 0.3 $ 0.5:

Weightec-average number of shart



Basic 1,63¢ 1,92 2,36( 10,60¢ 23,68t
Diluted 1,63¢ 1,92 18,90¢ 22,26 25,64¢
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Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

The following table sets forth our selected cordaifed balance sheet data as of the dates presented:

As of December 31
2012 2013 2014
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 18,69t $ 84,54¢ $ 29,187
Investments, ne — — 68,03:
Property and equipment, r 2,66¢ 3,94: 5,08¢
Working capital, excluding deferred rever 23,83: 95,42: 98,78:
Total asset 50,63¢ 122,68t 142,03(
Long-term debt, including current portic 3,15¢ 2,96¢ 1,82¢
Redeemable convertible preferred stock and waliamitity 116,91« — —
Total stockholder equity (deficit) (92,607) 98,47 118,30:

ITEM 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of lRiancial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the various sections in our Managsts Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditend Results of Operations
(MD&A) in conjunction with our consolidated finaatistatements and the notes thereto included elsenih this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. The following discussion contains forw-looking statements that reflect our plans, estesatnd beliefs. Our actual results could differ
materially from those discussed in the forward-iogkstatements. Factors that could cause or countalio these differences include those
discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual RepoRorm 10-K, particularly in the “Cautionary Nofegarding Forward-Looking
Statements” and the “Risk Factors” section.

Our MD&A is provided in addition to the accompanyiconsolidated financial statements and notesdistagaders in understanding
our operations, financial condition and cash floM&&A is organized as follows:

Overview

Overview. Discussion of our business and overall analysfahcial and other highlights affecting the compamorder to
provide context for the remainder of MD&A.

Factors and Trends Affecting our Performandesummary of certain market factors and trendsweabelieve are important to
our business which we must successfully addressdier to continue to grow our business.

Key Operating and Financial MetricKey operating and financial metrics that we usewaluate and manage our business.
Results of OperationsAn analysis of our financial results comparing 2662012 and comparing 2014 to 2013.

Quarterly Results of Operations and Other Dafen analysis of our quarterly results of operatiforseach of the quarters in the
two-year period ended December 31, 2014.

Liquidity and Capital Resourceg\n analysis of changes in our balance sheets astdftawvs, and discussion of our financial
condition and potential sources of liquidity.

Critical Accounting EstimatesAccounting estimates that we believe are most imapbito understanding the assumptions and
judgments incorporated in our reported financialtes and forecasts.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Agaments.Overview of contractual obligations, contingenblldies,
commitments and off-balance sheet arrangementtaodiag as of December 31, 2014, including expeptganent schedule.

Control4 is a leading provider of automation andtoa solutions for the connected home. We unldekgotential of connected
devices, making entertainment systems easier tchosees more comfortable and energy efficient,fantdlies more secure. We provide our
consumers with the ability to integrate music, widéghting, temperature, security,
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communications and other functionalities into &iedihome automation solution that enhances ouswmers’ daily lives. At the center of our
solution is our advanced software platform, whighprovide through our products that interface withide variety of connected devices that
are developed by us and by third parties.

Consumers purchase our products from our worldwetevork of certified independent dealers, regi@ral national retailers and
distributors. These dealers, retailers and distoitsudesign and install a solution to fit the sfiecieeds of each consumer, whether it is a one-
room home theatre solution or a whole-home autamaodlution that includes the integration of musidgo, lighting, temperature, security
and communications devices. Our products are iastat both new and existing residences, multi-diwglunits and small commercial
facilities. We refer to revenue from sales of otoducts through these dealers, retailers and loligbts as our Core revenue (“Core revenue”).
In addition, a portion of our revenue is attribuéatn sales in the hospitality industry, which xskeided from our calculation of Core revenue.
Our revenue from sales to hotels is generally ptdjased and has been significant in some periedsnsignificant in other periods. In the
future, we expect revenue from hospitality to comdi to be attributable to large projects and valitue to be uneven from period to period.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, we salgmaucts directly to over 3,250 active directldesin the United States, Canada, the
United Kingdom and 47 other countries, and parthevith 28 distributors to cover an additional 4Lietries where we do not have direct
dealer relationships. These distributors sell @lutns through dealers and provide warehousnadning, technical support, billing and
service for dealers in each of those countries.

We derive substantially all of our revenue from slage of products that contain our proprietarywsafe, which functions as the
operating system of the home. In 2013, we derivenhaller portion of our revenue from licensing Qamtrol4 App software, which allows
consumers to access their home control systemvibhin their home using their smartphone, tablelaptop. In April 2013, we began
bundling the Control4 App software licenses with oontroller appliances. As a result, we begarirgelControl4 App software licenses only
legacy system owners. Sales of individual ContAghh software licenses have declined since April28dad are insignificant for all periods
presented. We also generate revenue from the Safenaal subscriptions to our 4Sight subscriptierviee, which allows consumers to
remotely access and control their home controlesysas well as receive alerts regarding activitigheir home. 4Sight also allows dealers to
perform remote diagnostic and programming serviBesenues associated with this subscription seasieaot material in any period.

We were founded in 2003 and began shipping ourymtsdand generating revenue in 2005. Our revermgthrrates for the last five
years are shown in the following table (dollarsniflions):

For the Years Ended December 3!

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Core revenue $ 70¢ $ 88.: $ 105.¢ $ 1262 $ 1447
Core revenue growth over prior

year 26% 25% 20% 20% 14%
Other revenu $ 4C $ 51 $ 38 $ 21 % 4.1
Other revenue changes over pri

year -65% 28% -24% -46% 95%
Total revenue $ 74¢ $ 934 $ 109.5 $ 128t % 148.¢
Total revenue growth over prior

year 11% 25% 17% 17% 16%

Over the past five years, we have experienced datligit Core revenue growth. Our annual Core raeegrowth during that period
has been the result of both the net addition of dealers and distributors to our sales channelsaandcrease in revenue from existing dealer:
and distributors. We believe our ability to grow @ore sales channel has been enhanced throughgbiadovation and expansion of our
product offerings and helping our dealers and ihistors grow their business and gross margins byiging enhanced dealer installation and
marketing tools. For example, during 2014 we:

*  We have now partnered with over 110 manufactureesmmsumer electronics, security, lighting and HV#&@t have now adopted the
Control4 Simple Device Discovery Protocol (SDDPgkimg it easier to connect and integrate their petglwith one another via the
Control4 home automation platform;

« Introduced new lighting design tools and serviceadsist Dealers in the sales and installationaoft®14 wireless and panelized
lighting systems;
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» Released Control4 Hospitality 2.5.3, an updateutopowerful hotel automation solution, which aditse, seamless, and secure
wireless music streaming capabilities for hotelsgjs@nd improved energy intelligence solutionshfwel owners;

» Partnered with national and regional builders, tagag the opportunity to sell Control4 to prospezhomebuyers;

« Announced the release of our new operating systamirol4 OS 2.6, which brings an enhanced musiegapce, intuitive pool and
spa control, and extensive integration with A/V ipguent, comfort solutions, IP cameras, blinds, iarndation systems;

* Launched Composer Express, a mobile configuratiohthat enables Control4 Dealers to simplify andederate the set-up process
for home automation systems; and

* Announced a new initiative to encourage custonepay to upgrade legacy Control4 systems with oarenit primary controllers at
a discount, so that they can enjoy better systamoimeance, the latest Control4 OS, an improved agperience and enhanced
functionality and features.

While our historical revenue growth has been orgamée have completed several small acquisitionslwhie believe enhance our
product offerings and position us for continuedvgioin the future. Recent acquisitions of technglagd distribution-related business are as
follows:

* InJduly 2014, we acquired the home automation prtedand related intellectual property assets ofl@acess, Inc., an engineering
and technology company based in Utah. We previcadly these products through a distribution agre¢nmvéh Card Access. We
determined the Card Access acquisition to be anatarial transaction for public reporting purposes.

* In September 2014, we acquired Extra Vegetablesteiina UK-based company that developed integratiodules and third-party
drivers for Control4 and other third-party homecemiation systems. The acquired drivers will be ptediin Control4’s driver
database and made freely available to Controldede#hrough our installation software, strengthgriire Company’s interoperability
strategy.

* InJanuary 2015, we acquired Nexus Technologies @ty(“Nexus”), a developer and manufacturer & teaf Brand of custom
audio/video distribution and switching systems. pieviously sold certain Leaf products under our t@m4 brand and sold other Leaf
Products through our on-line ordering platform. Wétermined the Nexus Technologies acquisition tarbenmaterial transaction for
public reporting purposes.

We plan to continue to identify, acquire and ingggrstrategic technologies, assets and busindsstesd believe will enhance the
overall strength of our business, allow us to si@ze sales, technical support and training, artthane our dealers’ ability to grow their
businesses.

We have historically experienced seasonal variatinrour revenue as a result of holiday-relatetbfachat are common in our
industry. Our revenue is generally highest in theth quarter due to consumers’ desires to comgieie home installations prior to the
Thanksgiving and Christmas holidays. We generaty decreased sales in the first quarter due touhwer of installations that were
completed in the fourth quarter and the resultiaglide in dealer activity in the first quarter. \§fenerally expect these seasonal trends to
continue in the future, which may cause quartddgttiations in our results of operations and ceri@miancial metrics. We also expect the
seasonality of the first quarter of 2015 to be ngm@nounced than in prior years.

Factors and Trends Affecting Our Performance

A number of industry trends have facilitated ouswgth over the past several years, including théfpration of connected devices ¢
the ubiquity and growth of network-enabled homesnismartphones to smart watches to smart catmadagy is transforming nearly every
aspect of our lives, streamlining daily routines @noviding quick, easy access to the capabildied content we want most. Not only are new
technologies providing convenience on-the-go, beytare becoming increasingly accessible.

We estimate that the majority of our installatiame in existing homes. We expect that future irseean either
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new home construction or existing home renovatigitishave a positive impact on our revenue.

In new home construction, our builder programs iomt to gain traction with regional builders as Iveal with national builders. Toll
Brothers ' embrace of Control4 solutions continteeexpand, and Toll Brothers’ staff are now traimed selling at 18 under-construction
communities (up six from our last quarterly repast)owcasing Control4 products in 22 models homeseight design centers, and supported
by a strong set of local Control4 dealers. Add#iibyy in December 2014, we signed another leadirfg hational home-builder to a similar
program and expect to start installation of modeghhs in select communities in the coming months al§e plan to continue to engage other
national builders in similar strategic alliancese Welieve we are well-positioned to benefit frora thS. housing market resurgence as home
automation increasingly becomes a higher priootyhiome buyers.

We believe that the growth of our business andfaturre success are dependent upon many factotsding the rates at which
consumers adopt our products and services, outyaoilstrengthen and expand our dealer and digtsitnetwork, our ability to expand
internationally and our ability to meet competitiigallenges. While each of these areas presemtisignt opportunities for us, they also pose
important challenges that we must successfullyesidin order to sustain or expand the growth obosiness and improve our results of
operations. These challenges include:

* Increasing Adoption Rates of Our Products and Sees. We are focused on increasing adoption rates opmducts and
services through enhancements to our softwareophathnd product offerings. We intend to accomplisse enhancements
through both continued investment in research awetldpment activities and acquisitions of completagnbusinesses and
technologies.

e Increasing Our Brand AwarenessQur historical marketing efforts have been focusedttracting and retaining qualified
dealers and distributors and providing them withstoner-facing materials and tools to market togeots on their own. We
recently expanded activities to drive online awasmnand sales leads in their local markets. Asudtraraffic to our dealers’ sites
has increased over 75% since the launch of thésaiires in late 2013. In 2014, Marketing testeduenber of lead generation
strategies that yielded good responses from irtetdsomeowners. We discovered the need for Contogblay a more active ro
in lead qualification and delivery to dealers te@me proper follow through to close. Before we hegiplanned 2015 consumer ad
campaign to boost awareness and interest, we eaéirgg an inside telemarketing and sales groupgare inbound inquiries are
directed to dealers who are able to service a nestomer.

e Optimizing Our North America Dealer NetworkWe intend to continue to optimize the performantcarm expand our network
of dealers in North America to ensure that we hga@graphic coverage and technical expertise toeaddyur existing markets ¢
new markets into which we plan to expand. We halged, and expect to continue to add, field saldssarvice personnel to
assist in the optimization of our North America chal.

»  Expanding our International Dealer and DistributoNetwork. We believe that our future growth will be sigoéntly impacted
by our ability to expand our dealer and distributetwork outside of North America, adapt our pradwand services to foreign
markets and increase our brand awareness intema#yioln particular, we believe that we will hasignificant opportunities to
expand our business in emerging markets such asm@hid India. We have added, and expect to continadd, field sales and
service personnel to assist in the optimizationwfinternational channels. In February 2015, weoanced a shift in our
distribution model in Germany, and we are now wagkdlirectly with home automation integrators intttemion. To support the
initiative, we are adding local staff to managessatechnical support and training activities.

*  Managing Competition.The market for home automation is fragmented, igbimpetitive and continually evolving. A number
of large technology companies such as Apple, Goddjierosoft and Samsung offer device control calitsds among some of
their own products, applications and services andidcbe engaged in ongoing development effortsitiress the broader home
automation market. For example, during 2014, Goagtpiired Nest Labs, Inc. which manufactures thetate and smoke
detectors; Nest Labs, Inc. acquired Dropcam, a havomitoring camera company; Apple introduced Honie&inew framework
for communicating with and controlling connectedides in a user's home; and Samsung acquired hatoeenation startup
SmartThings. Our ability to gain significant markétre in the home automation market and intertpevith the new
technologies developed by other large technologypamies over the next several years will be ketofadn our ability to
continue to grow our business and meet or exceetltwre expectations.
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Key Operating and Financial Metrics

We use the following key operating and financiatmgs to evaluate and manage our business.

North America Direct Dealers

December 31

2012 2013 2014
Authorized dealers at the beginning of the year 2,30¢ 2,38¢ 2,54¢
Additions 32 28¢ 31t
Terminations (239) (139) (18%)
Authorized dealers at the end of the year 2,38¢ 2,544 2,67¢
Number of active deale 2,35( 2,46¢ 2,58¢
% of active dealer 98% 97% 97%
International Direct Dealers
December 31
2012 2013 2014
Authorized dealers at the beginning of the year 474 62¢ 63¢
Additions 19¢ 157 17€
Terminations (43) (157) (24)
Authorized dealers at the end of the year 62¢ 63E 787
Number of active deale 501 57¢ 68t
% of active dealer 80% 91% 87%
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2012 2013 2014
Number of controller appliances s¢ 69,20¢ 66,67+ 76,707
Core revenue growt 20% 20% 14%
International Core revenue as a percentage of ievehue 22% 22% 22%

Number of North America and Direct Internationaldbers

Because our dealers promote, sell, install and@tjopir products, a broader dealer network allogvgoureach more potential
consumers across more geographic regions. We egpedealer network to continue to grow, both irrtRédAmerica and internationally. Wh
we have historically focused on dealers affiliatéth the Custom Electronics Design and Installatd@sociation (“CEDIA”), we believe there
is an opportunity to establish relationships widalkérs outside of CEDIA, including electrical camtiors, and security system installers. We
define an active, authorized dealer (“active dépkes one that has placed an order with us inrdiértg 12-month period.

Our active international direct dealer networkeésegrally growing at a faster percentage rate tharactive North America dealer
network, and we expect this trend to continue agnerease our presence in new and existing intenmatmarkets.

While our North America dealer network is growirtgpaslower percentage rate, we continue to adddealers and invest in tools and
technologies to help our dealers be more succeastlincrease the year-over-year sales of our pted@ur goal is to continuously increase
our dealers ' productivity and capacity to growaBling our dealers to increase productivity witimlately drive our revenue growth. Late in
the third quarter of 2014, we announced the aviitlabf Composer Express, a powerful mobile configtion tool available on iOS and
Android to empower our dealers to simplify and d&@de the onsite seip process for Control4 system installations. ABetember 31, 201
15 weeks after release, we have more than 4,608iteans using Composer Express employed by mare 2t6500 independent dealers
worldwide.

In addition, in some international markets, we pglaestablish direct relationships with selectedleles that we previously served
through distributors, which we expect will furtfiecrease our number of direct international dealBng number of active international dealers
increased 19% between the years ended Decemb20B3 and 2014, compared to an increase of 5% inuheer of active North American
direct dealers during the same period.
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While we believe that we continue to have significaternational opportunities, it is difficult tmticipate the exact timing and amc
of growth, particularly in new and emerging mark&sring the year ended December 31, 2014, we epard 18% year-over-year growth in
International Core revenue, driven primarily byostyy sales in the United Kingdom, one of our moréungageographies. Divergent regional
and local economic and political trends, partidylaglating to new home construction and strengiigof the U.S. dollar versus certain local
currencies are examples of challenges we must sgldrerder to continue our international expansgrch challenges may cause our growth
rate to be slower than anticipated, offsetting efforts to expand into these emerging geograpfieat said, we are starting to see increasing
revenue growth in China and India, suggesting @dbainvestments in those markets, including thenopeof technical support and training
centers in the third quarter of 2013, are contiifguto increased margin and profitability.

Number of Controller Appliances Sc

Our controller appliances contain our proprietaftvgare and provide consumers with the essentfalvace technology to enable
home control, automation and personalization. Tumaler of controller appliances we sell in a giveniqgd provides us with an indication of
consumer adoption of our technology. Our saleofroller appliances also create significant opyaty to sell our other products and
services. Once a consumer has deployed our cartagpliances, we believe that the consumer is tilaly to remain committed to our
technology platform and purchase more of our prtgdwapplications and services in the future.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, we sqlth76controllers, compared to 66,674 and 69,20%clers sold in the same
periods in 2013 and 2012, respectively. Contralldes grew 15% during the year ended Decemberdd¥, @ mpared to 2013. This compares
to our overall growth in revenue of 16% during faene period.

Core Revenue Growth

The majority of our revenue comes from sales ofpyaducts through our distribution channels congatisf dealers in the United
States and Canada, and dealers and distribut@atetbthroughout the rest of the world. We refaetenue attributable to sales through dealel
located in the United States and Canada as NorteriéenCore revenue, and revenue attributable esthlrough dealers and distributors
located throughout the rest of the world as Intional Core revenue. Core revenue does not indledenue from sales to hotels or certifica
fees paid to us. Our revenue from sales to haaiemerally project-based and has been signifioastme periods and insignificant in other
periods. In the future, we expect revenue from halify to continue to be attributable to large jexis and will continue to be uneven from
period to period. We therefore believe that ourdd@venue growth is a good measure of our markedtpaion and the growth of our busine

International Revenue as a Percentage of Total Re

We believe that the international market represenésge and underpenetrated opportunity for ushéle established offices in the
U.K., China, and India, we have formed relationshigith international dealers and distributors, amedhave expanded foreign language suj
for our solutions. In February 2015, we announcsHifi in our distribution model in Germany, and are now working directly with dealers
the region. We track International revenue as aqreage of total revenue as a key measure of @gess in expanding our business
internationally.
Results of Operations
Revenut

The following is a breakdown of our revenue betwlenth America and International Core revenue aheérmorevenue:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
(in thousands)

North America Core Revent $ 81,13( $ 98,07C $ 111,24t
International Core Revent 24,47 28,32 33,44+
Other Revenue 3,911 2,11¢ 4,11(

Total Revenue $ 109,51 $ 128,51 $ 148,80!
North America Core Revenue as a % of Total Revt 74% 76% 75%
International Core Revenue as a % of Total Rev 22% 22% 22%
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2013 Compared to 2012 North America Core revenue increased $16.9 onilor 21% from 2012 to 2013 primarily as a restih o
net increase in the number of active direct dealeliing our products and services and an incrasales from existing direct dealers. In
addition, while the number of controllers sold B3 decreased 4% from 2012, the average sellicg per controller was up 29% during that
same period.

International Core revenue increased $3.9 milliof@% from 2012 to 2013 primarily due to an inceessthe number of dealers and
distributors selling our products and services tedresulting increase in the number of systenssale

Our international Core revenue growth declined feB#f6 in 2012 to 16% in 2013. The number of intaomat! dealers was relatively
flat at the end of 2013 compared to 2012, but #regntage of those dealers who are active incrdes®dB0% in 2012 to 91% in 2013 as a
result of our efforts to terminate non-performirgpters.

2014 Compared to 2013 North America Core revenue increased $13.2 onilir 13% from 2013 to 2014 primarily as a restih o
net increase in the number of active direct deaeligng our products and services as well as arease in sales from existing direct dealers.
The decrease in the growth rate between 2013 abdl @0our North America Core revenue was due piilsgnay a decline in the growth rate
from sales to existing direct dealers. We are oigtimthat the introduction of dealer tools suclCasnposer Express, that improves dealer
efficiency and expands their installation capaatywell as the introduction of new products in204ill have a positive impact on sales to
existing dealers.

International Core revenue increased $5.1 millind&9% from 2013 to 2014 primarily due to an inceesthe number of dealers and
distributors selling our products and services thiedresulting increase in the number of systenssé&er International Core revenue growth
continues to be fueled by strong dealer-directquarénce in the U.K., which is our largest regiorréyenue outside of North America and
contributes the highest dollar amount to the iragomal growth. We also experienced year-over-yeaenue growth in China and India
indicating that our investment in the dealer-dimracidel in those regions is starting to contribotgrowth and profitability.

Gross Margin

As a percentage of revenue, our gross margin hers dred will continue to be affected by a varietyaaftors. Our gross margin is
relatively consistent across our products. Ourgroargin on thirgsarty products we sell through our online distribatplatform is higher tha
our gross margin on our other product sales becaasanly recognize our net profit on these saleagasnue. Our gross margin is higher on
software licensing and subscription revenue th&adn product sales. Our gross margin is alsodrigh our sales made directly through
dealers than it is on our sales made through kligtsis. Gross margin may be negatively affectedripe competition in our target markets anc
associated promotional or volume incentive rebatfesed to our customers.

Gross margin for the years ended December 31, ZMA, and 2014 was as follows (in thousands, éxmgentages):

Years Ended December 31
2012 2013 2014

Gross margin $ 50,447 $ 64,657 $ 76,35}
Percentage of reveni 4€% 50% 51%

2013 Compared to 2012 As a percentage of revenue, our gross margieased from 46% in 2012 to 50% in 2013. In 2018, w
reduced our reserve for the loss on inventory psetcommitments by approximately $0.4 million, asproceeds from liquidating the
underlying inventory and our ability to consume coam components exceeded our original estimatesistidp for the impact in 2012 and
2013 on inventory purchase commitment reservesgmss margin as a percent of revenue would hareased from 47.7% in 2012 to 50.0%
in 2013. That increase was due to a variety obfactincluding higher prices charged for our collgrqroducts, higher sales of third party
products sold through our online distribution patf and lower component costs as a percent of teven

2014 Compared to 2013 As a percentage of revenue, our gross margieased from 50% in 2013 to 51% in 2014. The irsgea
was due to a variety of factors, including compdroast reductions, lower manufacturing overheadeagps as a percentage of revenue,
favorable channel sales mix and lower freight costs

We expect product component cost reductions tamoato have a positive impact on our gross maagia percentage of revenue as
those reductions are the result of negotiated plimeeases with our contract manufacturers that are
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long term in nature.

The impact of lower manufacturing overhead as aggage of revenue on our gross margin percentéigeawy depending on
overhead spending in a given period.

We expect the positive impact on our gross margiecgntage resulting from increased sales of thémdyproducts sold through our
online distribution platform to continue in futuperiods; however, the impact will be less signifitcé the growth rate of that revenue slows in
future periods. In January 2015, we acquired Nexusthe Leaf branded products, many of which wele through our online distribution
platform. As a result, we will recognize revenuanirfuture sales of these products on a gross reveasis as opposed to recognizing revenue
on a net basis as we have done for these prodist®psly, consistent with our revenue recognitioficy for all third-party products sold
through our online distribution platform. This clganwill result in increased revenue, but lower gnogrgins with respect to these products.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development expenses consist prinbhilympensation for our engineers and product gpensa Research and
development expenses also include prototyping ihdi-festing expenses incurred in the developmé&ntipproducts. We also include fees
paid to agencies to obtain regulatory certificagion

Research and development expenses for the yeagd E&ratember 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 were as f®l{mthousands, except
percentages):

Years Ended December 31
2012 2013 2014

Research and development $ 20,31 $ 24.97¢ % 27,36¢
Percentage of reveni 19% 19% 18%

2013 Compared to 2012 Research and development expenses increaseti byndllion, or 23%, in 2013 compared to 2012. Thes
increases were primarily due to an increase ind¢wmat and related expenses, including non-castk$tased compensation expense, to su|
on-going and expanded product development activitie

2014 Compared to 2013 Research and development expenses increasetidynilion, or 10%, in 2014 compared to 2013. The
increase were primarily due to an increase in heaatcand related expenses, including non-cash &taskd compensation expense, to suppol
ongoing and expanded product development activities

We expect our research and development expengesréase in absolute dollars for the foreseealileduas we continue to invest in
the development of new solutions; however, we exfiexse expenses to fluctuate as a percentager oéwenue in future periods based on
fluctuations in our revenue and the timing of thegpenses.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilpwfpensation and related travel expenses for oas sald marketing personnel.
Sales and marketing expenses also include expansesiated with trade shows, marketing events,rasivgy and other marketing-related
programs.

Sales and marketing expenses for the years endeghiber 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 were as followth{insands, except
percentages):

Years Ended December 31
2012 2013 2014

Sales and marketing $ 20,18: $ 21,978 $ 25,88"
Percentage of reveni 18% 17% 17%

2013 Compared to 2012 Sales and marketing expenses increased by $1i8mitlr 9%, in 2013 compared to 2012. The perieel o
period increases in absolute dollars for salesnaaudketing expenses was primarily due to headcaownéases and the related expenses as we
as increased credit card merchant fees, which greportionate to our growth in revenue. In additise increased our spending for tradeshoy
and other marketing related expenses to supporipneduct releases and grow our dealer and distiimetworks throughout the world.
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2014 Compared to 2013 Sales and marketing expenses increased by $3i®mibir 18%, in 2014 compared to 2013. The periost
period increases in absolute dollars for salesnaadketing expenses were primarily due to headcimentéases and the related expenses as we
as increased marketing expenses to launch newawdt the CEDIA Expo in September, grow our deatal distributor networks throughout
the world and to deliver tools to the sales chammslipport local marketing and sales lead germrati

We expect our sales and marketing expenses toaseia absolute dollars for the foreseeable fuagree add sales personnel,
particularly in our international channel, and doué to invest in advertising and promotions ta@ase awareness of our products.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piliynarcompensation for our employees in our exegusidministration, finance,
information systems, human resource and legal tleeats. Also included in general and administratixpenses are outside legal fees, audit
fees, facilities expenses and insurance costs.

General and administrative expenses for the yeatsceDecember 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 were asv®lfin thousands, except
percentages):

Years Ended December 31
2012 2013 2014
General and administrative $ 10,15¢C $ 12,32¢ % 14,19¢
Percentage of reveni 9% 10% 1C%

2013 Compared to 2012 General and administrative expenses increased Byrfiflion, or 21%, in 2013 compared to 2012. The
increase in absolute dollars in general and adinatiige expenses was due primarily to increaseddmant and related expenses, professiona
fees and facilities related costs as we preparée @ public reporting company. In addition, weuimed $0.3 million in expenses resulting
from an executive severance agreement.

2014 Compared to 2013 General and administrative expenses increased Byrfillion, or 15%, in 2014 compared to 2013. The
increases in absolute dollars in general and adinittive expenses were due primarily to increasefepsional fees and insurance premiums
associated with being a public company and non-sastk compensation expense.

We expect our general and administrative expemsiggtease in absolute dollars primarily as a tesfulhe increased cost associated
with being a public company. However, we also expec general and administrative expenses to fatetas a percentage of our revenue in
future periods based on fluctuations in our reveamua the timing of those expenses.

Litigation Settlement Expens

Litigation settlement expenses for the years emktember 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 were as followthgusands, except
percentages):

Years Ended December 31
2012 2013 2014
Litigation settlement $ 2,86¢ $ 44C % 47
Percentage of reveni 3% 0% 0%

2013 Compared to 2012During 2013, we expensed $440,000 in connectioh b separate legal matters.

2014 Compared to 2013During 2014, we expensed $47,000 in connection egtitain legal matters.
Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense), net consists primarilyoogifyn currency transaction gains (losses) andaasih-expenses associated with the
revaluation of preferred stock warrant liabiliti€ther income (expense) for the years ended DeaeBih@012, 2013, and 2014 were as

follows (in thousands, except percentages):
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Years Ended December 31
2012 2013 2014

Other income (expense) $ (259 $ (729) $ (35¢)
Percentage of reveni 0% ()% 0%

Other expense increased by $0.5 million in 2013mamed to 2012 and decreased by $0.4 million in 2@fvpared to 2013. The
fluctuations were due primarily to foreign currericgnsaction gains and losses as well as a chartge fair value of the warrant liability.
Upon the effective date of our initial public ofieg, we adjusted the liability to fair value basgzbn the offering price of $16.00 per share. As
a result, we recognized $0.7 million of other exggeim 2013. Upon the closing of our initial pulditering, the holders of the Series G-1
warrants net-exercised their warrants in exchang@6,964 shares of our common stock. The waliapitity of $1.3 million was reclassified
from long-term liabilities to additional paid-inmiéal, a component of stockholders’ equity, andogased to record any further periodic fair
value adjustments relating to the warrant liability

Income Tax Expen:
Income tax expense for the years ended Decemb@032, 2013, and 2014 were as follows (in thousaextsept percentages):
Years Ended December 31
2012 2013 2014

Income tax expense $ 141 $ 248 % 411
Percentage of reveni 0% 0% 0%

Income tax expense was approximately 4%, 7% andfi#icome before income taxes for the years endsgeBber 31, 2012, 2013
and 2014, respectively. The effective tax rateed#ffirom the U.S. federal statutory rate of 34%mparily due to the domestic valuation
allowance offsetting most of the statutory ratetestncome taxes, foreign income taxes, U.S. fédéternative minimum tax and incentive
stock options.

Significant judgment is required in determining @uovision for income taxes and evaluating our uiade tax positions. In evaluating
our ability to recover our deferred tax assetguihor in part, we consider all available positiged negative evidence, including our past
operating results, our forecast of future marketngh, forecasted earnings, future taxable incontendent and feasible tax planning
strategies. Due to historical net losses incurretithe uncertainty of realizing the deferred tasess for all the periods presented, we have a
full valuation allowance against our domestic defditax assets. To the extent that we generatéymdbmestic income and expect, with
reasonable certainty, to continue to generateigesiicome, we may release all or a portion of\mluation allowance in a future period. This
release would result in the recognition of certdéfierred tax assets and a decrease to income paxsx for the period such release is made.

Quarterly Results of Operations and Other Data

The following table presents our quarterly consatidl results of operations and other data for ekt quarters presented, both in
absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenu quiarterly consolidated information has been @reg on the same basis as our audited
consolidated financial statements and, in the opinf management, the statement of operationsiultades all adjustments, consisting of
normal recurring adjustments, necessary for threpfaisentation of the results of operations fos¢hgeriods. You should read this table in
conjunction with our audited consolidated finansi@tements and related notes located elsewhénesiAnnual Report on Form 10-K. The
results of operations for any quarter are not resrdyg indicative of the results of operations éofull year or any future periods.

Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, March 31, June 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013 2014 2014 2014 2014
(In thousands)

Revenue $ 26,57 $ 3254: $ 33,64. $ 3575¢ $ 31,858 $ 36,66 $ 39,12( $ 41,16«
Gross margir 13,02: 16,73¢ 17,04¢ 17,85 16,23¢ 18,96 20,27: 20,88:
Gross margin percenta 49.(% 51.4% 50.7%% 49.%% 51.(% 51.7% 51.&8% 50.7%
Total operating expens 14,49¢ 14,77¢ 15,05: 15,39: 16,76« 16,93¢ 17,06: 16,73
Income (loss) from operatiol (1,47¢) 1,957 1,99 2,45¢ (52¢) 2,031 3,21( 4,15(
Net income (loss $ (1,47) % 973 $ 1,731 $ 2,27C $ (539) $ 2,011 $ 2,765 $ 3,921
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic $ (0.59) $ 0.3¢ $ 01z $ 0.1C $ (0.02) $ 0.0 $ 0.1z $ 0.1¢€

Diluted $ (0.59) $ 0.0t $ 0.07 $ 0.0¢ $ (0.02) $ 00¢ $ 011 % 0.1t
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We have historically experienced seasonal variatiorour revenue as a result of holiday-relatetbfacthat are common in our
industry. Our revenue is generally highest in theth quarter due to consumers’ desire to completie home installations prior to the
Thanksgiving and Christmas holidays. We generaty decreased sales in the first quarter due touhwber of installations that were
completed in the fourth quarter and the resultiaglide in dealer activity in the first quarter.

Our gross margin percentage has improved from 490 first quarter of 2013 to 50.7% in the féuguarter of 2014, but has been
and will continue to be impacted by a variety ofigel and in some cases specific factors incluthiegollowing:

* Negotiated decreases in the price of componenthpeed from our contract manufacturers resultiigwer product costs.

e The mix of customer type and products sold, inegilgdncreased sales of third-party products soldugh our online
distribution platform where revenue is recognizedamet basis.

e Price competition resulting in promotional discauat volume-incentive rebates.
e Achieving leverage in our fixed manufacturing oveall expense as a percent of revenue.

*  Fulfilment related expenses including freights sastd import and export duties. During the fird aacond quarters of
2013, we received credits for duties paid in prasiperiods positively impacting our gross margircpatages during those
periods.

* Inthe second and fourth quarters of 2013, we redweir reserve for the anticipated loss on invgrporchase commitmen
as our ability to consume common components exceedeoriginal estimates.

In the near term, we generally expect our grosgindo increase modestly as a result of our coetinefforts to work with our
contract manufacturers and component vendors tecesthe cost of components we purchase, enginedugir design and cost improvements,
manage our supply chain and realize economiesaté s we grow our business. From time to time,dvan we may experience fluctuations
in our gross margin as a result of the factorsudised in the preceding paragraph.

Our operating expenses fluctuate from quarter totgubased on changes in the number of our emgdoged associated expenses
timing and magnitude of product development, thertg of marketing and sales expenditures and largefrequent transactions such as
litigation settlement expenses. Our quarterly ofiegeexpenses have generally increased in 2014 amdpo 2013 to support the growth in
business, including the transition to being a pubtimpany.

Sales and marketing expenses are typically high#re first and third quarters of each year dutaédtiming of our primary trade
shows.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Primary Sources of Liquidit

On August 7, 2013, we completed our initial puldlffering of common stock in which we sold and issd¢600,000 shares of
common stock and received net proceeds of appraeiy®65.6 million after deducting underwriting digints and commissions and offering
expenses. Our future capital requirements will ddpen many factors, including our rate of revenueagh, potential acquisitions of
businesses, technologies or other assets, the @gpasf our sales and marketing activities, corgthinvestment in research and development
expansion into new territories, the timing of nensduct introductions, and the continued market pizoee of our products.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $84.5 million ishcand cash equivalents, an increase of $65.%milftom December 31, 2012.
The increase in cash is primarily the result ofibeproceeds received from our initial public dfig
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of common stock of approximately $65.6 million effdy settlement obligation payments of $3.0 millio

As of December 31, 2014, we had $97.2 million irestricted cash and cash equivalents and net nadlketecurities, an increase of
$12.7 million from December 31, 2013. We typicatlyest in highly-rated securities, and our invesitrgolicy generally limits the amount of
credit exposure to any one issuer. The policy megunvestments generally to be investment gradb,the primary objective of minimizing
the potential risk of principal loss. The matustief our long-term investments range from one o years, with the average maturity of our
investment portfolio less than one year. Cash edeints and marketable securities are comprisecboesnmarket and other funds, highly
liquid debt instruments of the U.S. government éimdgencies, debt instruments issued by munitipsilin the U.S., corporate securities, and
asset-backed securities.

The following table shows selected financial infation and statistics as of December 31, 2012, 20132014 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,69t $ 84,54t $ 29,18
Investments, ne — 68,03:
Accounts receivable, n 13,07¢ 15,06¢ 20,15
Inventories 12,51¢ 15,31 14,21:
Working capital 23,29( 94,77¢ 97,93¢

We closely monitor our inventory, our days salestanding and our payment terms with our major wesdb maximize our cash
flows from operating activities. We turn our inveryt approximately 5 times per year. Our days salgstanding has averaged 39 over the pa:
12 months. We have 45- and 60-day payment terntsawit two major contract manufacturers.

We maintain a revolving credit facility of $13.0llwin. Borrowing under the revolving credit facjlits subject to certain collateral
restrictions relating primarily to our accountsa®able and inventory levels. As of December 31,£2®ur total borrowing capacity was
approximately $13.0 million, and no borrowings wetgstanding. The revolving credit facility has atority date of May 29, 2015.

Our credit facility and term loan agreements cantairious restrictive and financial covenants aredwere in compliance with each
these covenants as of December 31, 2014.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitalill be sufficient to fund our operations far@ast the next 12 months. From
time to time, we may explore additional financimgices to develop or enhance our product soluttorfsind expansion of our business, to
respond to competitive pressures, or to acquiraveast in complementary products, businesses dnt#ogies. We cannot assure you that any
additional financing will be available to us on eptable terms, if at all. If we raise additionahdis through the issuance of equity or conver
debt or other equity-linked securities, our exigtgtockholders could suffer significant dilutiomdaany new equity securities we issue could
have rights, preferences and privileges senidnded of holders of our common stock.

Subsequent to year end, we acquired Nexus Holdthgktd a manufacturer of HD video matrix switcleesl other audio/video
distribution products under the Leaf brand. Thechase price consisted of $9.0 million in cash, ectijo final adjustment for certain working
capital calculations. In addition, we paid a consiua of $0.5 million to an agent.

Cash Flow Analysis

A summary of our cash flows for the years endedeldser 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 is set forth belowh@usands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofé¢heg $ 18,46¢ $ 18,69 $ 84,54¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 991 3,66¢ 11,24¢
Net cash used in investing activiti (2,360 (3,617%) (71,905
Net cash provided by financing activiti 1,62¢ 65,80¢ 5,36¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvatnts (28) (9) (66)
Net change in cash and cash equival 227 65,85 (55,359
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the p $ 18,69t $ 84,54t $ 29,18
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Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities is net incadgisted for certain non-cash items and changesrtain assets and liabilities.

The increase in cash flows from operating actigit€é $2.7 million in 2013 compared to 2012 is duenprily to the increase in net
income. The adjustments for non-cash items weredaw2013 due primarily to the loss on inventoryghase commitments recognized in
2012, partially offset by higher non-cash stockdshsompensation expense and warrant liability es@ém2013. Cash used to fund working
capital and other operating accounts increasedityfillion in 2013 compared to 2012 due primatdyincreases in our accounts receivable
and inventory balances associated with the groftiuobusiness. In addition, other liabilities cesed as a result of payments totaling $3.0
million related to litigation settlement obligati&n

The increase in cash flows from operating actigité $7.6 million in 2014, compared to 2013, was grimarily to the increase in net
income, offset by growth in accounts receivable$%8 million. The increase in accounts receivablemporary, resulting from a higher
percentage of the sales for the three months ebdedmber 31, 2014, occurring in the month of Deamburing 2014, we paid $0.9 million
as a final payment on a litigation settlement dadtiign entered into in 2013.
Investing Activitie:

Cash provided by or used in investing activitiesnarily consist of purchases, maturities, and safenarketable securities, busines
acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and purchaspmoperty and equipment.

Cash used in investing activities increased fromh32@ 2014, primarily attributable to net purchasemarketable securities totaling
$68.1 million.

During 2014, we finalized two business acquisitiand made combined net cash payments of $1.1 millio
Our capital expenditures during 2014 and 2013 W2ré million and $3.5 million, respectively.
Financing Activities

Financing cash flows consist primarily of borrowiagainst and repayment of long term debt and posckem the exercise of optio
to acquire common stock.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 204 8¢ceived proceeds of $6.4 million and $0.4 wonillirespectively, from the
exercise of options to purchase common stock.

Net repayments on our term loan agreements welerfiillion and $0.2 million for the years ended Daber 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did not engagmynoff-balance sheet activities. We do not haweddfibalance interest in variable
interest entities, which include special purposities and other structured finance entities.

Contractual Obligations

We enter into long-term contractual obligationsha normal course of business, primarily debt @ltians and non-cancellable
operating leases.

Our contractual cash obligations at December 314 20e as follows:
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Less than More than
Total 1 year 1- 3 years 3 -5 years 5 years
(in thousands)
Long-term debt obligations, including interest $ 221C $ 1,12 $ 1,09C $ — $ —
Operating lease obligatiol 6,38¢ 1,971 3,541 874 —
Purchase commitments 27,77t 27,77t — — —
Total contractual obligations $ 36,37, $ 30,86¢ $ 4,631 $ 874 $ —
(1) Interest was calculated on outstanding borrowirigheadate indicated in the table above and asstimeasite remains constant dur

the following years. The credit facility has a ‘ednlie rate of interest of prime or LIBOR plus 2.5(% selected by us. The variable |
was 3.25% at December 31, 2014. Term borrowingpayable in equal monthly payments of principabghterest and bear interest
at prime plus 0.50%, which was 3.75% at DecembgeRG14.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with GAAP. The preparation of thesesolidated financial
statements requires us to make estimates and assomihat affect the reported amounts of assetsilities, revenue, expenses and related
disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and assumspin an ongoing basis. Our estimates are baskidtonical experience and various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable uhdaircumstances. Our actual results could dfffan these estimates.

We believe that the assumptions and estimatesiasstevith our revenue recognition, inventory vailom reserves, product warranty
liability, income taxes and stock-based compensdimve the greatest potential impact on our codat@d financial statements. Therefore, we
consider these to be our critical accounting pesi@nd estimates. For further information on abwf significant accounting policies, please
Note 1 of the accompanying notes to our consoldifitencial statement

We have chosen to “opt out” of the extended trasiperiod provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of thec@dties Act for complying with
new or revised accounting standards and, as &,resuivill comply with new or revised accountingustlards on the relevant dates on which
adoption of such standards is required for Barerging growth companies. Section 107 of the JA&Srovides that our decision to opt out
the extended transition period for complying wittwnor revised accounting standards is irrevocable.

Revenue Recognitio

We sell our products through a network of indepatdealers and distributors and not directly tostoners. These dealers and
distributors generally sell our products to thestomer as part of a bundled sale, which typicalbtjudes other third-party products and related
services, project design and installation servaresongoing support.

We record estimated reductions to revenue for deadtailer and distributor incentives, primarilgroprised of volume rebates, at the
time of the initial sale. The estimated reductitmsevenue for rebates are based on the sales &emhsur historical experience and trend
analysis. The most common incentive relates to amsopaid or credited to dealers and distributorafihieving defined volume levels or
growth objectives.

Our controllers include embedded software thassestial to the functionality of the controller.ddedingly, the hardware and
embedded software components are sold togethereagroduct. In 2013, we began bundling Control4 Apftware licenses with our new
controllers. These software licenses do not inchat#ptance provisions, rights to updates (e.genvand- if-available enhancements or
upgrades to the functionality of the software) ostontract customer support such as technical suppvén a software license and contr¢
are sold together, a multiple element arrangemdastsand revenue is allocated to each deliveratded on relative selling prices. Typically,
delivery of both the product and the software lg®Epnccurs at the same time. We recognize revenar pérsuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, thes galee is fixed or determinable, and collectiopiisbable. Product or licensed software is
considered delivered once it has been shippeditaadnd risk of loss have been transferred. Fostrobour product sales, these criteria are
at the time the product is shipped.

Software license revenue represents fees earnedattivating applications that allow consumers tmage and control their
automation systems using tablets, smartphonesthed thirdparty devices. Software products such as Composere-ind Media Editions ¢
sold on a limited basis and do not constitute ai@ant portion of our revenue.
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Our perpetual software licenses do not include atacee provisions, rights to updates or upgradg®st- contract customer support such as
technical support. We generally recognize reventleeatime the software license is provided.

We offer a subscription service that allows consisne control and monitor their homes remotely alholws our dealers to perform
remote diagnostic services. Subscription revendefisrred at the time of payment and recognized sinaight-line basis over the period the
service is provided.

We recognize revenue net of cost of revenue fod4party products sold through our online ordesggtem. While we assume credit
risk on sales to our dealers and distributors, weat determine the product selling price, do etdin associated inventory risks and are nc
primary obligor to the dealer or distributor.

Our agreements with dealers and distributgmserally do not include rights of return or aceepe provisions. Even though contrac
agreements do not provide return privileges, tlaeeecircumstances in which we will accept retumsddition, agreements with certain retail
distributors contain price protection and limitéghts of return. We maintain a reserve for suchrret based on our historical return experie

Shipping charges billed to dealers and distribuéoesincluded in product revenue and related shgpposts are included in cost of
revenue.

Inventory Valuation

Inventories consist of hardware and related compioparts and are stated at the lower of cost oketarsing the first-in, first-out
method. We periodically assess the recoverabifityuo inventory and reduce the carrying value &f ittventory when items are determined to
be obsolete, defective or in excess of forecasikss sequirements. Carrying value adjustments asedon expected demand and market
conditions. For example, we may incur inventorytexaffs during the introduction of new productsttreplace existing ones. We make
estimates regarding transition inventory and if estimates of demand for the “end-of—life” produdiffer substantially, we may be required
to record additional inventory carrying value adijosnts.

Inventory write-downs for excess, defective andobdte inventory are recorded as cost of revenudaated $1.5 million,
$2.3 million and $1.7 million in 2012, 2013 and 20tespectively.

Product Warranty

We provide our customers a limited product warrasftiwo years, which requires us, at our optiorrgjoair or replace defective
products during the warranty period at no cosh&dustomer or refund the purchase price. We etitha costs that may be incurred to
replace, repair or issue a refund for defectivelpots and record a reserve at the time revenw@eognized. Factors that affect our warranty
liability include the number of installed systerogy historical experience and management’s judgmegyarding anticipated rates of product
warranty returns, net of refurbished products. \W&eas the adequacy of our recorded warranty tigleitich period and make adjustments tc
liability as necessary. Our warranty liability wés.2 million at both December 31, 2013 and 2014.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilitieshfe future tax consequences attributable to iffierdnces between the financial
statement carrying value of existing assets aruiliies and their respective tax bases. Deferagdassets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates in effect for the fiscal yeawltich those temporary differences are expected teebovered or settled. Valuation allowances
are established when necessary to reduce defexebssets to the amount expected to be realizedialnating our ability to recover our
deferred tax assets, in full or in part, we consalkavailable positive and negative evidenceluding our past operating results, our foreca
future market growth, forecasted earnings, futaxable income, and prudent and feasible tax planstirategies. The assumptions utilized in
determining future taxable income require significmdgment and are consistent with the plans atichates we are using to manage the
underlying businesses. Due to the net losses iedw@nd the uncertainty of realizing the deferredatssets, for all the periods presented, we
have a full valuation allowance against the defbteex assets of our domestic operations.

We operate in various tax jurisdictions and argesthio audit by various tax authorities. We pravfdr tax contingencies whenever it
is deemed probable that a tax asset has been edpaia tax liability has been incurred for evesuish as tax claims or changes in tax laws.
Tax contingencies are based upon their technicatsneelative tax law and the
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specific facts and circumstances as of each reyppteriod. Changes in facts and circumstances ¢esldt in material changes to the amounts
recorded for such tax contingencies.

We recognize uncertain income tax positions takemoome tax returns at the largest amount thatose-likely-than-not to be
sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authhofin uncertain income tax position will not beognized if it has less than a 50% likelih
of being sustained.

Our policy for recording interest and penaltiesoassed with uncertain tax positions is to recardrsitems as a component of our
income tax provision. During the years ended Deaar3h, 2012, 2013 and 2014, we did not record aatenal interest income, interest
expense or penalties related to uncertain taxipasior the settlement of audits for prior periods.

Business Combinations and Impairment of Lo-lived and Intangible Assets, Including Goodwill

When we acquire businesses, we allocate the fhievaf the consideration transferred to tangibketsand liabilities and identifiable
intangible assets acquired. Any residual consideras recorded as goodwill. The allocation of domsideration transferred requires
management to make significant estimates in deténgithe fair values of assets acquired and ligddliassumed, especially with respect to
intangible assets. These estimates are based applieation of valuation models using historicaperience and information obtained from
management of the acquired company and our undeistpof the future projections. These estimatesicelude, but are not limited to, the
cash flows that an asset is expected to generdite ifuture, the appropriate weighted-average abostpital, and the cost savings expected to
be derived from acquiring an asset. These estinaaéemherently uncertain, unpredictable, and sligerefinement. In addition, unanticipated
events and circumstances may occur which may atffiecaccuracy or validity of such estimates.

Periodically we assess potential impairment oflong-ived assets, which include property, equipmend, acquired intangible asse
We perform an impairment review whenever eventshanges in circumstances indicate that the carnéhge may not be recoverable. Fac
we consider important which could trigger an impant review include, but are not limited to, siggaht under-performance relative to
historical or projected future operating resultgngicant changes in the manner of our use ofatguired assets or our overall business
strategy, and significant industry or economic d&nVhen we determine that the carrying valuelohg-lived asset may not be recoverable
based upon the existence of one or more of theealmolicators, we determine the recoverability bsnparing the carrying amount of the asset
to net future undiscounted cash flows that thetassxpected to generate. We recognize an impairciearge equal to the amount by which
the carrying amount exceeds the fair market vafubeasset. We amortize intangible assets ora@htrline basis over their estimated useful
lives, or if appropriate, using a method that batgresents the pattern of usage.

We test goodwill for impairment on an annual basid in the interim by reporting unit if events ametumstances indicate that
goodwill may be impaired. We initially assess qadive factors to determine whether the existerf@vents or circumstances leads to a
determination that it is more-likely-tharet that the fair value of a reporting unit is I&san its carrying amount. If, after assessingtdiality of
events or circumstances, we determine it is mdedylithan-not that the fair value of a reportingtus less than its carrying amount, then we
perform a first step by comparing the book valueetfassets to the fair value of our single repgrtinit. If the fair value is determined to be
less than the book value, a second step is pertbtmeompute the amount of impairment as the difiee between the estimated fair value of
goodwill and the carrying value. No impairment afig-lived and intangible assets or goodwill wa®rded during the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is measured at the gatanbdsed on the fair value of the award and grEzed as expense, net of
estimated forfeitures, over the requisite servieeqa, which is the vesting period of the respectiward.

Determining the fair value of stock-based awardbaigrant date requires judgment. We use the Batloles option-pricing model
to determine the fair value of stock options. Th&dmination of the grant date fair value of opsiarsing an optiopricing model is affected |
our estimated common stock fair value as well agragptions regarding a number of other complex aihjestive variables. These variables
include the fair value of our common stock, ourentpd stock price volatility over the expected tefrthe options, stock option exercise and
cancellation behaviors, risk-free interest rated expected dividends, which are estimated as fallow

e Fair Value of Our Common StockPrior to August 2, 2013, the date our common stmgian trading on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market, the fair value of common stock wetedmined by our board of directors,
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which intended all options granted to be exercisalbla price per share not less than the per §uaralue of our common stock
underlying those options on the date of grant. Vdaations of our common stock were determineccooedance with the
guidelines outlined in the American Institute ofrtifeed Public Accountants Practice Aid, ValuatiohPrivately-Held-Company
Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. The gssums we use in the valuation model were basefiitume expectations
combined with management judgment. In the absehagablic trading market, our board of directavih input from
management, exercised significant judgment andidered numerous objective and subjective factodetermine the fair value
of our common stock as of the date of each optrantg Since our IPO, we determine the fair valuewsfcommon stock based on
the closing price as quoted on the NASDAQ Globd&&eMarket of our common stock.

*  Expected Volatility. As we do not have an adequate trading history ioicommon stock, the expected stock price volatibt
our common stock was estimated by taking the aeeofighe historical volatilities of an index funddaindustry peers based on
daily price observations over a period equivalerthe expected term of the stock option grantsdilenot rely on implied
volatilities of traded options in our industry pgesommon stock because the volume of activity vedetively low. We intend to
continue to consistently apply this process udiegsame or similar public companies until a su#fitiamount of historical
information regarding the volatility of our own camon stock share price becomes available.

* Risk-Free Interest RateThe risk-free interest rate is based on the U.8aJury yield in effect at the time of the grantZero-
coupon U.S. Treasury notes with remaining termslairto the expected term of the options.

»  Expected Dividend YieldWe have never declared or paid any cash dividendsla not presently plan to pay cash dividends in
the foreseeable future. Consequently, we used pected dividend yield of zero.

Expected Term.As we do not have an adequate trading history iorcommon stock, the expected term representsetiecd
that the stock-based awards are expected to beodiisg. For our option grants, we used the singalimethod to determine the
expected term as provided by the SEC. The simglifiethod calculates the expected term as the avefabe time-to-vesting
and the contractual life of the options. We usedsimplified method to determine our expected teerause of our limited
history of stock option exercise activity.

In addition to the assumptions used in the BlacheBts option-pricing model, we must also estimdiriiture rate to calculate the
stock-based compensation for our awards. Our tarerate is based on an analysis of our actutdifares. We will continue to evaluate the
appropriateness of the forfeiture rate based amaatrfeiture experience, analysis of employeaawuer and other factors. Quarterly change
the estimated forfeiture rate can have a significapact on our stockased compensation expense as the cumulative effadjusting the rat
is recognized in the period the forfeiture estinmatehanged. If a revised forfeiture rate is higttran the previously estimated forfeiture rate, al
adjustment is made that will result in a decreagfé stock-based compensation expense recogmizld financial statements. If a revised
forfeiture rate is lower than the previously estietbforfeiture rate, an adjustment is made thdtredult in an increase to the stock-based
compensation expense recognized in the finan@gstents.

We will continue to use judgment in evaluating éxpected volatility, expected terms and forfeittates utilized for our stock-based
compensation calculations on a prospective basisvé\continue to accumulate additional data relademir common stock, we may have
refinements to the estimates of our expected Vityatexpected terms and forfeiture rates, whichldanaterially impact our future stock-based
compensation expense. If any of the assumptiorss inghe Black-Scholes model changes significastigck-based compensation for future
awards may differ materially compared with the algagranted previously.

The following table presents the weighted-averagaiaptions used to estimate the fair value of aptgranted during the periods
presented:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Expected volatility 59- 63% 56- 59% 49- 60%
Expected dividend 0% 0% 0%
Expected terms (in year 5.0-6.1 3.3-7.22 1.0-6.1
Risk-free rate 0.7- 1.0% 0.8-1.7% 0.3-2.0%
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Transactions with Our Significant Stockholders

In January 2011, we entered into an OEM-in hardvaith software) purchase and license agreemeiit Gigco Systems, Inc.
(“Cisco”), which was amended and restated in Falyr@@11 and further amended in June 2012. Our aggaewith Cisco expired in
February 2014.

Purchase and payment terms with Cisco are consistdnother non-affiliated companies. In connegtigith our commercial
agreements with Cisco, we recognized revenue abappately $2.6 million, $0.6 million and $0 foretyears ended December 31, 2012, 201
and 2014, respectively.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncest

For information with respect to recent accountingnouncements and the impact of these pronouncementur consolidated
financial statements, see Note 1 “Description ofiBess and Summary of Significant Accounting Pefie-Recent Accounting
Pronouncements” in the notes to consolidated filmustatements. Based on our continuing reviewhefrecent accounting pronouncements,
nothing has been identified to cause us to belieatour future trends, financial condition, oruks of operations will be impacted.

ITEM 7A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosuresabout Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary amofour business. Market risk represents theaidkss that may impact our
financial position due to adverse changes in firmoarket prices and rates. Our market risk expp®iprimarily a result of fluctuations in
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rdfesdo not hold or issue financial instrumentstfading purposes.

Interest Rate Risl

Changes in U.S. interest rates could affect ther@st earned on our cash, cash equivalents anstingets as well as the fair value of
our investments. Our investment policy and strategyfocused on preservation of capital and supgpaur liquidity requirements. A portion
of our cash is managed by external managers witieéirguidelines of our investment policy.

Our exposure to changes in interest rates relabesply to our investment portfolio. We typicaligvest in highlyrated securities, al
our investment policy generally limits the amouhtiedit exposure to any one issuer. The policyires investments generally to be
investment grade, with the primary objective of imiizing the potential risk of principal loss.

We performed a sensitivity analysis on the valuewfinvestment portfolio assuming a hypothetid¢arge in rates of 100 basis
points. Based on investment positions as of Deeerdb, 2014, a hypothetical 100 basis point in@éasnterest rates across all maturities
would result in a $0.3 million incremental declinghe fair market value of the portfolio. Suchdes would only be realized if we sold the
investments prior to maturity.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are stbjeftuctuations due to changes in foreign curgeexchange rates, particularly
changes in the Canadian dollar, the Euro and thisiBpound. The volatility of exchange rates defsean many factors that we cannot fore
with reliable accuracy. We believe that our opeigtctivities act as a natural hedge for a subatgdrtion of our foreign currency exposure
because we typically collect revenue and incurscmsthe currency in the location in which we pd®/our solutions. Although we have
experienced and will continue to experience flutitwes in our net income (loss) as a result of @atisn gains (losses) related to transactions
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dolla believe that a 10% change in foreign exchaates would not have a material impact
on our financial condition or results of operatiome date, we have not entered into any foreignetuay hedging contracts, but we may
consider entering into such contracts in the futAseour international operations grow, we will tone to reassess our approach to managing
our risk relating to fluctuations in foreign curoynexchange rates.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Control4 Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Control4 Corporation as of Decembge2@14 and 2013, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, celmepsive income (loss), redeemable convertibliepea stock and stockholders’ equity
(deficit), and cash flows for each of the threergea the period ended December 31, 2014. Theaeadial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility sxjgress an opinion on these financial statemerstsdoan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform aih afuithe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnéxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlebars significant estimates made by managementeaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of
Control4 Corporation as of December 31, 2014 ariB28nd the consolidated results of its operatgonbits cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2014, ifocmity with U.S. generally accepted accountingpiples.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Salt Lake City, Utal
February 20, 201
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Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, r
Long-term investment
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenu
Current portion of notes payable
Total current liabilities
Notes payabli
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder equity:

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 500,000,000 slzarmrized; 22,785,104 and 24,305,381 st

CONTROL4 CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share data)

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 aneniier 31, 2014, respective

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tistents.

57

December 31

December 31

2013 2014
$ 84,54t $ 29,18;
— 311
— 53,52:
15,06¢ 20,15t
15,31: 14,21:
1,77¢ 2,07¢
116,69! 119,46:
3,94: 5,08¢
— 14,50¢
92¢ 1,40¢
— 231
1,12( 1,32¢
$ 122,680 $ 142,03(
$ 13,31 $ 15,01¢
6,821 4,75(
644 842
1,13¢ 91t
21,91 21,52
1,82¢ 917
467 1,297
24,21 23,72¢
2 2
200,54 212,38
(102,08 (93,929
11 (160)
98,47+ 118,30:
$ 122,680 $ 142,03
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Revenue
Cost of revenu

CONTROL4 CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)

Cost of revenue—inventory purchase commitment

Gross margin
Operating expense
Research and developme
Sales and marketir
General and administrati\
Litigation settlement
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense
Interest income
Interest expens
Other income (expense)
Total other income (expense)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income (loss
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic
Diluted
Weightec-average number of shart
Basic
Diluted

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
109,51. $ 12851, $ 148,80(
57,22t 64,23 72,44:
1,84( (380)
50,44’ 64,65 76,35,
20,31( 24,97¢ 27,36¢
20,18: 21,97 25,88
10,15( 12,32¢ 14,19t
2,86¢ 44¢ 47
53,51 59,72: 67,49¢
(3,067) 4,93 8,86¢

13 16 23¢
(277) (470) (177)
(254) (729) (35€)
(516) (1,187 (29€6)
(3,587) 3,751 8,567
141 24¢ 411
(3,729 $ 3,50: $ 8,15¢
(156 $ 03 $ 0.34
(156 $ 0.1€ $ 0.3
2,36( 10,60¢ 23,68t
2,36( 22,26 25,64¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financa#tistents.
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CONTROL4 CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Net income (loss $ 3,729 % 3,50 $ 8,15¢
Other comprehensive income (los
Foreign currency translation adjustm (28) 15 (129
Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale invests — — (47)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (28) 15 (177)
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (3,75 $ 3,51t $ 7,98¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsdistents.
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CONTROL4 CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE P REFERRED STOCK AND

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(in thousands, except share data)

Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Redeemable Accumulated Total
Convertible Common Stock Additional Other Stockholder¢
Preferred Stock Number of Paid-In Accumulated  Comprehensive Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Loss) Income (Deficit)
Balance at December 31, 201 1529396 $ 116,31 2,24552 $ — 3 933 $ (101,869 $ 24 $ (92,50¢)
Net loss — — — — — (3,729 — (3,729
Other comprehensive lo — — — — — — (28) (28)
Stocl-based compensatic — — — — 2,86¢ — — 2,86¢
Issuance of common sto
upon exercise of stock
options — — 245,34¢ — 78& — — 78E
Balance at December 31, 2012 15,293,96 116,31: 2,490,87! — 12,98¢ (105,58) (4) (92,609
Net income — — — — — 3,50¢ — 3,50¢
Other comprehensive incol — — — — — — 15 15
Stock-based compensatic — — — — 3,76( — — 3,76(
Issuance of common sto
options in connection
with a business
acquisition — — — — 174 — — 174
Conversion of redeemakt
convertible preferred
stock into common stoc (15,293,96) (116,31 15,293,96 2 116,31: — — 116,31:
Issuance of common stock,
net of issuance cos — — 4,600,00! — 65,55¢ — — 65,55¢
Issuance of common sto
upon net exercise of
common stock warran — — 293,23. — — — — —
Reclassification o
redeemable convertible
preferred stock warrant
liability upon conversion
to preferred stoc — — — — 1,31( — — 1,31(C
Issuance of common sto
upon exercise of stock
options — — 107,04. — 44¢ — — 44€
Balance at December 31, 2013 — — 22,785,10 2 200,54! (102,089 11 98,47+
Net income — — — — — 8,15¢€ — 8,15¢€
Other comprehensive lo — — — — — — a7y (17)
Excess tax benefit frol
exercise of options for
common stocl — — — — 91 — — 91
Stocl-based compensatic — — — — 5,341 — — 5,341
Issuance of common sto
upon net exercise of
common stock warran — — 7,765 — — — — —
Issuance of common sto
upon exercise of stock
options — — 1,512,51. — 6,417 — — 6,411
Balance at December 31, 2C —  $ — 24,305,388 $ 2 $ 21238 $ (93,929 $ (160) $ 118,30:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tistents.
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CONTROL4 CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities
Net income (loss

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to reshcprovided by operating

activities:
Depreciation expens
Amortization of intangible asse
Provision for doubtful accoun
Loss (gain) on inventory purchase commitrr
Loss on disposal of property and equiprr
Stocl-based compensatic
Excess tax benefit from exercise of options for gmwn stock
Warrant liability expens
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Restricted cas
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenu
Other long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activit
Investing activities
Purchases of availal-for-sale investment
Proceeds from sales of availe-for-sale investment
Proceeds from maturities of availa-for-sale investment
Purchases of property and equipmr
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net chms=icost
Proceeds from exercise of options for common s
Excess tax benefit from exercise of options for own stock
Proceeds from notes payal
Repayment of notes payable
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvatnts
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid for intere:
Cash paid for taxe

Supplemental schedule of nc-cash investing and financing activities
Options for common stock granted in connection \&ithusiness acquisitic —
Elimination of liability upon net exercise of wanta to purchase preferred stc —
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferredkstocommon stoc —

Landlord paid tenant improvemet

Purchases of property and equipment financed byuats payabli

Net unrealized losses on availe-for-sale investment

2012 2013 2014
$ (3,729 $ 3,50: $ 8,15¢
1,71¢ 2,201 2,547
271 31¢ 491
184 15¢ 22¢
1,84( (380) —
107 — —
2,86¢ 3,76( 5,341
— — (99)
254 70¢ —
(2,600) (2,104 (5,331)
(4,85¢) (2,729 1,02¢
— — (330)
(352) 111 (329)
(829 (239) (209)
4,62: (1,221) 1,69¢
2,117 62C (2,110
(10) 102 19¢
(621) (1,155 (44)
991 3,66¢ 11,24¢
— — (89,842
— — 2,85(
— — 18,91¢
(2,360) (3,470) (2,710
— (147) (1,116)
(2,360) (3,617 (71,90%)
— 65,55¢ —
78E 44¢ 6,411
— — 91
1,87¢ 1,14¢ —
(1,037) (1,339) (1,139)
1,627 65,80¢ 5,361
(29 © (66)
227 65,85 (55,359)
18,46¢ 18,69t 84,54¢
$ 18,69¢ 84,54( $ 29,18
$ 27¢ 461 $ 18¢
26 152 24€
174 —
1,31( —
116,31 —
— — 73¢
— — 257
— — (47)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financa#tistents.
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Control4 Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Description of Business and Summary of Significa Accounting Policies

Control4 Corporation (“Control4” or the “Company¥) a leading provider of automation and controutohs for the connected hon
The Company unlocks the potential of connectedasyimaking entertainment systems easier to usggdhimore comfortable, appliances
more energy efficient, and families more secure Tohmpany was incorporated in the state of Delawarglarch 27, 2003.

Reclassifications

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassifieatder to conform to the current-year presentatforeclassification was made
from general and administrative expenses to otiemme (expense) related to foreign currency trdiwagains (losses). As a result, income
from operations is impacted by $0 and $34,000Hentears ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, resggchut this reclassification did not
impact previously reported net income, or relatedghare amounts. In addition, a reclassificatias made related to international hospitality
revenue previously disclosed as United States tadgpirevenue. The reclassification did not matkyiimpact previous disclosures related to
geographic information. Furthermore, this reclasatfon had no effect on previously reported amsualated to total revenue, income from
continuing operations, net income or related pareslamounts, and does not impact previous dis@esegarding concentrations of revenue.

Basis of Presentatiol

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsiés. All intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminatéx indnsolidated financial statements.

Segment Reportin

Operating segments are identified as componerds ehterprise about which separate discrete finhmformation is available for
evaluation by the chief operating decision-makes, Chief Executive Officer, in making decisionsardjing resource allocation and accessing
performance. To date, the Company has viewed &gatipns and manages its business as one opesatingent.

Concentrations of Risk

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived franue earned from its worldwide network of indegent dealers and
distributors. The Company'’s sales to dealers asilidiitors located outside the United States aneigdly denominated in United States
dollars, except for sales to dealers and distritsuticated in the United Kingdom and the Europeaiok) which are generally denominated in
pounds sterling and the euro, respectively. Themewo individual account balances greater than GD&tal accounts receivable at
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014.

No dealer or distributor accounted for more tha#o1d total revenue for the years ended Decembe?@12, 2013 and 2014.

The Company relies on a limited number of suppliersts contract manufacturing. A significant diption in the operations of these
manufacturers would impact the production of thenpany’s products for a substantial period of timbich could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s business, financial condiind results of operations.

Geographic Information

The Companys revenue includes amounts earned through satksaters and distributors located outside of thaddnGtates. With tt
exception of Canada, no single foreign country anted for more than 10% of total revenue for thergeended December 31, 2012, 2013 anc
2014. The following table sets forth revenue frdva U.S., Canadian and all other international dsaled distributors combined (in
thousands):
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Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Revenue-United States $ 69,957 $ 84,47: $ 98,27¢
Revenu-Canade 12,45: 15,01 15,32(
Revenue-all other international sources 27,10: 29,02: 35,20
Total revenue $ 109,51: $ 128,51: $ 148,80!
International revenue (excluding Canada) as a penfdotal revenue 25% 23% 24%

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith GAAP requires management to make estimatesassumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities #seodate of the financial statements and therteda@amounts of revenues and expenses durir
the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, the Gomevaluates its estimates including those rel@medvenue recognition, sales returns,
provisions for doubtful accounts, product warraiygntory obsolescence, litigation, determinatidffair value of stock options, deferred tax
asset valuation allowances and income taxes. Aotsalts may differ from those estimates.

Product Warranty

The Company provides its customers a limited proderanty of two years, which requires the Compatyts option, to repair or
replace defective products during the warrantyqeeat no cost to the customer or refund the puecpase. The Company estimates the costs
that may be incurred to replace, repair or isstefund for defective products and records a resattiee time revenue is recognized. Factors
that affect the Company’s warranty liability inckithe number of installed systems, the Compangt®hcal experience and management’s
judgment regarding anticipated rates of productaray returns, net of refurbished products. The Gamy assesses the adequacy ¢
recorded warranty liability each period and makdjastments to the liability as necessary. Warraoists accrued includes amounts accrue
products at the time of shipment, adjustments fianges in estimated costs for warranties on predigpped in the period, and changes in
estimated costs for warranties on products shipgpedor periods. It is not practicable for the Gueny to determine the amounts applicable tc
each of these components.

The following table presents the changes in theypebwarranty liability (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Balance at the beginning of the period $ 1,03C $ 1,158 % 1,21:
Warranty costs accrue 1,05( 1,02t 1,14¢
Warranty claims (925) (967) (1,1679)
Balance at the end of the period $ 1,158 § 1,21 $ 1,191

Net Income (Loss) Per Shai

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed ubmgveighted-average number of common sharesaodiisty during the period.
Diluted net income (loss) per share is computedgigie weighted-average number of common sharesamaing and potentially dilutive
common shares outstanding during the period that halilutive effect on net income per share. Raby dilutive common shares result from
the assumed exercise of outstanding stock optiodstee assumed conversion of outstanding conventitdferred stock and warrants using the
if-converted method. In a net loss position, difitet loss per share is computed using only thghted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period, as any additionatimon shares would be anti-dilutive.

The following table presents the reconciliatiortted numerator and denominator used in the calowati basic and diluted net inco
(loss) per share (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014

Numerator:
Net income (loss $ (3,729 $ 3,50 $ 8,15¢
Denominator:
Weighted average common stock outstanding for baticncome (los:

per common shat 2,36( 10,60¢ 23,68t
Effect of dilutive securities—stock options, corilgle preferred stock

and warrants to purchase common stock and prefstoe#t — 11,65« 1,961
Weighted average common shares and dilutive sessidtitstanding 2,36( 22,26 25,64¢

63




Table of Contents

The following weighted-average common stock eqeintd were anti-dilutive and therefore were excluileoh the calculation of
diluted net income (loss) per share (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Convertible preferred stock 15,29 — —
Options to purchase common stc 4,317 35€ 1,041
Warrants to purchase common sti 541 1 —
Warrants to purchase preferred stock 194 — —
Total 20,34¢ 357 1,041

Revenue Recognitio

The Company sells its products through a netwoikaépendent dealers, regional and national resadled distributors. These
dealers, retailers and distributors generallythellCompany’s products to the end consumer aoparbundled sale, which typically includes
other third-party products and related servicegjgot design and installation services and on-geingport.

The Company records estimated reductions to reviamdealer, retailer and distributor incentivesnmarily comprised of volume
rebates, at the time of the initial sale. The estéd reductions to revenue for rebates are bas#tkemales terms and the Company'’s historical
experience and trend analysis. The most commomiiveerelates to amounts paid or credited to deaded distributors for achieving defined
volume levels or growth objectives.

The Company’s products include embedded softwateishessential to the functionality of the hardsvakccordingly, the hardware
and embedded software are accounted for as a slatiMerable. In 2013, the Company began bundlingt®I|4 App software licenses with its
new controllers. These software licenses do ndtdecacceptance provisions, rights to updates, (@hen-and-if-available enhancements or
upgrades to the functionality of the software) ostgontract customer support such as technical supirén a software license and contrc
are sold together, a multiple element arrangemdsatseand revenue is allocated to each deliverasded on relative selling prices. Typically,
delivery of both the product and the software lg®=onccurs at the same time. The Company recogrdzesue when persuasive evidence of al
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, thes galee is fixed or determinable, and collectioneigasonably assured. Product or licensed
software is considered delivered once it has bbgped and title and risk of loss have been trarede For most of the Company’s product
sales, these criteria are met at the time the ptadwshipped.

Software license revenue represents fees earnedattivating applications which allow end consuntersianage and control their
automation systems using tablets, smartphonesthed thirdparty devices. Software products such as Composeretand Media Editions ¢
sold on a limited basis and do not constitute aiiggnt portion of revenue. The Company’s perpesodiware licenses do not include
acceptance provisions, rights to updates or upgradpost-contract customer support such as teghsupport; the Company generally
recognizes revenue at the time the software licengeovided.

The Company offers a subscription service thataloonsumers to control and monitor their homesotely and allows the
Company’s dealers to perform remote diagnosticisesv Subscription revenue is deferred at the tfayment and recognized on a straight-
line basis over the period the service is provid€dtal revenue for subscription services represkass than 10% of total revenue for all per
presented.

The Company recognizes revenue net of cost of tevéor third-party products sold through the Companline ordering system.
While the Company assumes credit risk on salets ealers and distributors for third-party produtte Company does not determine the
product selling price, does not retain associatedrtory risks and is not the primary obligor te #nd consumer.

The Company’s agreements with dealers and distnibugenerally do not include rights of return ocegatance provisions. Even
though contractual agreements do not provide reqitiuiieges, there are circumstances in which the
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Company will accept returns. In addition, agreersevith certain retail distributors contain pricefaction and limited rights of return. The
Company maintains a reserve for such returns basd¢ide Company’s historical return experience.

Shipping charges billed to dealers and distribudwesincluded in revenue and related shipping @rstsncluded in cost of revenue.
Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue includes the following: the cosineEntory sold during the period, inventory wridewn costs, payroll, purchasing
costs, royalty obligations, shipping expenses tate and distributors and warehousing costs, winidiande inbound freight costs from
manufacturers, rent and payroll and benefit costs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid short-ténwestments with original maturities of three mandr less at the time of purchase
to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consisagly of money market funds.

Restricted Casl

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2014, is cordpafs guarantee made by our subsidiary in theddritingdom to HM Revenue
Customs related to a customs duty deferment account

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company extends credit to the majority of #aldrs and distributors, which consist primarilysofall, local businesses. Issuance
of credit is based on ongoing credit evaluationgheyCompany of dealers’ and distributors’ finahciandition and generally requires no
collateral. Trade accounts receivable are recoati¢ite invoiced amount and do not bear interest. Gbmpany maintains an allowance for
doubtful accounts to reserve for potential uncaoilde receivables. The allowance is based upomrtbditworthiness of the Company’s dealers
and distributors, the dealers’ and distributorstdiiical payment experience, the age of the rebgaand current market and economic
conditions. Provisions for potentially uncollecéldccounts are recorded in sales and marketingiegpeThe Company writes off accounts
receivable balances to the allowance for doubtfubants when it becomes likely that they will netdollected.

The following table presents the changes in thmnalhce for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Balance at beginning of period $ 651 $ 64 3 60%
Provision 184 15¢ 22¢
Deductions (192) (197) (129
Balance at end of period $ 64: $ 605 $ 70%

Inventories

Inventories consist of hardware and related compioparts and are stated at the lower of cost oketarsing the first-in, first-out
method. The Company periodically assesses the eeabiity of its inventory and reduces the carryiradue of the inventory when items are
determined to be obsolete, defective or in excéfsrecasted sales requirements. Inventory writessiofor excess, defective and obsolete
inventory are recorded as a cost of revenue aateth$1.5 million, $2.3 million, and $1.7 millioorfthe years ended December 31, 2012, :
and 2014, respectively.

In December 2012, the Company finalized terminatiba sales contract and, as a result of the ccirtigamination, recorded a
$1.8 million expense associated with an anticip&dss on firm purchase commitments for compondmswould have been required to meet
the Company'’s obligations under the terminatedre@tt The $1.8 million charge has been recordddoss of Revenue—Inventory Purchase
Commitment in the accompanying consolidated statéimieoperations during the year ended Decembe®12.

In 2013, the Company recorded a gain related teritory purchase commitments of approximately $Gldom, as the proceeds from
liquidating the underlying inventory and the Comyarability to consume common components exceedigihal estimates.
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Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are recorded at historistl, ¢ess accumulated depreciation. Depreciatiaonsputed using the straight-line
method over the following estimated useful lives:

Furniture and fixture 2 -5 years
Manufacturing tooling and test equipm 2 - 3 years
Lab and warehouse equipm 2 - 4 years
Computer equipment and softw 3- 4 years
Marketing equipmer 2 - 3 years

Maintenance and repairs that do not extend thefifer improve the asset are expensed in the yearred. Leasehold improvements
are depreciated over the estimated useful lifegliis3-8 years) or the life of the associated leagdchever is less. During the year ended
December 31, 2014, the Company recorded approxiyre? million of leasehold improvement assetg thare paid by the landlord, with a
corresponding long-term liability as the tenant ioyement allowance was determined to be an incetivrenewing the lease.

Intangible Asset:

Intangible assets primarily consist of acquiredhtetogy. The Company amortizes, to cost of revedatnite-lived intangible assets
on a straight-line basis over the life of the tealbgy.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

The carrying value of long-lived assets is revievigedmpairment whenever events or changes in oistances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset or asset group mapeatcoverable. An impairment loss is recognizedmithe carrying amount of an asset
exceeds the estimated undiscounted future casls #oyected to result from the use of the asseitamedentual disposition. The amount of the
impairment loss to be recorded is calculated byettemss of the asset’s carrying value over itsvi@ine. Fair value is generally determined
using a discounted cash flow analysis.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Compasyubsidiaries in the United Kingdom, China, Horan and India are the Pound Sterling,
Chinese Yuan, the Hong Kong Dollar and the Indiapé®, respectively. The subsidiary’s assets abdifias have been translated to U.S.
dollars using the exchange rates in effect at terlze sheet dates. Statements of operations asioave been translated using the average
exchange rate for each year. Resulting gains sefoffom translating foreign currency financiatestaents are recorded as other comprehe
income (loss). Foreign currency transaction gdmssgs) resulting from exchange rate fluctuatiangransactions denominated in a currency
other than the local currency are included in otheome (expense) and have not been material éoyelars ended December 31, 2012, 2013 ¢
2014.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense fstogk-based awards issued to employees and disdmised on estimated grant
date fair values. The Company selected the Blatiol®s option-pricing model to determine the esteddair value at the date of grant for
stock options. The Company elected to amortize @msgtion expense using the straight-line attriloutieethod, under which stock-based
compensation expense is recognized on a straighblsis over the period the employee performsafaged services, generally the vesting
period of four years, net of estimated forfeiturBise Company has estimated forfeiture rates baseéts distorical experience and will update
the rates, as necessary, in subsequent periodsi#ldorfeitures differ from initial estimates.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires agggment assumptions regarding various factorgdlaire extensive use of
accounting judgment and financial estimates. They@any estimates the expected term for options ubkimgimplified method, which utilizes
the weighted average expected life of each tran€liee stock option, determined based on the sueach tranche’s vesting period plus one-
half of the period from the vesting date of eaeimthe to the stock option’s expiration, because&Cimmpany’s options are considered “plain
vanilla.” The Company computed the expected vatatilsing multiple peer companies for a period agpnating the expected term. The risk-
free interest rate was determined using the implietdl on U.S. Treasury issues with a remainingnteiithin the expected life of the award.
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The Company accounts for stock-based instrumentg&aards issued to non-employees at fair valuegubie Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. Management believes that the fdineaf the stock-based awards is more reliably mregsthan the fair value of the services
received. The fair value of each non-employee ausard-measured each period until a commitment idateached, which is generally the
vesting date.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets arilitiésfor the future tax consequences attribugablthe differences between the
financial statement carrying value of existing éssad liabilities and their respective tax baBeferred tax assets and liabilities are measure
using enacted tax rates in effect for the fiscalrye which those temporary differences are expkiide recovered or settled. Valuation
allowances are established when necessary to reldfiered tax assets to the amount expected tedbeed.

The Company operates in various tax jurisdictiams ia subject to audit by various tax authoritilse Company provides for tax
contingencies whenever it is deemed probable tket asset has been impaired or a tax liabilityldeen incurred for events such as tax claim:
or changes in tax laws. Tax contingencies are baged their technical merits, relative tax law e specific facts and circumstances as of
each reporting period. Changes in facts and cirtamegs could result in material changes to the amsaecorded for such tax contingencies.

The Company recognizes uncertain income tax positiaken on income tax returns at the largest atrtbahis more-likely-than-not
to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxinjaity. An uncertain income tax position will nmé recognized if it has less than a 50%
likelihood of being sustained.

The Company’s policy for recording interest andgiges associated with uncertain tax positions isetord such items as a
component of its income tax provision. During tleass ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, wetligcord any material interest
income, interest expense or penalties related ¢entmin tax positions or the settlement of auditspfior periods.

Presentation of Certain Taxe

The Company collects various taxes from dealersdistdbutors and remits these amounts to the egiplié taxing authorities. The
Company’s accounting policy is to exclude thesesaxom revenue and cost of revenue.

Research and Developme

Research and development expenses consist prinoaplgrsonnel costs, including incentive compensatilepreciation associated
with research and development equipment, contadctrland consulting services, facilities- relatests, and travel-related costs. Research an
development costs are expensed as incurred.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-1Rresentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit Whetet Operating Loss
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Cred&r@/forward Exists.” The amended guidance requires an entity to preseahrecognized
tax benefit, or a portion of an unrecognized tamdfit, in the financial statements as a reductma tleferred tax asset for a net operating loss
carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax creditrgforward, except as follows. To the extent aopsrating loss carryforward, a similar tax |
or a tax credit carryforward is not available a tbporting date under the tax law of the appliegiisdiction to settle any additional income
taxes that would result from the disallowance tdbaposition or the tax law of the applicable jditdion does not require the entity to use, anc
the entity does not intend to use, the deferrecset for such purpose, the unrecognized tax ibsheiild be presented in the financial
statements as a liability and should not be combimi¢h deferred tax assets. The guidance was eféefir the Company beginning January 1,
2014. The adoption of this guidance did not havergact on the Company'’s results of operationsrfaial position, or cash flows as it relates
only to financial statement presentation.
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In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2004-0Révenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606hich amends the guidance in
ASC 605,"Revenue Recognition.The core principle of the guidance is that an gmitould recognize revenue to depict the trandfer o
promised goods or services to customers in an antbanreflects the consideration to which thetgrakpects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. The guidance is effefdivannual reporting periods beginning after Decenitb, 2016, including interim periods
within that reporting period. Early applicationnist permitted. The Company is still evaluating ithe@act of adopting this guidance as well as
whether the Company will apply the amendments speotively to each prior reporting period presemtecktrospectively with the cumulative
effect of applying this update at the date of a&itipplication.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-1Presentation of Financial Statements — Going Gamnc(Subtopic 205-40).The
amended guidance requires an entity to preparadiabstatements under the liquidation basis obanting in accordance with Subtopic 205-
30, Presentation of Financial Statements—LiquisaBasis of Accounting, if liquidation of the entibecomes imminent. The guidance is
effective for the annual period ending on Decen#ier2016, and for annual periods and interim peritbéreafter. Early application is
permitted. The adoption of this guidance will natd an impact on the Company’s results of operstifimancial position, or cash flows.

2. Balance Sheet Components

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousand

December 31 December 31
2013 2014
Finished goods $ 14,06 $ 13,324
Component parts 1,251 88¢
$ 15,31 $ 14,21
Property and equipment, net consisted of the fatigwin thousands):
December 31 December 31
2013 2014
Computer equipment and software $ 4,15. $ 4,39(
Manufacturing tooling and test equipm 2,652 2,77
Furniture and fixture 2,04¢ 2,29¢
Lab and warehouse equipmi 2,37¢ 2,652
Marketing equipmer 604 662
Leasehold improvements 1,45( 2,351
13,27¢ 15,13¢
Less: accumulated depreciation (9,339 (10,047
$ 394 $ 5,08¢
Other assets consisted of the following (in thodsn
December 31 December 31
2013 2014
Prepaid licensing $ 71€ % 632
Deposits 404 697
$ 1,12 $ 1,32¢
Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (inousands):
December 31 December 31
2013 2014
Sales returns and warranty accruals $ 2,137 $ 2,01¢
Compensation accrue 3,23: 1,614
Other accrued liabilitie 544 1,097
Current portion of settlement obligations 907 20
$ 6,821 $ 4,75(
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3. Fair Value Measurements
Assets Measured and Recorded at Fair Value on alRang Basis

The Company’s financial assets that are measurkdr atalue on a recurring basis consist of moneykat funds and available-for-
sale investments. The following three levels oflitspare used to measure the fair value of finamegituments:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for idegitassets or liabilities.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted pricextive markets for identical assets and lieibdi quoted prices for identical or
similar assets or liabilities in inactive markads other inputs that are observable or can be boreded by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or lidigi.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when litttaeamarket data is available.

The fair values for substantially all of the Comparfinancial assets are based on quoted pricastiie markets or observable inputs.
For Level 2 securities, the Company uses a thirtygaicing service which provides documentationamnongoing basis that includes, among
other things, pricing information with respect &édarence data, methodology, inputs summarized st atass, pricing application and
corroborative information.

The Company determines realized gains or losséiseosale of marketable securities on a specifintifieation method. During the
year ended December 31, 2014, the Company dicewotd significant realized gains or losses on #hessof availabl-for-sale investments.
The following tables show the Company’s cash aradlalle-for-sale investments’ adjusted cost, groggalized gains, gross unrealized losse
and fair value by significant investment categayarded as cash and cash equivalents or shodngttérm investments as of December 31,
2013 and December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

December 31, 201

Cash and
Adjusted Unrealized Unrealized Cash Short-term Long-term

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Equivalents Investments Investments

Cash $ 553 $ — 3 — 3 553 $ 553 $ — $ —
Level 1:

Money market funds 79,01: — — 79,01: 79,01: — —

Subtotal 79,01 — — 79,01 79,01 = —

Total $ 84,54t $ — $ — $ 84,54t $ 84,54t $ — $ =

December 31, 201.
Cash and
Adjusted Unrealized Unrealized Cash Short-term Long-term

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Equivalents Investments Investments

Cash $ 13,070 $ — 3 — $ 13,077 $ 13,070 $ — $ —
Level 1:

Money market funds 16,11( — — 16,11( 16,11( — —

Subtotal 16,11( — — 16,11( 16,11( o o
Level 2:

Asse-backed securitie 4,45¢ — 3 4,45k — — 4,45k

Corporate bond 54,32 2 (46) 54,27 — 46,72t 7,551

Commercial pape 6,791 — — 6,791 — 6,797 —

U.S. agency securities 2,50z — — 2,50z — — 2,50z

Subtotal 68,07¢ 2 (49 68,03 — 53,52! 14,50¢

Total $ 97,26¢ $ 2 $ 49 $ 97,21¢ $ 29,18" $ 53,52 $ 14,50¢

As of December 31, 2014, the Company considerdébénes in market value of its investment portfdt be temporary in nature a
does not consider any of its investments other-tharporarily impaired. The Company typically

69




Table of Contents

invests in highly-rated securities, and its investipolicy generally limits the amount of credipesure to any one issuer. The policy requires
investments generally to be investment grade, thighprimary objective of minimizing the potentialk of principal loss. Fair values were
determined for each individual security in the isiveent portfolio. The maturities of the Companysd-term investments range from one to
two years. When evaluating an investment for othan-temporary impairment the Company reviews facsach as the length of time and
extent to which fair value has been below its tasis, the financial condition of the issuer ang @manges thereto, changes in market interes
rates, and the Company’s intent to sell, as wethadact it is not more likely than not that then@pany will be required to sell the investment
before recovery of the investment’s cost basisctvimay be maturity. During the year ended Decerthe2014, the Company did not
recognize any significant impairment charges.

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the accompanyamgalidated financial statements for cash and egsivalents, restricted cash,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities approxartiair fair value because of the short term natdfithe accounts. The fair value of the notes
payable approximates its carrying value based ewahniable nature of interest rates and currenketaates available to the Company (see
Note 4). As a result, the balance of the notesiblayis categorized within the Level 2 fair valuerarchy.

4. Long-Term Obligations
Loan and Security Agreemet

In June 2013, the Company entered into an AmendeddRastated Loan and Security Agreement with Sili¢alley Bank (the “SVB
Agreement”), which consists of a revolving creditifity of $13.0 million (subject to certain borrowg base restrictions) and term borrowings
to fund purchases of property and equipment. Altdwings under the SVB Agreement are collateralizgdhe general assets of the Comp:
The revolving credit facility has a variable rafardgerest of prime (as published in the Wall Strémurnal) or LIBOR plus 2.50%, as selecte
the Company. The rate was 3.25% at December 34, 20/ addition, the Company pays an annual comnmtrfee of $20,000 and a quarterly
unused line fee of 0.375% based on the differemtwdren the borrowing commitment of $13.0 milliodadhe then-current balance. In
addition, the SVB Agreement provided for term baiirgs to fund purchases of property and equipnteotugh May 2014. Term borrowings
are payable in 42 equal monthly payments of pradgius interest and bear interest at prime plG8%, which was 3.75% at December 31,
2014.

Borrowing under the revolving credit facility iskgact to certain collateral restrictions relatimgnmarily to the Company’s accounts
receivable and inventory levels. As of December2R1l4, the total borrowing capacity was approxirya$d 3.0 million, and no borrowings
were outstanding. The revolving credit facility leamaturity date of May 29, 2015.

The SVB Agreement contains various restrictive famaincial covenants and the Company was in compdéiamth each of these
covenants as of December 31, 2014.

Future principal payments on outstanding term hwimgs as of December 31, 2014 are as follows @ushands):

2015 $ 91¢
2016 727
2017 18€

$ 1,82¢

5. Income Taxes

The domestic and foreign components of net incdoss) before income tax expense consists of theviolg for the periods shown
below (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Income (loss) before income tax
Domestic $ (4,055 $ 3,63. $ 7,46¢
Foreign 473 11¢€ 1,10z
Total income (loss) before income taxes $ (3,582 $ 3,751 $ 8,561
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The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing components (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Current:
Domestic
Federa $ 15 % 64 $ 76
State 57 53 52
Foreign 69 147 28¢€
Total current tax expense 141 264 41€
Deferred:
Domestic
Federa (710 1,572 1,761
State (65) 44 30
Foreign 88 (16) 5)
Valuation allowance 687 (1,616 (1,797
Total deferred tax benefit — (16) (5)
Total income tax expense $ 141§ 248 $ 411

A reconciliation from the U.S. statutory federat@me tax rate to the effective income tax rateofed:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Federal income tax rate (34.0% 34.(% 34.(%
State taxes, net of federal ben 1.1 1.1 0.4
Stoclk-based compensatic 15.C 221 (2.2)
Stock warran — 6.4 —
Research and development cre — (18.9) (8.2)
Change in valuation allowan 17.2 (42.0) (20.6)
Other, net 455 2.7 1.2
Effective income tax rate 3.9% 6.€% 4.&%

Deferred tax assets and (liabilities) are comprifetie following (in thousands):

December 31

2013 2014
Deferred Tax Asset:
Reserves and accru $ 2,14¢ $ 1,44¢
Inventories 1,05¢ 1,06:
Net operating loss carryforwar 27,86: 25,00
Property, plant and equipme 1,323 1,831
Stocl-based compensatic 1,23 1,54(
Research and development credit carryforw. 4,097 5,24:
Other 16: —
Total deferred tax assets 37,88¢ 36,13:
Valuation allowance (37,847 (36,05()
Total deferred tax assets $ 42 % 83
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiai $ 15 $ (56)
Intangible assel — (11€)
Property and equipment (12) (16)
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (26) $ (18¢)
Net deferred tax asset (liabilit $ 1€ $ (10%)

At December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Company hatl esfuation allowance against the deferred taxessesf its domestic operations
as it believes it is more likely than not that #aégnefits will not be realized. Significant judgmhés required in determining our provision for
income taxes, recording valuation allowances agaieferred tax assets and evaluating our uncedaipositions. In evaluating our ability to
recover our deferred tax assets, in full or in pag
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consider all available positive and negative evigerncluding our past operating results, our fagtof future market growth, forecasted
earnings, future taxable income and prudent argllfsatax planning strategies. Due to historicdllasses incurred and the uncertainty of
realizing the deferred tax assets, for all thequkripresented, we have a full valuation allowarnyzerest our deferred tax assets. To the extent
that we generate positive income and expect, widlsonable certainty, to continue to generate pegitbmestic income we may release all or
portion of our valuation allowance in a future peli This release would result in the recognitiocertain deferred tax assets, a decrease to
income tax expense for the period such releasadenin addition, our effective tax rate in subssqyoeriods would increase, and more
closely approximate the federal statutory rate4$fo3after giving consideration to state income $afereign income taxes and the effect of
exercising incentive stock options. The net vabhratillowance decreased by approximately $1.6 miliod $1.8 million during the years en
December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively.

Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwardefd3ecember 31, 2014 are as follows (in thousands):

Amount Expiration Years
Net operating losses, fede $ 85,57 2024-2034
Net operating losses, st: 86,06+ 2018-2032
Tax credit carryforwards, feder 3,78¢ 2023-2034
Tax credit carryforwards, sta 2,79¢ 2018- 2029
Net operating losses, foreis 20 None

Approximately $18.4 million of the net operating$es reported above represents unrecorded taxtsdoestock-based
compensation, which will be recorded in additiopaid in capital when realized. Utilization of thetmperating loss carryforwards and credits
may be subject to a substantial annual limitatioa th the ownership change limitations providedhgyInternal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “IRC”"), and similar state provisiofise Company recently performed a detailed analysifer Section 382 of the IRC to
determine whether any ownership changes had octurhe effect of an ownership change would be titergial imposition of annual
limitations on the use of net operating loss camygrds attributable to periods before the chaipe.detailed analysis confirmed that
Section 382 ownership changes occurred on Jul@® and March 27, 2007, but the Company concltdathe ownership changes do not
result in any limitations regarding the utilizatiohnet operating loss carryforwards.

The following is a reconciliation of the changesgtie gross balance of unrecognized tax benefitduding interest and penalties (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Balance at the beginning of the period $ 2,318 $ 2,318 % 2,94:
Current year additions — 62E 64C
Balance at the end of the period $ 2,318 $ 2,94: $ 3,58:

The Company does not believe there will be any r@tehanges in its unrecognized tax benefits dhemext 12 months. As of
December 31, 2014, the amount of unrecognizedaaxfits that would, if recognized, impact the Comps effective income tax rate is
approximately $3.6 million.

The Company files income tax returns in the UnBéakes, including various state and local jurisdits. The Company’s subsidiaries
file income tax returns in the United Kingdom, Hakgng, China and India. The Company is subjecixan@nation in the United States, the
United Kingdom, Hong Kong, China, and India as veslivarious state jurisdictions. As of December2®14, the Company was not under
examination by any tax authorities. Tax years baigimin 2011 are subject to examination by tax auities in the United States, although net
operating loss and credit carryforwards from alingeare subject to examinations and adjustmentst feast three years following the year in
which the attributes are used. Tax years beginm12 are subject to examination by the taxinfpaities in Hong Kong. Tax years
beginning in 2013 are subject to examination bytéxéng authorities in the United Kingdom, Chinaddndia.

At December 31, 2014, the Company had undistribfgegign earnings of $1.5 million, which the Compantends to permanently
reinvest in the foreign subsidiary. Unrecognizefeded tax liabilities of $0.3 million from tempasadifferences related to the investment in
this foreign subsidiary would have been taxabtaéf Company repatriated the foreign earnings. Tomgany anticipates that future overseas
earnings will also be reinvested indefinitely. btardance with the indefinite reversal criteria fbreign currency gains recorded in other
comprehensive income related to foreign currereydiation have not been tax effected.
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6. Equity Compensation
Stock Options

In 2003, the Board of Directors adopted the 2008itgdncentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”), which progitifor the granting of
nonqualified and incentive stock options, stockrapiation rights, stock awards and restricted stbider the 2003 Plan, the Company was
able to grant nonqualified and incentive stockaito directors, employees and non-employeesgirgyservices to the Company. On
June 11, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directorgtatbthe 2013 Stock Option and Incentive Plan ‘@343 Plan”), which was subsequently
approved by the Company'’s stockholders. The 2048 Bécame effective as of the closing of the Coryiganitial public offering. To the
extent that any awards outstanding under the 20@18&?e forfeited or lapse unexercised subseqoehtigust 1, 2013, the shares of common
stock subject to such awards will become availédriéssuance under the 2013 Plan. The 2013 Plarides for annual increases in the numbe
of reserved shares of up to 5% of the outstandimgh®r of shares of the Company’s Common Stock #segpreceding December 31. On
January 1, 2015, the number of reserved sharetna@ssed by 1,215,269 shares in accordance vétpritwisions of the 2013 Plan.

A summary of stock option activity for the yearsled December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 is presestedrb

Weighted
Weighted Average
Shares Subjec! Average Weighted Remaining
to Options Grant Date Average Contractual
Qutstanding Fair Value Exercise Price Life (Years)
Balance at December 31, 2012 4,649,223 $ 5.5€
Granted 480,69¢ $ 10.0¢ 13.2(
Exercisec (107,049 417
Expired (27,777) 5.7¢
Forfeited (89,909 7.14
Balance at December 31, 2013 4,905,21 6.31
Granted 1,592,26! 9.9¢ 18.0(
Exercisec (1,512,519 4.2¢4
Expired (13¢) 7.4C
Forfeited (133,61) 13.7
Balance at December 31, 2014 4,851,22, 10.57
Exercisable options at December 31, 2 3,285,69! 4.8¢ 4.€
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 4,544,94. 6.1t 5.¢
Exercisable options at December 31, 2 2,494,71. 6.3: 5.€
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 4,615,48! 10.3(C 7.C
The following table summarizes information abowic&toptions outstanding and exercisable at Dece®ihe2014:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weightec- Weighted-
Average Average
Weighted Remaining Remaining
Average Number of Contractual Number of Contractual
Exercise Underlying Life (in Underlying Life (in
Range of Exercise Price Price Shares years) Shares years)
$0.78- 1.72 $ 1.1¢ 37,39¢ 0.6 37,39¢ 0.8
1.97- 3.38 2.57 248,74t 1.¢ 248,744 1.6
3.58-6.14 5.6¢4 1,570,28. 5.7 1,416,66. 5.€
6.34- 9.94 8.2 1,007,22 7.2 627,12¢ 7.1
11.28- 16.97 13.9¢ 1,180,36! 9.C 143,90: 6.2
17.66- 22.92 21.0C 807,19¢ 9.1 20,87¢ 8.1
4,851,22. 2,494,71

For the stock option awards vested during the threktwelve months ended December 31, 2014, thkftot value was $0.8 million

and $4.0 million, respectively. The following talslemmarizes the aggregate intrinsic-value of ogtexercised, outstanding and exercisable

(in thousands):
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For the Years Ended and as o

December 31

2012 2013 2014
Options Exercised $ 1,31C % 1,31 $ 22,66¢
Options Exercisabl 16,80( 42,11¢ 22,71¢
Options Vested and Expected to V 25,77: 55,09¢ 27,66:

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes optidoipy model with the following

assumptions:
Years Ended December 31
2012 2013 2014
Expected volatility 59- 63% 56 - 59% 49- 60%
Expected dividend 0% 0% 0%
Expected terms (in year 5.0-6.1 3.3-7.2 1.0-6.1
Risk-free rate 0.7- 1.0% 0.8-1.7% 0.3- 2.0%

Total stock-based compensation expense has bessifield as follows in the accompanying statemehtperations (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Cost of revenue $ 78 % 63 $ 10t
Research and developmt 704 1,41¢ 2,23t
Sales and marketir 58C 742 1,11¢
General and administrative 1,507 1,54( 1,891
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 2,86¢ % 3,76( $ 5,341

At December 31, 2014, there was $18.6 million ¢dltanrecognized compensation cost related to rested stock option awards that

will be recognized over a weighted-average perio8l byears.

7. Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into sales agreementsoitpanies affiliated with certain of its investorbe following table sets forth

revenue from product sales to these companietdinsands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Company 1 $ 2,14: $ 288¢ $ 4,10¢
Company 2 1,29( 95C 682
Company : 791 42¢ 19
Company 4 1,801 12¢ —
$ 6,03C $ 4,39 $ 4.80¢

As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Company bealiaits receivable from these companies totaling s0llion and $1.5 million
respectively. Purchase and payment terms with tredated parties are consistent with other noniatiid companies.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases office and warehouse space opdgting leases that expire between 2015 and. 2Z08terms of the leases
include periods of free rent, options for the Compto extend the leases (three to five years) aokasing rental rates over time. The
Company recognizes rental expense under thesetmggeleases on a straight line basis over the lofake leases and has accrued for rental

expense recorded but not paid.

Rental expense was approximately $1.1 million, $dilion and $1.8 million for the years ended Deb&m31, 2012, 2013 and 2014,

respectively.
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Future minimum rental payments required under reomeelable operating leases with initial or remajrterms in excess of one year
consist of the following as of December 31, 20Htliousands):

2015 $ 1,971
2016 1,88i
2017 1,65¢
2018 873

$ 6,38¢

Purchase Commitment

The Company had non-cancellable purchase commignfienthe purchase of inventory, which extend tigfoduly 2015 totaling
approximately $27.8 million at December 31, 2014.

Indemnification

The Company has agreed to indemnify its officeid @dinectors for certain events or occurrences, emtié officer or director is or was
serving at the Company’s request in such capatitg.maximum amount of potential future indemnificatis unlimited; however, the
Company has a director and officer insurance pdhey provides corporate reimbursement coveragdithis its exposure and enables it to
recover a portion of any future amounts paid. Thenany is unable to reasonably estimate the maxiamunt that could be payable under
these arrangements since these obligations amapped but are conditional to the unique factsamdimstances involved. Accordingly, the
Company has no liabilities recorded for these agesds as of December 31, 2014.

Employment Agreement

The Company has signed employment agreements wiithiic executive officers who are entitled to reeaiertain benefits if their
employment is terminated by the Company, includiegerance payments, accelerated vesting of stagnsmnd continuation of certain
insurance benefits.

Legal Matters

On August 12, 2014 and September 16, 2014, respbctthe Company received letters from Nokia Coation alleging that the
Company manufactures or supplies products thatipealEEE 802.11 Standards related to wirelessnelclgy, and that Nokia is the owner ¢
portfolio of patents essential to that standarde Toempany is conducting an investigation of thémamade by Nokia regarding its patent
portfolio. Nokia has not initiated litigation agairthe Company, but the Company believes that Nimleig do so. The Company intends to
defend itself vigorously with respect to this amy ather claims or litigation. Since no complaiastbeen filed and the outcome of any
potential legal proceedings related to these clanuscertain at this time, we cannot estimateatheunt of liability, if any, that could result
from an adverse resolution of this matter.

The Company establishes reserves for specifidiligisiin connection with legal actions that it deeto be probable and estimable. In
managemens opinion, the Company is not currently involveairy legal proceedings other than specifically iified above, that individuall
or in the aggregate, could have a material effadhe Company’s financial condition, operationscash flows. Currently, a range of loss
associated with any individual material legal pextiag cannot be reasonably estimated.

9. Acquisition

On September 10, 2014, Control4 Corporation (“Ga4t), through its wholly owned subsidiary, Cong#dEMEA, LTD (“Control4
EMEA"), completed the acquisition of Extra VegetblLimited, a company incorporated in England araded/(“Extra Vegetables”), pursuant
to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 28,, 2§1dnd among Control4 EMEA and all of the shaléérs of Extra Vegetables (the
“Purchase Agreement”). Extra Vegetables developgghration modules and third-party device drivers@ontrol4 and other third-party home
automation systems.

Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreementy@é EMEA purchased all of the issued and outfitegnshares of Extra
Vegetables from its shareholders (each a “Sellimgr&holder,” and together, the “Selling Sharehaljeand Extra Vegetables became a wh
owned subsidiary of Control4 EMEA. Each Selling f&tlder also agreed to become an employee of @4rEBMEA or Control4. The total
consideration transferred was $0.9 million in cashich included a
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base purchase price of $0.7 million and $0.2 milks payment for Extra Vegetables’ net working tedpi

Total consideration transferred was allocated ngitde and identifiable intangible assets acquaed liabilities assumed based on
their fair values at the acquisition date as sghfbelow. While, from the acquisition date, thefax/egetables products will be provided
without charge of a separate fee, the CompanyJedithat the acquisition of Extra Vegetables wittisgthen the Company’s interoperability
development efforts for the connected home, acatdeéhe development and time-to-market for esdethtra-party device drivers, offer more
comprehensive technical support, deliver bettectionality, and provide more integration opportiest while eliminating complexity for the
Company'’s dealers and distributors managing meltygindors, licensing, and permission models. Mamagé estimated the fair values of
tangible and intangible asset and liabilities inadance with the applicable accounting guidancéfisiness combinations.

The Company'’s allocation of consideration trangféfior Extra Vegetables is as follows (in thousands

Estimated Fair Value

Cash $ 26E
Other assets acquir 12t
Intangible asset 59¢
Goodwill 211

Total assets acquire 1,19
Taxes payabl 17t
Deferred income tax liabilit 132
Other liabilities assume 8

Total net assets acquir $ 88z

Identifiable Intangible Asse

The Company acquired intangible assets that cankidtdeveloped technology and ncompete agreements, which had estimatec
values of $574,000 and $22,000, respectively. Bseta were measured at fair value reflecting thledst and best use of nonfinancial assets
combination with other assets and liabilities usaimgncome approach that discounts expected faask flows to present value. The estimatec
net cash flows were discounted using a discouatabR2%, which is based on the estimated intaatel of return for the acquisition and
represents the rate that market participants migétto value the intangible assets. The projeast fiows were determined using key
assumptions such as: estimates of revenues andtiogeprofits; the time and resources needed teate integration modules and drivers; the
life of the product; and associated risks relatediability and product alternatives. The Comparily amortize the intangible assets on a
straight-line basis over their estimated usefiddiof four years for developed technology and teary for non-competition agreements. Thes
intangible assets are not deductible for incomeptayposes.

Goodwill

Goodwill of $211,000 represents the excess of demation transferred over the fair value of asaetpiired and liabilities assumed
and is attributable to Extra Vegetables’ assemblerkforce as well as the benefits expected fromlzioing the Company’s research and
engineering operations with Extra Vegetables’. Gusdwill is not deductible for income tax purpases

Other

From the date of acquisition through December 8142the Company recorded revenue and net incosoeiased with Extra
Vegetables of approximately $17,500 and $21,9Gfeetively. Additionally, the Company incurred appmately $80,000 in total acquisition-
related costs accounted for in general and admaiiae expenses.

Pro Forma Informatior

The unaudited pro forma information presented betwhudes the effects of the Extra Vegetables aitjom as if it had been
consummated as of January 1, 2013, with adjustntergfive effect to pro forma events that are dlyeattributable to the acquisition, includii
adjustments related to the amortization of acquineghgible assets. The unaudited pro forma inféienadoes not reflect any operating
efficiency or potential cost savings, which mayutefrom the consolidation of Extra Vegetables. @iatingly, the unaudited pro forma
information is presented for informational purposaly and is not necessarily indicative of what électual results of the combined company
would have been if the acquisition had occurretth@teginning of the period presented, nor isdidative of the future results of operations
fact, the Company plans to
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provide the Extra Vegetables products in Controtitiser database and make them freely availab{eatatrol4 dealers through the Company’s
installation software; therefore, the Company wit generate any direct, stand-alone product reénaun the Extra Vegetables technology in
future periods.

Years Ended
December 31

2013 2014
(in thousands)
Revenue $ 129,79: $ 149,89t
Income from operation 5,75: 9,57¢
Net income $ 4,12¢ $ 8,72¢
Net income per share, ba: $ 03¢ $ 0.37
Net income per share, dilut $ 0.1¢ $ 0.34
10. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill consigitthe following (in thousands):
Amount
Balance at December 31, 20 $ —
Current period acquisitior 231
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 231

For a discussion of the significant changes in galhdsee Note 9. The Company’s goodwill is not detible for income tax purposes.
Intangible asset

The Company’s intangible assets and related acatetuhmortization consisted of the following aPetember 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

December 31, 201

Gross Carrying

Accumulated

Amount Amortization Net
Developed technolog $ 1,647 $ (742) $ 90~
Non-competition agreemen 31 (8) 23
Total intangible asse $ 167¢ $ (750 $ 92¢

December 31, 201
Gross Carrying Accumulated

Amount Amortization Net
Developed technolog $ 259 $ 1,219 $ 1,38¢
Non-competition agreemen 53 (27) 26
Total intangible asse $ 2,65C §$ (1,24) $ 1,40¢

For a discussion of the significant changes inngille assets, see Note 9. The weighted averagdiaation period is 4.4 years for

developed technology, 2.0 years for non-competitigreements, and 4.3 years in total.

The Company recorded amortization expense duriagebpective periods for these intangible assefdlasvs: (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31

2013 2014

$

Amortization of intangible asse

31¢

$ 491

Amortization of finite lived intangible assets d&d@ecember 31, 2014 is as follows for the next fpears (in thousands):

77




Table of Contents

Amount
2015 $ 61z
2016 41€
2017 237
2018 14z
$ 1,40¢

11. Subsequent Event

On January 30, 2015, Control4 Corporation (“Codtfplthrough its wholly owned subsidiary, Contréd\istralia Holdings Pty., Ltd
(“Control4 Australia”), completed the acquisitiohiexus Technologies Pty., Ltd. (“Nexus”), an Aadi-based provider of audio/video
distribution products (under the brand of “Leaffursuant to a Share Sale Agreement dated JanuaPP 38, by and among Control4 Australia
and all of the shareholders of Nexus. Control4 pra@diously sold select Leaf products to its Nortinéican dealer network. Through this
acquisition, Control4 is now in a better positioroffer the complete array of Leaf products to @aldtdistribution partners throughout the
world, gain market share in the growing A/V catgg@nd leverage Leaf’s valuable engineering expetid develop new and innovative A/V
entertainment solutions.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Sale Agreer@entyol4 Australia purchased all of the issued am$tanding shares of Nexus fr
its shareholders and Nexus became a wholly ownlesidiary of Control4 Australia. The total considera transferred was $9.0 million in
cash, subject to final adjustment for certain wogkcapital calculations. In addition, the Compaaidm commission of $0.5 million to an
agent. The Company determined the Nexus acquidititee an immaterial transaction under Rule 3-ORe&julation S-X.

The Company is in the process of determining tirevidues of the net assets acquired and will idelidexus’ results of operations in
its financial statements with effect from the pwasé date. Due to the timing of the acquisitiors ot currently practicable to include any
preliminary disclosures of estimated fair valuegiar forma information.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountgs on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cligécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, rasluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defm&iles 13a-15(e) and 18d(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934naanded (th
“Exchange Act")), as of the end of the period caeby this Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation Ghief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that as of sudie,daur disclosure controls and procedures weect¥e.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during our most recent fiscahger that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, our internal control over financial reporting

Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive @iffiand Chief Financial Officer, does not expect tha disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal controls will preventeator and all fraud. A control system, no mattew well conceived and operated, can pro
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatijleetives of the control system are met. Becatiseeoinherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide lais@ssurance that all control issues and instaot&aud, if any, within the Company have
been detected. These inherent limitations inclb@e ¢alities that judgments in decision-making loarfaulty, and that breakdowns can occur
because of a simple error or mistake. Additionabntrols can be circumvented by the individuasadtsome persons, by collusion of two or
more people, or by management override of the obrithe design of any system of controls also seblan part upon certain assumptions
about the likelihood of future events, and thene lzsa no assurance that any design will succeedhie@ng its stated goals under all potential
future conditions. Over time, controls may beconsdequate because of changes in conditions, aetyee of compliance with the policies
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inh&neitations in a cost-effective control systemsstatements due to error or fraud may occu
and not be detected.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting (as defined by
Rule 13a15(f) of the Exchange Act). In assessing the éffeness of our internal control over financialsggng as of December 31, 2014,
management used the criteria set forth by the Cat@enof Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwam@éssion (2013 framework).

Based on this assessment, management has conttad@dir internal control over financial reportiwgs effective as of
December 31, 2014, to provide reasonable assuragaeding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of consolidated financial
statements for external reporting purposes in @esare with U.S. generally accepted accounting jmies.

This Annual Report on Form 1K-does not include an attestation report of ouepghdent registered public accounting firm regar
internal control over financial reporting. Managemie report was not subject to attestation by adependent registered public accounting
firm pursuant to an exemption under Section 989@&efDodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumeteetion Act.

ITEM 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III.

We are incorporating by reference the informatiequired by Part 11l of this Form 10-K from our psogtatement relating to our 2015
annual meeting of stockholders (the “2015 Proxyest@nt”),which will be filed with the SEC within 120 daysefthe end of the fiscal yeat
which this report relates.

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporae Governance

The information required by this Item will be coimizd in the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorpdratein by reference.
ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be cointed in the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorpdrhggein by reference.
ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficialOwners and Management and Related Stockholder Matte

The information required by this Item will be coimizd in the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorpdratein by reference.
ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transations and Director Independence

The information required by this Item will be cointed in the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorpdrhggein by reference.
ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this Item will be coimizd in the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorpdrhtein by reference.

PART IV.
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Consolidated Financial Statemets and Financial Statement Schedules

€) Documents filed as part of this report:
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1. Consolidated Financial Statement&Ve have filed the consolidated financial statetséiated in the index to
Consolidated Financial Statements, Schedules ahibiEin Part I, Item 8, of this Annual Report Borm 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules and Othaill financial statement schedules have been enhittecause they are not
applicable, not material or the required informati® shown in the consolidated financial statementhke notes thereto.

3. Exhibits. The exhibits listed below are filed or incorpeby reference as part of this Annual Report amFt0-K.

(b) Exhibits:
Incorporated by
Incorporated by Reference from
Exhibit Reference from Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits Form Number Date Filed
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of 10-Q 3.1 August 30, 2013
Incorporation of the Registrar
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regist S-1 3.4 July 1, 2013
4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the S-1/A 4.1 July 18, 2013
Registrant
4.2 Eighth Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights S-1 4.2 July 1, 2013
Agreement, dated January 21, 2C
4.2 Warrant to Purchase Stock of the Registrant S-1 4.4 July 1, 2013
issued to Silicon Valley Bank, dated
December 29, 200!
4.4 Warrant to Purchase Stock of the Registrant S-1 4.t July 1, 2013
issued to Silicon Valley Bank, dated June 13,
2007.
10.1 Form of Director and Executive Officer S-1 10.1 July 1, 2013
Indemnification Agreemen
10.z 2003 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of award S-1 10.z July 1, 2013
agreements thereund
10.2 2013 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and forms S-1 10.z July 1, 2013
of award agreements thereunc
10.£ Offer Letter to Martin Plaehn, dated August 20, S-1 10.4 July 1, 2013
2011.
10.t  Employment Agreement, dated July 28, 2003 S-1 10.t July 1, 2013
and as amended on June 17, 2004 and August 3,
2011, between the Registrant and William B.
West.
10.€ Employment Agreement, dated on or about S-1 10.€ July 1, 2013
January 4, 2008, between the Registrant and
Strong.
10.7 Offer Letter to Jeff Dungan, dated August 1, S-1 10.7 July 1, 2013
2006.
10.¢ Offer Letter to Eric Anderson, dated June 19, S-1 10.¢ July 1, 2013
2012.
10.¢ Relationship Agreement, dated June 27, 2013, S-1/A 10.¢ July 18, 2013
between the Registrant and Sanmina
Corporation.
10.1C OEM Supply Agreement: OEM Design, dated S-1/A 10.1C July 18, 2013

December 3, 2010, between the Registrant and
Lite-On Electronic Company Lt
10.11 Amended and Restated Loan and Security S-1 10.11 July 1, 2013
Agreement, dated June 17, 2013, between the
Registrant and Silicon Valley Ban
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Incorporated by

Incorporated by
Reference from

Exhibit Reference from Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits Form Number Date Filed
10.1: Lease dated June 29, 2004 by and between the S-1 10.1z July 1, 2013
Registrant and WDCI, Inc., as amended on
May 24, 2006, February 25, 2011 and
November 7, 2011
10.1: Advisor Agreement, effective as of February 28, S-1 10.1: July 1, 2013
2013, by and between the registrant and Tom
Kuhn.
10.1¢ Severance Agreement by and between William 8-K 10.1  December 23, 2013
B. West and Control4 Corporation, dated as of
December 21, 201
21.1 List of Subsidiaries of the Registra Filed herewitt
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Filed herewith
Registered Public Accounting Fir
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Filed herewith
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act.
31.z Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Filed herewith
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act.
32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Furnished herewit
the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act.
101.INS XBRL Instance Documer Filed herewitt
101.SCF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum Filed herewitt
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Filed herewith
Linkbase Documer
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkba Filed herewith
Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Filed herewith
Documenti
101.PRI  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Filed herewith

Linkbase Documer

The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 herare deemed to accompany this Annual Report on A@riK and will not be deemed

“filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the SecustiExchange Act of 1934, as amended, except toxtieatethat the Registrant
specifically incorporates it by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13t)Iof Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regitthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thecedmlty authorized.

Date: February 20, 201 CONTROL4 CORPORATION
By: /s/ DAN STRONG
Dan Strong

Chief Financial Officel
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacitiesdatdid on February 20, 2015.

Signature Title
/sl MARTIN PLAEHN President, Chairman and Chief Executive Officempal
Martin Plaehr Executive Officer)
/s/ DAN STRONG Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and daunting
Dan Stronc Officer)
/s/ ROB BORN Director
Rob Born
/sl JAMES CAUDILL .
- Director
James Caudi
/s/ DAVID C. HABIGER Director
David C. Habige
/s/| JEREMY JAECH .
Director
Jeremy Jaec
/s/ LEN JORDAN .
Director
Len Jordar
/s/ CHRISTOPHER B. PAISLE Director
Christopher B. Paisle
/s/ STEVEN VASSALLO .
Director

Steven Vassall
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Subsidiaries of Control4 Corporation

Control4 EMEA Ltd (United Kingdom)

Extra Vegetables Limited (Subsidiary of Control4 EMLtd)
Control4 HK Limited (Hong Kong)
Control4 India Private Limited (India)
Control4 Smart Control Technology Shanghai Co., ([BR China)
Control4 Australia Pty Ltd (Australia)

Nexus Technologies Holdings Pty Ltd (SubsidiarfCohtrol4 Australia Pty Ltd)

Nexus Technologies Pty Ltd (Subsidiary of Nexushietogies Holdings Pty Ltd)

Exhibit 21.1




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 No. 333-190326383-197836) pertaining to
the Control4 Corporation 2013 Stock Option and itiee Plan and the Control4 Corporation 2003 Eqlitentive Plan of our report dated
February 20, 2015, with respect to the consolidéitethcial statements of Control4 Corporation imed in this Annual Report (Form ¥0-for
the year ended December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Salt Lake City, Utal
February 20, 201




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Martin Plaehn, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KCohtrol4 Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omsgtéde a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementswade, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resoftsperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrk responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13ayHhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrand have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrinégion relating to the registrant, including itheolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerssurance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in at@muoce with generally accepted accounting princijples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgure controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by this report based
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (thgsteant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case ofaamual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiortiernal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorglahe audit committee of the registrant’s boardicéctors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

€) All significant deficiencies and material weaknes#gethe design or operation of internal contratiofimancial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 20, 2015 By: /s MARTIN PLAEHN

Martin Plaehr
President, Chairman and Chief Executive Offi
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dan Strong, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KCohtrol4 Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omsgtéde a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementswade, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resoftsperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrk responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13ayHhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrand have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrinégion relating to the registrant, including itheolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerssurance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in at@muoce with generally accepted accounting princijples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgure controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by this report based
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (thgsteant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case ofaamual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiortiernal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorglahe audit committee of the registrant’s boardicéctors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

€) All significant deficiencies and material weaknes#gethe design or operation of internal contratiofimancial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 20, 2015 By: /s/ DAN STRONG

Dan Strong
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 104fkControl4 Corporation for the year ended Decen#igr2014 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), Martin Plaehn, as Chief Execet®fficer of Control4 Corporation,
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectior0135 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb&®wxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of
his knowledge, the Report fully complies with tlegjuirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéiesrExchange Act of 1934, and the
information contained in the Report fairly preseimsall material respects, the financial conditaord results of operations of Control4
Corporation.

Date: February 20, 2015 By: /s MARTIN PLAEHN

Martin Plaehr
President, Chairman and Chief Executive Offi
(Principal Executive Officer

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 104fiControl4 Corporation for the year ended Decen#igr2014 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), Dan Strong, as Chief Financidfi€er of Control4 Corporation, hereby
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,dapted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@deof 2002, that, to the best of his
knowledge, the Report fully complies with the reguients of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securliieshange Act of 1934, and the
information contained in the Report fairly preseimsall material respects, the financial conditaord results of operations of Control4
Corporation.

Date: February 20, 2015 By: /s/ DAN STRONG

Dan Stronc
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




